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the Bonds is not includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation and is not treated as an item of tax preference in calculating the
Jederal alternative minimum taxable income of individuals and corporations. Interest on the Bonds will be taken into account, however, as an adj used in computing
certain corporations’ alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of determining the federal alternative minimum tax on certain corporations. The Act provides that the
Bonds and the income therefrom shall at all times be exempt from taxation in the State of Vermont except for transfer and estate taxes. See “Tax Exemption” herein.
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The Bonds will be issued as fully registered Bonds and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York,
New York (“DTC”). DTC will act as Securities Depository for the Bonds. Purchases of beneficial interests in the Bonds will be made in book entry form only, in the initial
denomination of $5,000, or any whole multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof. Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their ownership interest in the Bonds. So long
as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondholders or registered owners of the Bonds shall mean Cede & Co. and
shall not mean the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” herein. Principal and interest will be paid by People’s United Bank, as Bond
Trustee (the “Bond Trustee”). So long as DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the registered owner, such payments will be made directly to Cede & Co. Disbursement of such
payments to the DTC Participants (as defined herein) is the responsibility of DTC, and disbursements of such payments to the beneficial owners is the responsibility of the DTC
Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more fully described herein.

The Bonds are payable solely from the sources hereafter described and are issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement. Payment of the principal and Purchase Price (as defined
herein) of and up to 35 days’ interest on the Bonds (at a maximum rate of i not to d 10% per annum) is also secured by an irrevocable, transferable, direct-pay letter

of credit (the “Credit Facility”) issued by
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The Credit Facility will permit the Bond Trustee to draw an amount sufficient to pay the principal of and up to 35 days’ accrued interest on the Bonds (at a maximum rate of
interest not to exceed 10% per annum) to be used (1) to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due and (2) to pay the Purchase Price of the Bonds tendered by the
holders thereof pursuant to the Trust Agreement. The Credit Facility will expire on November 30, 2016.

From and after the day of the initial authentication and delivery of the Bonds, the Bonds will bear interest at the Weekly Ratc, as established by TD Securities (USA) LLC, as
Remarketing Agent for the Bonds, until the interest rate is converted, if ever, to a Daily Rate, an Extended Rate or a Fixed Rate. Interest on the Bonds will initially be payable
on the first Business Day of each month and shall be calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed.

UPON A TENDER OF THE BONDS, OWNERS OF THE BONDS WHO FAIL TO DELIVER THEIR BONDS TO THE TENDER AGENT ON A TIMELY BASIS WILL
BE DEEMED TO HAVE TENDERED SUCH BONDS FOR PURCHASE. THE BONDS ARE SUBJECT TO OPTIONAL AND MANDATORY REDEMPTION PRIOR TO
MATURITY IN THE MANNER AND AT THE TIMES SET FORTH HEREIN.

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AGENCY AND ARE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM PAYMENTS TO BE MADE BY OR ON BEHALF OF
THE BORROWER IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT (AS DEFINED BELOW) AND THE TRUST AGREEMENT,
THE CREDIT FACILITY AND FROM CERTAIN OTHER FUNDS, ALL AS MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN. THE AGENCY HAS NO TAXING POWER.
NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OF VERMONT OR OF ANY MUNICIPALITY OR POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF VERMONT IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS

The Agency will enter into a loan agreement with the Borrower under which the Agency will agree to lend to the Borrower the proceeds of the Bonds, and in consideration of
the loan, the Borrower will agree to make payments to the Bond Trustee (the “Loan Repayments”) in such amounts and at such times as are required to provide for timely
payment of the principal or Purchase Price, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. The obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement are evidenced by an
obligation issued pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture, as described in more detail herein. Reference is made to this Official Statement for relevant security provisions of the
Bonds.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency will assign certain of the Agency’s rights under the Loan Agreement, including all its rights, title and interest in and to the Loan
Repayments (subject to the reservation of certain rights of the Agency, including its rights to notices, payment of certain expenses and indemnity) and will assign all of its rights,
title and interest in and to any and all moneys and securities in the Bond Funds (as defined herein) to the Bond Trustee.

Investors are cautioned that the Bonds are being marketed and sold primarily on the basis of the credit of the Bank, as issuer of the Credit Facility, and not on the basis of the
credit of the Borrower. Accordingly, in deciding whether to invest in the Bonds, potential investors should not rely upon the ability of the Borrower to make the required
payments under the Loan Agreement in time and in amount sufficient to pay the principal of and purchase price, and interest on the Bonds.

PRICE 100%

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter, subject to prior sale, withdrawal or modification of the offer without notice and subject to the
approval of legality by Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Agency by its counsel, Deppman & Foley,
P.C., Middlebury, Vermont, for the Bank by its counsel, Murphy Sullivan Kronk, Burlington, Vermont, for the Borrower by its counsel, McKee, Giuliani & Cleveland, P.C.,
Montpelier, Vermont, and for the Underwriter, by its counsel, Burak Anderson & Melloni, PLC, Burlington, Vermont. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for
delivery in definitive form to or for the account of DTC in New York, New York on or about December 1, 2011.
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No dealer, broker, salesman or other person been authorized by the Vermont Educational and Health
Buildings Financing Agency (the “Agency”), The Brattleboro Retreat (the “Borrower”), People’s United Bank, TD
Bank, N.A., or TD Securities (USA) LLC (the “Underwriter”) to give any information or to make any
representations with respect to the Bonds other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or
made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the
foregoing. Certain information contained herein has been obtained from the Borrower and other sources that are
believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed to be the
representation of the Agency or the Underwriter. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to
change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the parties referred to above
since the date hereof. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to
buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such
person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence and paragraph for inclusion in this Official
Statement. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a
part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of
the transactions contemplated herein, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such
information.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER ALLOT OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL
ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED, AND THE TRUST AGREEMENT AND THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE (AS DEFINED
HEREIN) HAVE NOT BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED,
IN RELIANCE UPON THE EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS.

The order and placement of materials in this Official Statement, including the Appendices, are not to be
deemed to be a determination of their relevance, materiality or importance, and this Official Statement, including the
Appendices, must be considered in its entirety.

IN MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED.
THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES
HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT.
ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

IN MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS SHOULD RELY ON THE BANK AND
THE CREDIT FACILITY AND SHOULD NOT RELY ON THE CREDIT OR ASSETS OF THE BORROWER.
POTENTIAL INVESTORS SHOULD BASE THEIR INVESTMENT DECISIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE
BONDS UPON THE CREDIT OF THE PROVIDER OF THE CREDIT FACILITY SECURING THE BONDS,
INITIALLY, TD BANK, N.A. THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON IN
DETERMINING WHETHER TO PURCHASE BONDS THAT ARE NOT IN A WEEKLY RATE OR A DAILY
RATE AND SECURED BY THE CREDIT FACILITY.

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS INTENDED TO PROVIDE DISCLOSURE ONLY WITH RESPECT
TO THE BONDS WHILE BEARING INTEREST AT A WEEKLY RATE OR A DAILY RATE AND WHILE
THE CREDIT FACILITY ISSUED BY TD BANK, N.A. DESCRIBED HEREIN IS IN EFFECT WITH RESPECT
TO THE BONDS.



Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan”, “expect”, “anticipate”,
“estimate”, “budget”, “forecast”, or other similar words. The achievement of certain results or other expectations
contained in such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
which may cause actual results, performance or achievements described to be materially different from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. The Borrower does
not plan to issue any updates or revisions to those forward-looking statements if or when its expectations, or events,
conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based, occur.

* The CUSIP (Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures) number on the cover page of this Official Statement has been
assigned by an organization not affiliated with the Agency, the Borrower, the Underwriter, the Bank or the Trustee, and such parties are not
responsible for the selection or use of the CUSIP numbers. The CUSIP number is included solely for the convenience of holders and no
representation is made as to the correctness of the CUSIP number identified above. Any CUSIP number assigned to the Bonds may be changed
during the term of the Bonds based on a number of factors including but not limited to the refunding or defeasance of such issue or the use of
secondary market financial products. None of the Agency, the Corporation, the Underwriter, the Bank or the Trustee has agreed to, nor is there
any duty or obligation to, update this Official Statement to reflect any change or correction in the CUSIP number identified on the cover page of
this Official Statement.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
Relating To
VERMONT EDUCATIONAL AND HEALTH BUILDINGS FINANCING AGENCY

$11,300,000
VARIABLE RATE DEMAND
REVENUE BONDS
(THE BRATTLEBORO RETREAT PROJECT)
2011 SERIES A

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices, sets forth contain certain information in
connection with the issuance and sale by the Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency (the
“Agency”), a public instrumentality of the State of Vermont (the *“State”), of its Variable Rate Demand Revenue
Bonds (The Brattleboro Retreat Project) 2011 Series A in the aggregate principal amount of $11,300,000 (the
“Bonds™). The Bonds are authorized to be issued pursuant to Title 16, Chapter 131, Sections 3851-3862 of the
Vermont Statutes Annotated, as amended (the “Act”).

The Bonds will be issued under a trust agreement, dated as of December 1, 2011 (the “Trust Agreement”),
between the Agency and People’s United Bank, as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”), and a resolution of the
Agency adopted on November 8, 2011. The Bond Trustee is also the Bond Registrar for the Bonds. The Bonds will
be dated their date of delivery, mature, subject to prior purchase or redemption, on December 1, 2031, and will
initially bear interest at a Weekly Rate.

The Agency will enter into a loan agreement, dated as of December 1, 2011 (the “Loan Agreement”), with
The Brattleboro Retreat (the “Borrower™), under which the Agency will agree to lend to the Borrower the proceeds
of the Bonds and, in consideration of the loan, the Borrower will agree to make payments to the Bond Trustee (the
“Loan Repayments™) in such amounts and at such times as are required to provide for timely payment of the
principal or purchase price of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

The Bonds are being issued for the purposes of (1) financing a portion of the refunding of all of the
Agency’s outstanding Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (The Brattleboro Retreat Project) 2007 Series A (the
“2007 Tax Exempt Bonds™); (2) financing a portion of the costs of the acquisition, construction, renovation,
improving, furnishing and equipping of the Borrower’s facilities, including renovations to Osgood Patient Building,
Tyler Patient Building, Linden Lodge, Orchard Street Lodge, Main Center, Administration Building, West Building,
East Building and Lawton Hall, including repair and replacement of roofs, HVAC system upgrades, plumbing,
sprinklers, window replacement, flooring, tunnel system renovations and various other repairs to housing facilities,
furniture for patient rooms and offices and the acquisition and implementation of an Electronic Medical Records
system (collectively, the “2011 Project”); and (3) paying certain costs of issuance of the Bonds.

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Agency, payable solely from money to be received from the
Borrower pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement and pursuant to Obligation No. 5, dated as of December 1,
2011 (“Obligation No. 57), issued to the Agency under a Master Trust Indenture (the “Master Trust Indenture™),
dated as of May 1, 2007, as supplemented, between the Borrower and People’s United Bank (as successor to
Chittenden Trust Company), as Master Trustee (the “Master Trustee™). The Borrower is currently the only Member
of the Obligated Group established pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture (the “Obligated Group™), and Obligation
No. 5 securing the Bonds will constitute a joint and several obligation of the Borrower and any future Members of
the Obligated Group. Payments on Obligation No. 5 will be required to be sufficient to pay the principal or
purchase price of and interest and any premium on the Bonds, as due and payable. To secure the payment of the



Bonds, the Agency will assign to the Bond Trustee all of its interest in Obligation No. 5 and, with certain
exceptions, the Loan Agreement. Obligation No. 5 will be secured by a security interest in the Pledged Assets (as
defined herein). The Master Trust Indenture permits any Person to become a member of the Obligated Group upon
compliance with certain financial tests and other conditions. The Master Trust Indenture also permits, upon
compliance with the terms thereof, any Member of the Obligated Group to withdraw from the Obligated Group.
The Borrower has covenanted not to withdraw from the Obligated Group so long as Obligation No. 5 or Obligation
No. 6 (as defined herein) is Outstanding.

In addition, the Borrower’s payment obligations under the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined herein)
with the Bank will be secured by Obligation No. 6, dated as of December 1, 2011 (“Obligation No. 6). Obligation
Nos. 5 and 6 will be secured pari passu under the Master Trust Indenture with any other Obligations (as defined
herein) issued or to be issued under the Master Trust Indenture from time to time.

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, the Borrower has previously executed and delivered (i) its
Obligation No. 1, dated as of May 1, 2007 (“Obligation No. 1), in the aggregate principal amount of $2,800,000, of
which $2,315,000 was outstanding as of November 1, 2011, (ii) its Obligation No. 2, dated as of May 1, 2007
(“Obligation No. 2”), (iii) its Obligation No. 3, dated as of May 1, 2007 (“Obligation No. 3”), in the aggregate
principal amount of $4,835,000, of which $4,835,000 was outstanding as of November 1, 2011 and (iv) its
Obligation No. 4, dated as of May 1, 2007 (“Obligation No. 4”). Obligation No. 1 was issued in connection with the
issuance by the Agency of its Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (The Brattleboro Retreat Project) 2007 Series
A (the “2007 Tax-Exempt Bonds™), Obligation No. 2 was issued to the Bank (as issuer of a credit facility relating to
the 2007 Tax-Exempt Bonds), Obligation No. 3 was issued in connection with the issuance by the Borrower of its
Variable Rate Demand Taxable Bonds, 2007 Series (the “2007 Taxable Bonds” and together with the 2007 Tax-
Exempt Bonds, the “2007 Bonds™) and Obligation No. 4 was issued to the Bank (as issuer of a credit facility relating
to the 2007 Taxable Bonds). Upon issuance of the Bonds and application of the proceeds thereof, the 2007 Tax-
Exempt Bonds will cease to be outstanding and Obligations No. 1 and 2 will be satisfied in full. On or about the
date of delivery of the Bonds, the Borrower intends to issue a taxable note in the aggregate principal amount of
$4,880,000 (the “2011 Taxable Note) to TD Bank, N.A. The 2011 Taxable Note will be secured by the Borrower’s
Obligation No. 7, dated as of December 1, 2011, and the proceeds thereof will be used to refund Obligation No. 3.
Upon the issuance of the 2011 Taxable Note and the application of the proceeds thereof, the 2007 Taxable Bonds
will cease to be outstanding and Obligations No. 3 and 4 will be satisfied in full.

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, as security for the payment of the principal of, and the redemption
premium, if any, and interest on, Obligation Nos. 5 and 6, and any other Obligation issued and outstanding under the
Master Trust Indenture, including Obligation No. 7 (collectively, the “Obligations™), the Borrower has granted a
security interest in the Pledged Assets to the Master Trustee. The Borrower (and all future Members of the
Obligated Group) has agreed in the Master Trust Indenture that it will not create or suffer to be created or exist any
Lien (as defined in the Master Trust Indenture) other than Permitted Liens (as defined in the Master Trust Indenture)
upon the Pledged Assets or on other Property now owned or subsequently acquired. In addition, the Borrower (and
all future members of the Obligated Group) is subject to covenants under the Master Trust Indenture containing
restrictions or limitations with respect to additional indebtedness, consolidation or merger and transfer of assets,
among others.

Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2011, between
the Borrower and the Bank (the “Pledge Agreement”), the Borrower has pledged an “Investment Account,” as such
term is defined in the Pledge Agreement, which shall serve as further security for the repayment of Obligation No. 7.

The assets that are pledged under the Master Trust Indenture to secure the Obligations consist of all Gross
Receipts (as defined herein), now owned or hereafter acquired, of the members of the Obligated Group and all
Machinery and Equipment (as defined herein) of the Borrower as of June 1, 2007, and all substitutions,
replacements, products and proceeds thereof (the “Pledged Assets”). See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein.

For more information about the Borrower’s obligations under the Master Trust Indenture and Obligation
Nos. 5 and 6, including a description of the conditions under which additional Obligations may be issued and other
Indebtedness may be incurred, conditions under which other organizations may join or withdraw from the Obligated



Group and conditions under which members of the Obligated Group may acquire or dispose of property and merge
with or acquire other organizations, see Appendix D hereto.

Assignment by Agency of Loan Repayments

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency will, for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, assign certain
of the Agency’s rights under the Loan Agreement, including all its rights, title and interest in and to the Loan
Repayments (subject to the reservation of certain rights of the Agency, including its rights to notices, payment of
certain expenses and indemnity), and will assign all of its rights, title and interest in and to Obligation No. 5, and to
any and all moneys and securities in the Bond Funds established for the Bonds, to the Bond Trustee.

Letter of Credit

Payment of the principal or Purchase Price of the Bonds and up to 35 days’ interest accrued thereon (at a
maximum rate of interest not to exceed 10% per annum) will be supported by an irrevocable, transferable, direct-pay
letter of credit (the “Credit Facility”) issued by TD Bank, N.A. (the “Bank™), or by a Substitute Credit Facility or an
Alternate Credit Facility as provided under the Trust Agreement. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Alternate
Credit Supports” herein. The initial Credit Facility for the Bonds will expire on November 30, 2016. The Bank is
issuing the Credit Facility pursuant to a Reimbursement Agreement between the Borrower and the Bank (the
“Reimbursement Agreement”), dated as of December 1, 2011. After the expiration of the Credit Facility, the
payment of the principal or Purchase Price of the Bonds and not less than 35 days’ interest thereon may be
supported by the Credit Facility, as the term thereof may have been extended, or by a Substitute Credit Facility or an
Alternate Credit Facility or may not be supported by any Credit Facility.

Miscellaneous

Summaries of certain provisions of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement and a copy of the Master
Trust Indenture are included as Appendix D to this Official Statement.

The purchase of the Bonds involves a degree of risk. Prospective purchasers should carefully consider the
material under the caption “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” herein.

The Bonds will be sold and delivered by the Agency to the Underwriter, pursuant to a Bond Purchase
Agreement by and among the Agency, the Borrower and the Underwriter. See “UNDERWRITING” herein.

Investors are cautioned that the Bonds are being marketed and sold primarily on the basis of the
credit of the Bank, as issuer of the Credit Facility, and not on the basis of the credit of the Borrower.
Accordingly, in deciding whether to invest in the Bonds, potential investors should not rely upon the ability of
the Borrower to make the required payments under the Loan Agreement in time and in amount sufficient to
pay the principal or purchase price of, and interest on the Bonds.

The following summaries are not comprehensive or definitive. All descriptions of the Act, the Bonds, the
Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Credit Facility, the Reimbursement Agreement, the Master Trust
Indenture and the Obligations are brief summaries of certain provisions thereof and are qualified in their entirety by
the definitive forms of such statute and documents. Copies of the documents are available for inspection at the
principal corporate office of the Bond Trustee, People’s United Bank, Two Burlington Square, Burlington, Vermont
05401.

Capitalized terms used in this Official Statement have the meanings specified herein and in Appendix D
hereto. Terms not otherwise defined in this Official Statement have the meanings provided in the specific
documents.



THE AGENCY

The Agency was created as a body corporate and politic constituting a public instrumentality of the State
for the purpose of exercising the powers conferred on it by virtue of the Act. The purpose of the Agency is
essentially to assist eligible health care and educational facilities in the acquisition, construction, financing and
refinancing of their related projects.

Agency Membership and Organization

Under the Act, the Board of the Agency consists of the Commissioner of Education of the State, the State
Treasurer, the Secretary of Human Services, and the Secretary of Administration of the State, all ex officio, seven
members appointed by the Governor of the State, with the advice and consent of the Senate, for terms of six years,
and two members appointed by the seven members for terms of two years. The members of the Board annually
elect a Chair, Vice-Chair, Treasurer and Secretary. The day-to-day administration of the Agency is handled by the
Executive Director of the Agency.

The present officers and members of the Agency and their places of business or residence are as follows:

Officers and Members

James E. Potvin, Chair Dawn D. Bugbee, Vice Chair
Certified Public Accountant Chief Financial Officer
Stevens, Wilcox, Baker, Potvin, Green Mountain Power Corporation
Cassidy & Jakubowski Colchester, Vermont
Rutland, Vermont
Edward T. Ogorzalek, Treasurer Stephen Gurin, Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Regional Vice President
Rutland Regional Medical Center Community National Bank
Rutland, Vermont Montpelier, Vermont

Ex Officio Members
Beth Pearce Jeb Spaulding
State Treasurer Secretary of Administration
Montpelier, Vermont Montpelier, Vermont
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Deppman & Foley, P.C., Middlebury, Vermont, is general counsel to the Agency.

Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York, is Bond Counsel and will submit its approving opinion with regard to the
legality of the Bonds.

Public Financial Management, Inc., Boston, Massachusetts, is the financial advisor to the Agency.
Financing Programs of the Agency

The Agency was created under the Act as a body corporate and politic constituting a public instrumentality
of the State of Vermont. The Act empowers the Agency, among other things, to finance or assist in the financing of
eligible institutions through financing agreements, which may include loan agreements, lease agreements,
conditional sales agreements, purchase money mortgages, installment sale contracts and other types of contracts to
acquire property, both real and personal, including leasehold and other interests in land, necessary or convenient for
its corporate purposes; to acquire or make loans with respect to facilities, including buildings, improvements to real
property, equipment, furnishings, appurtenances, utilities and other property, determined by the Agency to be
necessary or convenient in the operation of any eligible institutions; to lease or to make loans with respect to such
facilities to any such eligible institutions, and to issue refunding bonds of the Agency, whether the bonds to be
refunded have or have not matured.

The Agency has heretofore authorized and issued numerous series of its bonds and notes, including, as
previously described, bonds and notes issued on behalf of the Borrower. All outstanding Agency bonds and note
issues have been authorized and issued pursuant to financing documents separate from and unrelated to the Loan
Agreement and the Trust Agreement for the Bonds. Inasmuch as each series of bonds and notes of the Agency is
secured separately from all other bonds and notes issued thereby, the moneys on deposit in the respective funds
(including cash and securities in the respective reserve accounts) established to provide for the timely payment of
the debt service requirements on the various issues of outstanding bonds and notes of the Agency cannot be
commingled or be used for any purpose other than servicing the requirements of the specific series of bonds or notes
in connection with which such funds were created.



The Agency under the Act may issue from time to time other bonds and notes under separate resolutions to
assist eligible health care and educational facilities in the acquisition, construction, financing and refinancing of their
related projects payable from revenues derived by the Agency from such borrowers.

Other than with respect to the description of the Agency provided herein, and the information with respect
to the Agency under “NO LITIGATION” herein, the Agency has not prepared or reviewed, and expresses no
opinion with respect to the accuracy or completeness of, any of the information set forth in this Official Statement.

No recourse shall be had for any claim based on the Bonds, the Loan Agreement or the Trust Agreement
against any past, present or future member, officer, employee or agent, as such, of the Agency or of any predecessor
or successor corporation, either directly or through the Agency or otherwise, whether by virtue of any constitution,
statute or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS

SET FORTH BELOW IS A SUMMARY OF THE BONDS WHILE IN THE DAILY AND WEEKLY
RATE MODES ONLY. THERE ARE SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES IN THE TERMS FOR THE BONDS IN
THE EXTENDED RATE MODE OR THE FIXED RATE MODE.

THE CONVERSION OF THE INTEREST RATE ON THE BONDS FROM EITHER OF THE DAILY
RATE MODE OR THE WEEKLY RATE MODE TO OTHER MODES INCLUDING ANY CONVERSIONS
FROM THE WEEKLY RATE MODE TO THE DAILY RATE MODE, OR VICE VERSA, ALLOWED UNDER
THE TRUST AGREEMENT IS TO BE PRECEDED BY A MANDATORY TENDER OF ALL BONDS AT PAR
WITHOUT THE RIGHT OF ANY BONDHOLDER TO RETAIN THEM. SEE APPENDIX D HERETO FOR
MORE INFORMATION. ALL TIMES REFERENCED BELOW ARE NEW YORK CITY TIME UNLESS
OTHERWISE STATED.

Interest Rates

The Bonds shall be dated as of their date of delivery and payment and shall initially bear interest at the
Weekly Rate, until converted to another Rate Period as provided in the Trust Agreement. The Bank Rate shall be
applicable to any Bond for any period after its purchase by or for the account of the Bank as described below and
prior to the date the Remarketing Agent sells such Bond pursuant to the Trust Agreement. The Variable Rate to be
applicable to the Bonds during any Rate Period shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent. The Initial Interest
Rate shall be established upon the date of delivery of the Bonds.

When the Bonds are bearing interest at the Daily Rate or the Weekly Rate, the Interest Payment Date for
the Bonds is the first Business Day of each calendar month. While the Bonds bear interest at the Daily Rate or the
Weekly Rate, the Regular Record Date is the Business Day immediately preceding the Interest Payment Date.

Determination of Variable Rates

(A) The Variable Rate to be applicable to the Bonds during any Daily or Weekly Rate Period shall be
determined by the Remarketing Agent and notice thereof shall be given as follows:

1) The Daily Rate or Weekly Rate for the Rate Period in question shall be determined by the
Remarketing Agent on the date or dates and at the time or times required pursuant to sections (B) and (C) below, as
applicable. Notice of each such Daily Rate or Weekly Rate shall be given by telephone, e-mail or by facsimile (and,
if by telephone, followed by notice in writing) by the Remarketing Agent to the Bond Trustee, not later than 5:00
p-m. on the date of determination. The Tender Agent shall inform the Holders, the Agency, the Borrower and the
Bond Trustee of the applicable Daily or Weekly Rates, upon request.

(2] The Daily or Weekly Rate so to be determined shall be the lowest rate of interest which,
in the judgment of the Remarketing Agent, would cause the Bonds to have a market value equal to the principal
amount thereof (plus accrued interest) under prevailing market conditions as of the date of determination; provided
that: (i) if the Remarketing Agent fails for any reason to determine or notify the Tender Agent of (a) the Daily Rate



for any Daily Rate Period when required under the Trust Agreement, the Daily Rate for such period shall be the
Daily Rate then in effect or (b) the Weekly Rate for any Weekly Rate Period when required under the Trust
Agreement, the Weekly Rate for such Period shall be the Weekly Rate then in effect; and (ii) in no event shall the
Variable Rate for any Variable Rate Period exceed the Maximum Rate. The Maximum Rate, with respect to all
Bonds, other than Bank Bonds, is ten percent (10%) per annum.

3) All determinations of Variable Rates under the Trust Agreement shall be conclusive and
binding. The Borrower, the Agency, the Bond Trustee and the Remarketing Agent shall not be liable to any Holder
for failure to give any notice required above or for failure of any Holder to receive any such notice.

(B) The Daily Rate shall be determined for each Daily Rate Period as follows:

1) Each Daily Rate Period shall be of one day’s duration; except that when the next day is
not a business day, in which case its duration shall extend to but not include such next business day. In the case of a
conversion of the Bonds from a Daily Rate Period, the last Daily Rate Period shall end on the Conversion Date.

2 The Daily Rate for each Daily Rate Period shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent
not later than 10:30 a.m. on each Business Day during the Daily Rate Period to which it relates.

©) The Weekly Rate shall be determined for each Weekly Rate Period as follows:

1) Weekly Rate Periods shall commence on Thursday through Wednesday of the following
week; except that (a) in the case of a conversion from a Daily Rate Period or an Extended Rate Period to a Weekly
Rate Period, the initial Weekly Rate Period shall be from the Weekly Rate Conversion Date through Wednesday of
the following week; and (B) in the case of a conversion from a Weekly Rate Period, the last Weekly Rate Period
shall end on the Conversion Date.

2) The Weekly Rate for each Weekly Rate Period shall be effective from and including the
commencement date of such period and shall remain in effect through and including the last day thereof. Each such
Weekly Rate shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent not later than 5:00 p.m. on the Business Day
immediately prior to the commencement date of the Weekly Rate Period to which it relates.

(D) None of the Daily or Weekly Periods may extend beyond five days prior to the Expiration Date.

The Bonds will bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date on which they are
authenticated unless they are (1) authenticated upon any Interest Payment Date in which event they shall bear
interest from such Interest Payment Date or (2) authenticated prior to the first Interest Payment Date in which event
they will bear interest from their date or such later date as is specified in the resolution providing for their issuance;
provided, however, that, if at the time of authentication of any Bond interest is in default, such Bond will bear
interest from the date to which interest has been paid. All computations of interest shall be based on a 365- or 366-
day year, as the case may be, for the actual number of days elapsed; except that interest at an Extended Rate or the
Fixed Rate shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

The principal of and premium, if any, and the interest on the Bonds will be payable in any coin or currency
of the United States of America that is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts on the dates of
payment thereof.

Conversion Between Variable Rate Periods

At the option of the Borrower, and upon delivery to the Agency and the Bond Trustee of an Opinion of
Bond Counsel, the Bonds may be converted from one Variable Rate Period to another. If any Bonds are converted
from one Variable Rate Period to another, then all of the Bonds shall be converted. Such conversion shall be made
as follows:

) In the case of conversion between Variable Rate Periods, the Conversion Date shall be an Interest
Payment Date for the Variable Rate Period from which the conversion is to be made.



2) The Borrower shall give written notice of any such conversion to the Remarketing Agent, the
Bond Trustee, the Tender Agent, the Agency and the Bank not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the date on
which the Tender Agent is required to notify the Holders of the conversion pursuant to paragraph (3) below. Such
notice shall specify the Conversion Date and the Rate Period to which the conversion will be made.

3) Not less than thirty (30) days prior to any Conversion Date (fifteen (15) days in case of
conversions from a Daily Rate Period to a Weekly Rate Period or vice versa), the Tender Agent shall mail or cause
the Bond Trustee to mail a written notice of the conversion to the Bank, the Borrower and all of the Holders. A
copy of such notice shall be sent to the Agency and the Bond Trustee. Such notice shall set forth (a) the information
contained in the notice from the Remarketing Agent pursuant to paragraph (2) above.

No conversion from one Variable Rate Period to another shall take effect unless (i) the new Variable Rate
Period will not extend beyond the Expiration Date and (ii) the interest component of the Credit Facility will cover
interest on the Bonds computed at the Maximum Rate for such number of days as required by S&P, and, if the
Bonds are then rated by another rating agency, such other rating agency.

Fixed Rate Conversion

At the option of the Borrower, all, but not less than all, of the Bonds may be converted to bear interest at a
Fixed Rate. In such a case, the Beonds will be subject to mandatory tender on an Interest Payment Date on which
interest is payable for the Daily or Weekly Rate Period from which the conversion is to be made.

Not less than forty-five (45) days prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Borrower, (a) shall give
written notice of the conversion to the Agency, the Tender Agent, the Bond Trustee, the Remarketing Agent and the
Bank setting forth the proposed Fixed Rate Conversion Date, and (b) shall deliver to the Bond Trustee, the Bank and
the Remarketing Agent an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the conversion of the interest rate on the Bonds
to a Fixed Rate will not cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the recipients
thereof for federal income tax purposes.

Not less than thirty (30) days prior to the proposed Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Tender Agent shall
mail, or cause the Bond Trustee to mail, a notice of the proposed conversion to the Holders of the Bonds, which
notice shall state: (a) the proposed Fixed Rate Conversion Date; (b) that the Bonds are subject to mandatory tender
for purchase on the Fixed Rate Conversion Date at a Purchase Price of par plus accrued interest; and (c) that, on or
after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Bonds shall be deemed purchased on that date and thereafter the Holders
shall have no further rights except to receive such Purchase Price.

In certain circumstances set forth in the Trust Agreement, the Fixed Rate conversion may not occur.
Notwithstanding this failure, the Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender as described above.

Redemption of Bonds

Optional Redemption. If during a Daily or Weekly Rate Period or an Extended Rate Period of six (6)
months in length the Borrower exercises its option to prepay, in whole or in part, the Loan pursuant to the Loan
Agreement, the Bonds shall be subject to optional redemption on any date at the written direction of the Borrower,
delivered to the Bond Trustee and the Bank on or prior to the thirtieth (30%) day preceding the redemption date, as a
whole or in part, at 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without
premium.

Extraordinary Optional Redemption. If the Borrower exercises its option to prepay the Loan, as provided
in the Loan Agreement, in whole or in part, upon the occurrence of certain events described below, the Bonds are
required to be redeemed, in whole if such Loan is prepaid in full, or in part if such Loan is prepaid in part, on any
date, upon payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrued to the
redemption date, without premium.



The Borrower has the option to prepay the Loan in full or in part at any time at par plus accrued interest
upon the occurrence of one of the following events:

(a) Damage or destruction of all or any part (if damage or destruction of such part causes the
Borrower to be impracticable to operate, as evidenced by an Officer’s Certificate filed with the Agency and the
Bond Trustee) of its operating assets by fire or casualty, or loss of title to or use of substantially all of the operating
assets as a result of the failure of title or as a result of eminent domain proceedings or proceedings in lieu thereof; or

(b) Changes in the Constitution of the United States of America or of the State or of legislation or
administrative action, or failure of administrative action by the United States or the State or any agency or political
subdivision of either thereof, or by reason of any judicial decision;

in either event, to such extent that in the opinion of the board of trustees of the Borrower (expressed in a resolution)
and in the opinion of an independent architect, engineer or management consultant (as may be appropriate for the
particular event), both filed with the Agency and the Bond Trustee, (i) the Loan Agreement is impossible to perform
without unreasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities not being imposed on the date of
such Loan Agreement are imposed on the Borrower.

Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption. The Bonds are required to be redeemed in whole on the same day
on which the Bond Trustee receives written notice from the Bank that an event of default shall have occurred and be
continuing under the Reimbursement Agreement, at one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof
plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without premium.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption Without Premium. The Bonds are also required to be redeemed to
the extent of any Sinking Fund Requirement therefor each Bond Year in which there is a Sinking Fund Requirement,
at one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the
redemption date, without premium. Initially, the Sinking Fund Requirements for the Bonds shall be as set forth in
the following table:

December 1 Amount December 1 Amount

2012 $ 45,000 2022 $ 815,000
2013 45,000 2023 840,000
2014 45,000 2024 865,000
2015 50,000 2025 890,000
2016 50,000 2026 915,000
2017 50,000 2027 945,000
2018 55,000 2028 975,000
2019 55,000 2029 1,005,000
2020 765,000 2030 1,035,000
2021 790,000 2031" 1,065,000

*Final maturity

So long as the Credit Facility shall be in effect and shall not have been dishonored, the Sinking Fund
Requirements with respect to the Bonds may be changed, without the consent of the Holders of the Bonds, by the
Bank and the Borrower, subject to the receipt by the Agency and the Bond Trustee of an Opinion of Bond Counsel.

Notice of Redemption. Notice of redemption identifying the Bonds to be redeemed will be given by the
Bond Trustee by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to all owners of the Bonds to be redeemed at least thirty (30) days
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prior to the redemption date; provided, however, that such notice shall be given at least twenty (20) days before the
redemption date in the case of Bonds being redeemed on or prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date; and provided,
further, that in the case of an Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption described above, the Bond Trustee shall instead
give notice promptly upon its receipt of notice from the Bank, as described above. Failure to mail any such notice to
any owner or any defect in any notice so mailed will not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of
the Bonds of any other owner. No further interest will accrue on the principal of any Bond called for redemption
after the redemption date if funds sufficient for such redemption have been deposited with the Bond Trustee.

With respect to any notice of optional redemption, such notice may state that such redemption shall be
conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee, on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption, of Available Moneys
or Defeasance Obligations purchased with Available Moneys, or a combination of both, sufficient to pay the
applicable redemption price of and accrued interest on such Bonds to be redeemed, and that if such moneys or
obligations shall not have been so received, said notice shall be of no force and effect, the Agency shall not be
required to redeem such Bonds, and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, in the manner
in which the notice of redemption was given, that such redemption shall not occur.

Optional Tender of Bonds Prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date

Optional Tender. During any Daily Rate or Weekly Rate Period, the Holders of the Bonds may elect to
have their Bonds (or portions thereof in authorized denominations) purchased at the Purchase Price, on the following
Purchase Dates and upon the giving of the following notices:

@) Bonds bearing interest at Daily Rates may be tendered for purchase on any Business Day upon
delivery of a written notice of tender to the Tender Agent not later than 11:30 a.m. on the Business Day immediately
preceding such Purchase Date; and

(ii) Bonds bearing interest at Weekly Rates may be tendered for purchase on any Business Day upon
delivery of a written notice of tender to the Tender Agent not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day not less than
seven (7) days prior to the Purchase Date.

Notice of Tender. Each notice of tender:

@) shall, in the case of a written notice, be delivered to the Tender Agent at its designated office and
be in form satisfactory to the Tender Agent;

(ii) shall state, whether delivered in writing or by telephone (promptly confirmed in writing by
telecopy), (A) the principal amount of the Bonds or portion of the Bonds to be purchased, (B) that the Holder
irrevocably demands purchase of the Bond or portion thereof, (C) the date on which such Bond or portion is to be
purchased and (D) payment instructions; and

(iii) shall automatically constitute, whether delivered in writing or by telephone, (A) an irrevocable
offer to sell the Bond or portion to which the notice relates on the Purchase Date to any purchasers selected by the
Remarketing Agent, at the Purchase Price, (B) an irrevocable authorization and instruction to the Bond Registrar to
effect transfer of such Bond or portion upon payment of such price to the Tender Agent on the Purchase Date, (C) an
irrevocable authorization and instruction to the Tender Agent to effect the exchange of the Bond to be purchased in
whole or in part for other Bonds of the Borrower in an equal aggregate principal amount so as to facilitate the sale of
such Bond or portion, and (D) an acknowledgment that the Holder will have no further rights with respect to the
Bond or portion upon payment of the Purchase Price thereof by the Tender Agent on the Purchase Date, except for
the right of such Holder to receive such Purchase Price upon surrender of such Bond to the Tender Agent.

The determination of the Tender Agent as to whether a notice of tender has been properly delivered
pursuant to the foregoing shall be conclusive and binding upon the Holder.

Remarketing. Not later than 4:30 p.m. on the Business Day immediately following the date of receipt of

any notice of tender (12:00 p.m. on the day of receipt of the notice of tender during any Daily Rate Period), the
Tender Agent shall notify the Remarketing Agent and the Bond Trustee (if the Bond Trustee is not serving as the
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Tender Agent) of the principal amount of the Bonds or portions thereof to be tendered and remarketed and the date
they are to be tendered and remarketed. The Remarketing Agent shall offer for sale and use its best efforts to find
purchasers for such Bonds or portions thereof properly tendered. All such Bonds shall be remarketed at par plus any
accrued interest. The terms of any sale by the Remarketing Agent of tendered Bonds shall provide for the purchase
of the remarketed Bonds at the Purchase Price and the payment of the Purchase Price to the Tender Agent by the
Remarketing Agent in immediately available funds against delivery of the remarketed Bonds to the Tender Agent at
or before 9:00 a.m. on the Purchase Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Remarketing Agent shall not offer for
sale any Bond if notice of conversion from one Variable Rate Period to another or to a Fixed Rate Period has been
given to the Holders by the Tender Agent, unless the Remarketing Agent has advised the Person to whom the offer
is made of such conversion and the effect of such conversion on the rights of such Holders to tender their Bonds, as
described in the conversion notice from the Tender Agent to the Holders.

Purchase of Tendered Bonds. At or before 4:00 p.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding the date
fixed for purchase of tendered Bonds, the Remarketing Agent shall give notice by telephone, facsimile, email, or
other similar communication to the Borrower, the Agency, the Bond Trustee, the Tender Agent and, so long as the
Credit Facility for the Bonds shall be in effect and shall not have been dishonored, the Bank, of the principal amount
of tendered Bonds which were remarketed and give notice to the Bond Trustee by telephone (promptly confirmed in
writing) of the principal amount, names, addresses and taxpayer identification numbers of the purchasers and the
denominations of Bonds to be delivered to each purchaser.

The Remarketing Agent shall pay, against receipt of newly registered Bonds, to the Tender Agent at or
before 9:30 a.m. on the date fixed for purchase of tendered Bonds, all amounts representing proceeds of the
remarketing of the Bonds other than the proceeds of the remarketing of such Bonds purchased by the Borrower or
the Agency or any Affiliate of either thereof. The Tender Agent (if other than the Bond Trustee) shall promptly
notify the Bond Trustee of all amounts so received from the Remarketing Agent. The Bond Trustee shall, at or
before 10:00 a.m. on the date fixed for purchase, submit the necessary draw certificates in accordance with the terms
of the Credit Facility to ensure that, on such Purchase Date, an amount equal to the total Purchase Price of all Bonds
tendered for purchase on such Purchase Date, reduced by the amount of remarketing proceeds held by the Tender
Agent for payment of such Purchase Price, shall be drawn on the Credit Facility for the Bonds, and the Bond Trustee
shall, immediately upon receipt of the amount drawn on the Credit Facility, remit such amount to the Tender Agent.
No drawing under the Credit Facility shall be made or proceeds applied to pay the Purchase Price of any Bonds
owned by the Bank or any Bonds that have been converted to bear interest at a Fixed Rate.

The Remarketing Agent shall pay to the Bond Trustee at or before 9:30 a.m. on the date fixed for purchase
of tendered Bonds all amounts representing proceeds of remarketing of Bonds purchased by the Borrower or the
Agency or any Affiliate of either thereof. The Bond Trustee shall remit all amounts representing proceeds of
remarketing of Bonds so purchased to the Bank, not later than 2:00 p.m. on the date the Bonds are so purchased.

Payments by the Tender Agent. On or before 4:00 p.m. on the date set for purchase of tendered Bonds and
upon receipt by the Tender Agent of 100% of the aggregate Purchase Price of the tendered Bonds, the Tender Agent
shall pay the Purchase Price of the Bonds to such Holders thereof at its corporate trust office or by bank wire
transfer to the accounts specified in the appropriate Optional Tender Notices. Such payments shall be made in
immediately available funds. The Tender Agent shall apply in order (A) moneys paid to it by the Remarketing
Agent as proceeds of the remarketing of such Bonds by the Remarketing Agent (which shall not include the
proceeds of the remarketing of such Bonds purchased by the Borrower or the Agency or any Affiliate of either
thereof), (B) moneys drawn on the Credit Facility in an amount equal to the unpaid Purchase Price of such tendered
Bonds, and (C) any other moneys available to it for the payment of such tendered Bonds. Upon receipt thereof the
Tender Agent shall remit to the Bond Trustee all such tendered Bonds for cancellation.

Resale of Bonds Purchased by the Bank. The Remarketing Agent shall continue to offer for sale and use its
best efforts to sell Bonds purchased by the Bank at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued
interest, if any. Bonds purchased by the Bank to be delivered as a result of the resale of the Bonds shall not be
delivered by the Bond Trustee unless the Credit Facility is reinstated in accordance with its terms in an amount equal
to the full amount drawn thereunder that was used to purchase such Bonds and unless the Bond Trustee shall have
received written notice from the Bank of such reinstatement. The Bond Trustee shall promptly take such action as is
required of it pursuant to the Credit Facility to cause such reinstatement.

11



Delivery of Bonds. All Bonds to be purchased on any date shall be required to be delivered to the
corporate trust office of the Tender Agent at or before 10:00 a.m. on the Purchase Date.

Mandatory Tender of Bonds upon Variable or Fixed Rate Conversion

Mandatory Tender. In the event of a conversion of the Bonds from one Rate Period to another, such Bonds
will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Conversion Date at a price equal to the Purchase Price.

Purchase of Tendered Bonds. The provisions described above under “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS —
Optional Tender of Bonds Prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date — Purchase of Tendered Bonds™ shall apply to
mandatory tenders upon conversion to the Variable Rate or a Fixed Rate.

Mandatory Tender of Bonds upon Expiration of the Credit Facility

Mandatory Tender. The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Expiration Date at
a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest; provided that the Holders of such Bonds may
elect to retain their Bonds notwithstanding a mandatory tender by delivering to the Tender Agent at its principal
office not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day which is not less than fourteen (14) Business Days prior to the
Expiration Date a written notice of such election. Such written notice shall (i) state that the person delivering the
same is a Holder (specifying the numbers and denominations of the Bonds of such Holder); (ii) state that the Holder
is aware of the fact that, after the Expiration Date therefor, such Bonds will no longer have the benefit of the Credit
Facility, and that the ratings of the Bonds, if any, may therefore be reduced or dropped; and (iii) direct the Tender
Agent not to purchase the Bonds of such Holder. Any such notice delivered to the Tender Agent shall be
irrevocable and binding upon the Holder delivering the same and all subsequent Holders of the Bonds to be retained,
including any Bonds issued in exchange therefore or upon transfer thereof.

Notice to Holders. The Bond Trustee shall mail a notice of the Expiration Date of the Credit Facility to all
Holders of the Bonds. Such notice shall be mailed not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five (45) days prior
to the Expiration Date and shall (i) specify the Expiration Date, (ii) state that, after the Expiration Date, the Bonds
will no longer have the benefit of the Credit Facility, and that the ratings of the Bonds, if any, may thereafter be
reduced or dropped, (iii) specify the date and time by which any notice of election to retain Bonds must be received,
and specify the matters required to be stated in such notice (or contain the form thereof) and (iv) state that with
respect to any Bonds for which an election to retain Bonds has not been received by the Tender Agent, such Bonds
shall be deemed tendered on the Expiration Date provided the conditions set forth below under “DESCRIPTION OF
THE BONDS — Undelivered Bonds” have been met.

Purchase of Tendered Bonds. The provisions described above under “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS —
Optional Tender of Bonds Prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date — Purchase of Tendered Bonds” shall apply to
mandatory tenders upon expiration of the Credit Facility.

Mandatory Tender of Bonds upon Provision of Alternate Credit Facility

Mandatory Tender. The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Business Day on
which an Alternate Credit Facility will become effective at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus
accrued interest; provided that the Holders of the Bonds may elect to retain their Bonds notwithstanding such a
mandatory tender by delivering to the Tender Agent at its corporate trust office not later than 5:00 p.m. on a
Business Day which is not less than fourteen (14) Business Days prior to the effective date of the Alternate Credit
Facility, a written notice of such election complying with the requirements described below. Any such notice
delivered to the Tender Agent shall be irrevocable and binding upon the Holder delivering the same and all
subsequent Holders of the Bonds to be retained including any the Bonds issued in exchange therefor or upon transfer
thereof. The Bonds will not be subject to mandatory tender for purchase upon the effective substitution of a
Substitute Credit Facility for the Credit Facility then in effect.

Notice to Holders. Notice of the substitution of an Alternate Credit Facility shall be mailed by the Bond

Trustee to each Holder of the Bonds in compliance with the requirements described under the caption “SECURITY
FOR THE BONDS — Alternate Credit Supports — Alternate Credit Facilities” below.
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Purchase of Tendered Bonds. On or before 10:00 a.m. on the Business Day preceding the effective date of
an Alternate Credit Facility, the Bond Trustee shall submit the necessary draw certificates in accordance with the
terms of the Credit Facility to ensure that, on such Business Day, an amount shall be drawn on the Credit Facility
equal to the total Purchase Price of all Bonds deemed to be tendered, reduced by the amount of remarketing
proceeds held by the Tender Agent for payment of such Purchase Price. The Tender Agent shall pay such Purchase
Price in the manner set forth under “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — Optional Tender of Bonds Prior to the
Fixed Rate Conversion Date — Purchase of Tendered Bonds” above.

Undelivered Bonds

Any Bonds subject to mandatory tender for purchase shall be delivered to the Tender Agent on or prior to
the date on which the Bonds are required to be purchased and any Bonds subject to mandatory tender for purchase
that are not delivered for which there has been irrevocably deposited in trust with the Tender Agent an amount of
money sufficient to pay the Purchase Price thereof shall be deemed to have been tendered to the Tender Agent
pursuant to this Section and shall be Undelivered Bonds. IN THE EVENT OF A FAILURE BY A HOLDER
(OTHER THAN A HOLDER WHO HAS PROPERLY GIVEN NOTICE OF ITS INTENTION TO CONTINUE
TO HOLD ITS BONDS) TO DELIVER ITS BONDS ON OR PRIOR TO THE REQUIRED DATE, SUCH
HOLDER SHALL NOT BE ENTITLED TO ANY PAYMENT (INCLUDING ANY INTEREST TO ACCRUE
SUBSEQUENT TO THE REQUIRED PURCHASE DATE) OTHER THAN THE PURCHASE PRICE FOR SUCH
UNDELIVERED BONDS, AND ANY UNDELIVERED BONDS SHALL NO LONGER BE ENTITLED TO THE
BENEFITS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT, EXCEPT FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PURCHASE PRICE
THEREFOR. The Bond Trustee shall be entitled to place stop-transfer orders against an appropriate principal
amount of Bonds registered in the name of such prior Holders. Any moneys held by the Tender Agent under the
Trust Agreement for the purchase of Undelivered Bonds shall be held in a segregated fund by the Tender Agent,
shall not be invested, and shall be held for the exclusive benefit of the Holders of such Undelivered Bonds.

The Bond Trustee shall authenticate a new Bond or Bonds in replacement of any Undelivered Bonds. The
replacement of any Undelivered Bond shall not be deemed to create a new indebtedness, but such Bond as is issued
shall be deemed to evidence the indebtedness previously evidenced by the Undelivered Bond.

Bank Deemed Holder

For all purposes of the provisions of the Trust Agreement regarding defaults and remedies and supplements
to such Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement, the Bank shall, so long as the Credit Facility shall be in effect
and shall not have been dishonored and uncured and so long as any Bank Obligations with respect to the Borrower
remain unpaid, be deemed the Holder of all Bonds. As such, the Bank may take all actions permitted by the
provisions of the Trust Agreement regarding defaults and remedies and supplements to the Trust Agreement and the
Loan Agreement to be taken by the Holders of the Bonds, to the exclusion of the actual Holders of the Bonds, as if
the Bank was in fact the actual Holder of all such Bonds; the purposes of this provision being to permit the Bank to
direct the taking of actions and the enforcement of remedies permitted by the provisions of the Trust Agreement
regarding defaults and remedies and to consent to supplements to the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement so
long as the Credit Facility shall be in effect and shall not have been dishonored and uncured and so long as any Bank
Obligation remains unpaid.
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BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC''s book-entry system was obtained from material
provided by DTC. None of the Agency, the Borrower, the Bond Trustee or the Underwriter takes any responsibility
for the accuracy of such information, makes any representation as to the completeness of such information or makes
any representation as to the absence of material changes in such information subsequent to the date hereof.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be initially issued as fully-registered
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond will be issued for each maturity and
series, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and
a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants
(“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of
sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.
Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing
Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC, is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed
Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and
dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants™). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+.
The DTC rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive
a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial
Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in
the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds,
except in the event that use of the book entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other
DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial
Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds
are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain
responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to

Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
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Redemption notices shall be sent to Cede & Co. if less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be
redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails
an Omnibus Proxy to the Agency as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s
consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or
such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Agency or the Paying
Agent on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with
securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility
of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent or the Agency, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements
as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distribution and interest payments to Cede &
Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the
Agency or the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC,
and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.

A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to have its Bonds purchased or tendered, through its Participant, to
the Tender Agent, and shall effect delivery of such Bonds by causing the Direct Participant to transfer the
Participant’s interest in the Bonds, on DTC’s records, to the Tender Agent. The requirement for physical delivery of
Bonds in connection with an optional tender or a mandatory purchase will be deemed satisfied when the ownership
rights in the Bonds are transferred by Direct Participants on DTC’s records and followed by a book-entry credit of
tendered Bonds to the Tender Agent’s DTC account.

DTC may discontinue providing its service as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the Agency and the Bond Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor or
depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered to DTC.

The Agency may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor
securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered to DTC.

In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued and the Beneficial Owners become registered
owners of the Bonds, the following provisions applicable to registered owners would apply: (i) Bonds may be
exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate, in other
authorized denominations, upon surrender thereof at the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee; (ii)
the transfer of any Bonds may be registered on the books maintained by the Bond Trustee for such purpose only
upon the surrender thereof to the Bond Trustee together with a duly executed assignment in form satisfactory to the
Corporation and the Bond Trustee; and (iii) for every exchange or registration of transfer of Bonds, the Bond
Trustee may impose a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or governmental charge required to be paid
with respect to such exchange or registration of transfer of the Bonds.

Additional Information

For every transfer and exchange of the Bonds, DTC, the Bond Trustee, as Bond Registrar, and the DTC
Participants may charge the Beneficial Owner a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other charge that may be
imposed in relation thereto.

THE INFORMATION IN THIS SECTION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM

HAS BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE AGENCY BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE, BUT THE
AGENCY, THE BORROWER, THE BOND TRUSTEE AND THE UNDERWRITER TAKE NO
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF. NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE
AGENCY, THE BORROWER, THE BOND TRUSTEE OR THE UNDERWRITER AS TO THE
COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY OF SUCH INFORMATION OR AS TO THE ABSENCE OF MATERIAL
ADVERSE CHANGES IN SUCH INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF. NO ATTEMPT
HAS BEEN MADE BY THE AGENCY, THE BORROWER, THE BOND TRUSTEE OR THE UNDERWRITER
TO DETERMINE WHETHER DTC IS OR WILL BE FINANCIALLY OR OTHERWISE CAPABLE OF
FULFILLING ITS OBLIGATIONS. NEITHER THE AGENCY NOR THE BOND TRUSTEE WILL HAVE ANY
RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATIONS TO SUCH DTC PARTICIPANTS, INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR
THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PAYMENTS TO OR THE
PROVIDING OF NOTICE FOR THE DTC PARTICIPANTS, THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE
BENEFICIAL OWNERS. PAYMENTS MADE TO DTC OR ITS NOMINEE SHALL SATISFY THE
AGENCY’S OBLIGATION UNDER THE ACT AND THE TRUST AGREEMENT TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH
PAYMENTS.

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER DTC NOMINEE IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF
THE BONDS, AS NOMINEE OF DTC, REFERENCES HEREIN TO THE BONDHOLDERS OR REGISTERED
OWNERS OF THE BONDS SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER DTC NOMINEE AND SHALL
NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE BONDS. PAYMENTS MADE BY THE BOND TRUSTEE
TO DTC OR ITS NOMINEE SHALL SATISFY THE AGENCY’S OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE
BONDS TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH PAYMENTS.

IT IS THE DUTY OF EACH BENEFICIAL OWNER TO ARRANGE WITH THE DTC PARTICIPANT
OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT TO RECEIVE FROM SUCH DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST, CREDIT BALANCES AND ALL OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS WHICH THE DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT RECEIVES FROM
DTC.

NONE OF THE AGENCY, THE BOND TRUSTEE, THE BORROWER OR THE UNDERWRITER
WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO THE PARTICIPANTS OF DTC OR THE
PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO (I) THE ACCURACY OF ANY
RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR BY AN PARTICIPANT OF DTC, () PAYMENTS OR THE
PROVIDING OF NOTICE TO DIRECT PARTICIPANTS, THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE
BENEFICIAL OWNERS, (IIl) THE SELECTION BY DTC OR BY ANY PARTICIPANT OF DTC OF ANY
BENEFICIAL OWNER TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE
BONDS OR (IV) ANY OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS PARTNERSHIP NOMINEE AS OWNER OF
THE BONDS.

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
Security for the Bonds

The Bonds will be secured by (1) the Loan Repayments, (2) the Credit Facility, (3) Obligation No. 5, and
(4) all other moneys and securities held from to time by the Bond Trustee for the Bondholders under the Trust
Agreement.

Principal or purchase price of and interest and any premium on the Bonds will be payable from moneys
paid by the Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement and by the Obligated Group pursuant to Obligation No. 5.
Payment of Obligation No. 5 will be the joint and several obligation of the members of the Obligated Group.
Currently, the Borrower is the only member of the Obligated Group.

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, as security for the payment of the amounts due on the Obligations
issued under the Master Trust Indenture, the Borrower has pledged and granted, and any other future members of the
Obligated Group will pledge and grant, a security interest in the Pledged Assets to the Master Trustee. The Pledged
Assets consist of the Gross Receipts of the members of the Obligated Group, now owned or hereafter acquired, and
Machinery and Equipment of the Borrower as of June 1, 2007, and all substitutions, replacements, products and
proceeds thereof. For purposes of the Master Trust Indenture, the term “Gross Receipts” means all Accounts and all
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revenues, income, receipts and money (other than proceeds of borrowing) received in any period by or on behalf of
any member of the Obligated Group, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) revenues
derived from its operations, (b) gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions and the income therefrom,
exclusive of any gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions and the income therefrom to the extent
specifically restricted by the donor to a particular purpose inconsistent with their use for the payment of the
Obligations, (c) proceeds derived from (i) insurance, except to the extent otherwise required by the Master Trust
Indenture, (ii) Accounts, (iii) securities and other investments, (iv) inventory and other tangible and intangible
property, (v) medical or hospital insurance, indemnity or reimbursement programs or agreements and (vi) contract
rights and other rights and assets now or hereafter owned, held or possessed by each member of the Obligated
Group, and (d) rentals received from the leasing of real or tangible personal property. For purposes of the Master
Trust Indenture, the term “Machinery and Equipment” means all personal property of the Borrower constituting
machinery and equipment owned by the Borrower as of June 1, 2007, and any substitutions, replacements, products
and proceeds thereof, including the proceeds of any insurance policies with respect thereto. The security interest in
the Pledged Assets has been perfected to the extent, and only to the extent, that such security interest may be
perfected by filing financing statements under the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of Vermont (the “UCC”).
Continuation statements with respect to such filings must be filed every five years to continue the perfection of such
security interest. The security interest in the Pledged Assets is subject to Permitted Liens that existed prior to or that
may be created subsequent to the time the security interest in the Pledged Assets attached and subject to the right of
each member of the Obligated Group to sell Accounts or incur Indebtedness secured by Accounts under certain
circumstances as set forth in the Master Trust Indenture. The security interest in the Pledged Assets may not be
enforceable against third parties unless the Pledged Assets are transferred to the Master Trustee (which transfer
members of the Obligated Group are required to make only if requested by the Master Trustee after a default under
the Master Trust Indenture) and is subject to certain exceptions under the UCC. The enforcement of the security
interest in the Pledged Assets may be further limited by the following: (i) statutory liens, (ii) rights arising in favor
of the United States of America or any agency thereof, (iii) present or future prohibitions against assignment in any
federal or State statutes or regulations, (iv) constructive trusts, equitable liens or other rights impressed or conferred
by any state or federal court in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction, (v) federal bankruptcy laws, State of
Vermont receivership or fraudulent conveyance laws or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights that may affect the
enforceability of the Master Trust Indenture or the security interest in the Pledged Assets and (vi) rights of third
parties in the Pledged Assets not in the possession of the Master Trustee. See “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS -
Enforcement of Bondholder Remedies; Bankruptcy” herein.

The actual realization of amounts to be derived upon the enforcement of any security interest securing the
Bonds will depend upon the exercise of various remedies specified by the Loan Agreement, the Trust Agreement
and the Master Trust Indenture. These and other remedies may, in many respects, require judicial action of a nature
that is often subject to discretion and delay. Under existing law, the remedies specified by the Loan Agreement, the
Trust Agreement and the Master Trust Indenture may not be readily available or may be limited. A court may
decide not to order the specific performance of the covenants contained in those documents. The various legal
opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the
various legal instruments by limitations imposed by state and federal laws, rulings and decisions affecting remedies
and by bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization and other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’
rights generally. See “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS — Enforcement of Bondholder Remedies; Bankruptcy™ herein.

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, the members of the Obligated Group are subject to covenants under
the Master Trust Indenture relating to maintenance of a Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio and concerning,
among other things, incurrence of Indebtedness, existence of liens on Property, consolidation and merger,
disposition of assets, addition of members to the Obligated Group and withdrawal of members from the Obligated
Group. See Appendix D hereto for further details about the Master Trust Indenture.

THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE PERMITS MEMBERS OF THE OBLIGATED GROUP TO ISSUE
OR INCUR ADDITIONAL INDEBTEDNESS EVIDENCED BY OBLIGATIONS THAT WILL SHARE THE
SECURITY FOR OBLIGATION NO. 5 ON A PARITY WITH OBLIGATION NO. 5 (INCLUDING THE
EXISTING OBLIGATIONS ISSUED UNDER THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE).

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency will, for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, assign certain
of the Agency’s rights under the Loan Agreement, including all its rights, title and interest in and to the Loan
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Repayments (subject to the reservation of certain rights of the Agency, including its rights to notices, payment of
certain expenses and indemnity), and will assign all of its right, title and interest in and to Obligation No. 5, and to
any and all moneys and securities in the Bond Fund, and, until applied in payment of any item of the cost of the
Project, to all money and securities in the Construction Fund, to the Bond Trustee.

Prior to and on the Expiration Date, the payment of the principal or redemption price of and the interest on
the Bonds shall be made only with first, money constituting Available Moneys, second, money derived from a
drawing by the Bond Trustee under the Credit Facility, and third, money otherwise available for such payment that
does not constitute Available Moneys; provided, however, that no optional redemption of the Bonds shall be made
with other than Available Moneys without the prior written consent of the Bank, and then such redemption shall be
made only with money derived from a drawing by the Bond Trustee under the Credit Facility.

Alternate Credit Supports

Substitute Credit Facilities. The Credit Facility, as initially issued, will expire by its terms on November
30, 2016. Any Substitute Credit Facility may be substituted for any Credit Facility then in effect at any time other
than during the sixty (60) day period preceding the Expiration Date in effect if the Borrower has satisfied the
requirements of the Trust Agreement with respect to the Substitute Credit Facility. The Bond Trustee shall notify
the Holders of the Bonds of such substitution within five days after the effective date thereof. A Substitute Credit
Facility means an irrevocable letter of credit issued by the provider of the Credit Facility then in effect containing
substantially the same terms as the initial Credit Facility, and delivered to the Bond Trustee in substitution for the
Credit Facility then in effect. The Bonds will not be subject to mandatory tender upon the substitution of the Credit
Facility with a Substitute Credit Facility.

Alternate Credit Facilities. An Alternate Credit Facility may be substituted for a Credit Facility then in
effect any time other than during the sixty (60)-day period preceding the Expiration Date of such Credit Facility if
the Borrower, (i) delivers to the Bond Trustee such Alternate Credit Facility at least thirty-five (35) days in advance
of the date such Alternate Credit Facility will become effective and (ii) satisfies the requirements of the Trust
Agreement with respect to such Alternate Credit Facility.

Notice of the substitution of an Alternate Credit Facility will be made by the Bond Trustee to each Holder
of such Bonds at his address as shown on the registration books on or before the thirtieth (30th) day before such
Alternate Credit Facility will become effective. Such notice shall state (i) that the existing Credit Facility is being
replaced by an Alternate Credit Facility, (ii) the rating that will be assigned to the Bonds by S&P, if the Bonds are
rated by S&P, and Moody’s, if the Bonds are rated by Moody’s, as a result of the substitution, (iii) that all Holders
who wish to continue to own Bonds on or after the date such Alternate Credit Facility will be effective must give
notice to that effect to the Tender Agent no later than 4:00 p.m., New York City time, on or before the fourteenth
(14th) Business Day prior to such effective date or be deemed to have tendered their Bonds for purchase on the
Business Day preceding such effective date and (iv) state that with respect to any Bonds for which an election to
retain such Bonds pursuant to this paragraph has not been received by the Tender Agent, such Bonds shall be
deemed tendered on the effective date of the Alternate Credit Facility provided that the conditions described under
“DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — Undelivered Bonds™ have been met.

Any Holder desiring to retain its Bonds on and after the date the Alternate Credit Facility will be effective
must notify the Tender Agent in writing received not later than the fourteenth (14th) day prior to such effective date.
Such notice shall state in substance (i) the numbers and principal amount of the Bonds to be retained and (ii) that
such Holder is aware that the rating(s) assigned to the Bonds, if any, by S&P or Moody’s may be lower than those
assigned to the Bank, as the case may be. Any Holder not delivering such a notice shall be deemed to have tendered
his Bonds for purchase by the Tender Agent on the Business Day preceding the date such Altemnate Credit Facility
will be effective.

Documents to be Delivered. Prior to the provision of any Substitute Credit Facility or Alternate Credit
Facility, the Borrower shall have delivered to the Bond Trustee: (i) with respect to a Substitute Credit Facility,
written confirmation from each rating agency that such substitution will not result in a reduction or withdrawal of
the rating or ratings in effect for the Bonds immediately prior to such substitution, (ii) an opinion of counsel for the
issuer of the Substitute Credit Facility or Alternate Credit Facility that such contract constitutes a legal, valid and
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binding obligation of the issuer thereof enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject only to bankruptcy,
insolvency, moratorium and other laws or equitable principles affecting creditors rights insofar as the same may be
applicable in the event of a bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar proceeding or occurrence with
respect to the issuer; (iii) an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Bond Trustee to the effect that the exemption of
the Bonds, or any securities evidenced thereby, from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and the exemption of the Trust Agreement from qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as
amended, shall not be impaired by such substitution; and (iv) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such
substitution will not cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the recipients
thereof for federal income tax purposes.

THE BANK AND THE CREDIT FACILITY
The Bank

Attached hereto as Appendix C is certain information concerning the Bank as the issuer of the Credit
Facility.

The Credit Facility

The statements made herein concerning the Credit Facility are a summary and do not purport to be
complete. Such statements use certain terms defined in the Credit Facility and are qualified in their entirety by
reference to the detailed provisions of the Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility is an irrevocable obligation of the Bank to pay the Bond Trustee, upon presentation of
sight drafts and appropriate certifications, an aggregate amount up to the principal of (including the portion of the
purchase price corresponding to principal on a tender of the Bonds) and up to thirty five (35) days’ accrued interest
on the outstanding Bonds (such amount, as from time to time adjusted as provided below, hereinafter called the
“Available Amount”). The Available Amount of the Credit Facility shall (A) be decreased from time to time (i)
immediately following the Bank’s honoring the Bond Trustee’s draft drawn on the Bank under the Credit Facility by
an amount equal to the amount of such draft and (ii) immediately upon receipt of notice by the Bank from the Bond
Trustee of any reduction in the Available Amount as a result of redemption or defeasance of Bonds, by an amount
equal to the amount set forth in such notice, and (B) be increased (but in no event shall the amount of any such
increase cause the Available Amount to exceed $11,408,357) to the extent, but only to the extent, of amounts drawn
under the Credit Facility (a) relating to payment of interest on the Bonds unless the Bank has notified the Bond
Trustee within nine days following such payment that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the
Reimbursement Agreement, and (b) so long as no Default shall exist under the Reimbursement Agreement upon
written notice to the Bank of the remarketing and reimbursement to the Bank from the remarketing of Bonds that
have been tendered to the Tender Agent pursuant to the optional tender provisions of the Trust Agreement.

The Bond Trustee is required by the Trust Agreement to draw upon the Credit Facility prior to and
including the Expiration Date in the following circumstances:

1) No later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on each date on which interest is payable on the
Bonds, the Trust Agreement requires the Bond Trustee to present a sight draft to the Bank together with required
certificates for the payment of an amount which, together with Available Moneys held by the Bond Trustee in the
Interest Account for the Bonds, will be sufficient to pay the interest becoming due on the Bonds.

) No later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on each day on which principal is due on the Bonds
prior to and including the Expiration Date, whether by optional redemption, mandatory redemption, acceleration or
maturity, the Trust Agreement requires the Bond Trustee to present a sight draft to the Bank together with required
certificates for the payment of an amount which, together with Available Moneys available therefor held by the
Bond Trustee for the Bonds, will be sufficient to pay the principal of all Bonds becoming due upon presentation and
surrender thereof.

3) Upon receipt of the Bonds which have been tendered for purchase on or prior to the Fixed Rate
Conversion Date, and which have not been purchased from moneys provided by the Remarketing Agent, the Bond
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Trustee shall at or before 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for purchase present a sight draft to the
Bank together with required certificates for payment of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest, if any.

No drawing under the Credit Facility shall be made or any proceeds or any drawing applied to pay the
interest on Bonds owned by the Bank or on Bonds that have been converted to bear interest at a Fixed Rate.

The Credit Facility expires by its terms on the earlier of: (i) November 30, 2016; (ii) fifteen (15) days after
the Fixed Rate Conversion Date or the date on which the Bank honors a drawing under the relevant Credit Facility
on or after the Fixed Rate Conversion Rate; (iii) the date which is 15 days after the date the Bond Trustee receives
notice from the Bank of an Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement; (iv) the date on which the Bank
receives notice from the Bond Trustee that it has received a Substitute or an Alternate Credit Facility and such
Substitute or Alternate Credit Facility has been in effect for one Business Day; or (v) the date when the principal
balance of the Available Amount has been reduced to zero and is not subject to reinstatement.

The Borrower may elect to have a Substitute or an Alternate Credit Facility secure the Bonds. See
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Alternate Credit Supports.”

The Reimbursement Agreement

The following summarizes certain provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement pursuant to which the
Credit Facility is being issued. Reference is made to the Reimbursement Agreement for the details of the provisions
thereof.

Security

As security for the Credit Facility, the Borrower has issued its Obligation No. 6 under the Master Trust
Indenture to the Bank. The Borrower has agreed not to create or incur or suffer to be created or incurred or to exist
any lien, encumbrance, mortgage, pledge, negative pledge, charge, restriction or other security interest of any kind
on any of its Property (except Permitted Liens and other liens to which either the Bank consents, or for which the
Borrower meets certain requirements set out in the Reimbursement Agreement).

Events of Default

Certain events, acts or occurrences shall constitute “Events of Default” under the Reimbursement
Agreement. Such events of default include, without limitation: (a) default in the payment when due of: (i) any
disbursement made by the Bank on behalf of the Borrower under the Credit Facility, (ii) any interest on any
disbursement by the Bank under the Credit Facility, or (iii) any fees or other amounts payable under the
Reimbursement Agreement; or (b) any representation or warranty of the Borrower in the Reimbursement Agreement
or the Loan Agreement, or in the event any certificate, or instrument delivered to the Bank shall prove to have been
incorrect in any material respect when made or reaffirmed; or (c) the Borrower shall default in the performance of
observance or any term of the Reimbursement Agreement and such default, if a non-monetary default, shall continue
for 15 days after written notice from the Bank; or (d) the Borrower shall default, after giving effect to any grace
period, in the performance or observance of any term, under certain related documents; or (¢) a judgment for
payment of money in an aggregate amount which, if paid, would have a material adverse effect on the Borrower
shall be rendered against the Borrower, and shall remain unsatisfied for thirty (30) days during which no stay of
execution has been obtained, unless such judgment has been adequately reserved on the books of the Borrower or is
insured; or (f) certain undismissed events of bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to the Borrower shall occur; or
(2) a Reportable Event or a material violation of ERISA shall have occurred with respect to any Plan or any
employment benefit plan (as such term is defined by ERISA) sponsored by the Borrower or to which the Borrower
is a participating employer, or (h) the Master Trust Indenture (with associated financing statements), after delivery
thereof, shall for any reason, except to the extent permitted by the terms thereof, cease to create a valid and perfected
security interest of the priority set forth therein in any of the collateral purported to be covered thereby; or (i) the
Borrower shall default in the payment when due, after giving effect to any grace period, of any present or future
indebtedness.
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In the event of the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement, and at any time
during the continuance of such event, the Bank may declare all amounts under the Reimbursement Agreement to be
immediately due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest, or further notice of any kind, all of which are
waived by the Borrower. Thereafter, the Bank may proceed to protect and enforce its rights, at law, in equity, or
otherwise, against the Borrower, and may proceed to liquidate and realize upon any of its security in accordance
with the rights of a secured party under the UCC, or any loan document, any agreement between the Borrower and
the Bank relating to the Reimbursement Agreement, and under any security granted to the Master Trustee pursuant
to the Master Trust Indenture.

If, at the time of the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement, there remains
any undisbursed portion of the Bank’s commitment under the Credit Facility, the Borrower, upon demand, shall pay
to the Bank to be held for application to drawings under the Credit Facility, a sum which equals the entire
commitment amount as of such date. Any amount so paid which has not been drawn on as of the expiry of the
Credit Facility shall be applied to the Borrower’s other liabilities to the Bank (as applicable), and the balance, if any,
shall be paid to the Borrower.

THE BORROWER

For a discussion of the Borrower, its governance, administration, facilities, and a summary of its financial
operations, see Appendix A to this Official Statement. See also the financial statements of the Borrower in
Appendix B to this Official Statement.

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds to (1) to refund the 2007 Tax-Exempt Bonds
and, (2) fund certain capital expenditures incurred or to be incurred in connection with the 2011 Project and (3)
finance the payment of a portion of certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. Set
forth below are the estimated sources of funds that will be available for such purposes and the estimated uses of
funds required for such purposes:

Sources of Funds

Par Amount of the Bonds $11,300,000
Available Funds held by Trustee of
the 2007 Tax-Exempt Bonds 161,000
Total Sources $11,461,000
Uses of Funds
Capital Expenditures — 2011 Project $ 8,935,000
Refunding of 2007 Tax-Exempt Bonds 2,316,000
Cost of Issuance” and Credit Enhancement 210.000
Total Uses of Funds $11,461,000

* This amount includes underwriter’s discount and other costs for legal, accounting, trustee, rating and printing
expenses and financial advisor and Agency fees relating to the issuance of the Bonds. Any such expenses in excess
of 2% of the proceeds of the Bonds will be paid by the Borrower from other funds.
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BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS

Purchase of the Bonds involves a degree of risk. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should give careful
consideration to the matters referred to in the following summary. Such summary should not be considered
exhaustive, but rather informational only.

No Obligation of the State or any Municipality or Political Subdivision

Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or of any municipality or political subdivision
of the State is pledged to the payment of the Bonds. The Bonds are special obligations of the Agency payable solely
from the sources described in this Official Statement.

Default by the Bank under the Credit Facility

The primary security for the Bonds is intended to be an irrevocable, transferable, direct-pay letter of credit,
which is a general unsecured obligation of the Bank and not guaranteed or secured by any governmental agency. It
is possible however, in the event of the insolvency of the Bank or the occurrence of some other event precluding the
Bank from honoring its obligation to male payment as stated in the Credit Facility, that the financial resources of the
Borrower and any future Member of the Obligated Group will be the secondary sources of payment on the Bonds.
There can be no assurance that the financial resources of the Borrower and any future Member of the Obligated
Group, even though obligated under the Loan Agreement to pay, would be sufficient to pay the principal and
premium, if any, and interest on and purchase price of the Bonds. There can be no assurance that the Borrower will
be able to replace the Credit Facility and provide an Alternate Credit Facility or any other credit support for the
Bonds in the event of a default by the Bank or for any other reason.

There can be no assurance that the credit rating of the Bank will continue at its current level. A decline in
the credit rating of the Bank could result in a decline in any rating that may be assigned to the Bonds from time to
time which could in turn affect the market price for, rates, or marketability of the Bonds. For information
concerning the Bank, see Appendix C hereto.

Source of Payment of the Bonds

The Bonds are payable from drawings under the Credit Facility and from payments to be made by the
Borrower under their Obligations and Loan Agreement. While the future ability of the Borrower to meet its
obligations under the Loan Agreement is based upon assumptions and business judgments that the Borrower
believes are reasonable and appropriate, they are subject to conditions which may change in the future to an extent
that cannot be determined at this time. Thus, no assurance can be given that revenues will be realized by the
Borrower in amounts sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

The earnings and revenue of the Borrower are subject to, among other things, demand for the services
offered by the Borrower, the ability of the Borrower to continue to provide such services, competition, rates, costs,
management and staff personnel and future economics and other developments, all of which are unpredictable and
which may affect revenues and the payment of principal and interest on the Bonds.

The Borrower expects that it will experience increases in operating costs due to inflation and other factors.
There is no assurance that cost increases will be matched by increased rates and charges in amounts sufficient to
generate an excess of revenues over expenses at the levels experienced by the Borrower. As a result of such
uncertain factors, there can be no assurance that the Borrower will realize revenues sufficient to make the Loan
Repayments.

In connection with the issuance of Obligation No. 7, the Borrower shall pledge and grant a security interest
in the Investment Account pursuant to the terms of the Pledge Agreement. Such pledge is not expected to be
available to the payment of the Bonds. Such pledge of the Investment Account may adversely affect the Borrower’s
ability to make Loan Repayments. Further, the failure of the Borrower to comply with its obligations relating to
Obligation No. 7 may result in an event of default under the Reimbursement Agreement, causing the Bonds to be
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subject to mandatory tender at a price equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof (without
premium), plus accrued interest.

Mandatory Tender/Redemption

The Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Expiration Date. No assurance can be given
that the Bank will renew the Credit Facility or that the Borrower will be able to deliver a Substitute or an Alternate
Credit Facility that complies with the provisions of the Trust Agreement. Further, upon the occurrence of certain
events, including, but not limited to, (a) default by the Borrower of its obligations under the Bonds, Loan Agreement
or Reimbursement Agreement, and (b) damage to or condemnation of all or a part of the Project, the Bonds may be
subject to mandatory tender or mandatory redemption in whole or in part at a price equal to one hundred (100%) of
the principal amount thereof (without premium), plus accrued interest. See “THE BANK AND THE CREDIT
FACILITY — The Reimbursement Agreement,” “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — Redemption of Bonds —
Extraordinary Optional Redemption,” and “— Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption” and “DESCRIPTION OF
THE BONDS — Mandatory Tender of Bonds upon Expiration of the Credit Facility.”

Enforcement of Bondholder Remedies; Bankruptcy

The Bond Trustee’s right to enforce payment under the Loan Agreement and Obligation No. 5 under the
Master Trust Indenture may be limited by bankruptcy proceedings and equity principles and may be subject to
judicial discretion and delay. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds
will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by any of the
foregoing.

Enforcement of remedies provided in the Trust Agreement with respect to payments to be made by the
Bank under the Credit Facility may be limited by insolvency, bankruptcy or other laws relating to creditors’ rights
generally. The security provided by the Credit Facility for payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, or
the purchase price of the Bonds, may be impaired in the event of a deterioration of the financial condition of the
Bank, as the Credit Facility represents a general, unsecured claim against the Bank.

Actions of Trustee

Performance by the Bank of its obligations under the Credit Facility is subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions by the Bond Trustee, as set forth in the Credit Facility. Bondholders are thus dependent upon the Bond
Trustee acting to satisfy such conditions before they will receive the benefit of the Credit Facility. Furthermore, the
question of whether the Bond Trustee has properly satisfied such conditions is a question of fact which, if disputed,
could delay or defeat the Bond Trustee’s rights of enforcement of the Credit Facility supporting the Bonds.

Covenant to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status of the Bonds

The Borrower is a not for profit corporation, exempt from federal income taxation as an organization
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. As such, the Borrower is subject to federal and state laws and
regulations concerning its organization and operations. The tax-exempt status of the Bonds is based on the
continued compliance by the Agency and the Borrower with certain covenants contained in the Trust Agreement, the
Loan Agreement and certain other documents executed by the Agency and the Borrower. These covenants relate
generally to restrictions on use of facilities financed with proceeds of the Bonds, arbitrage limitations, rebate of
certain excess investment earnings to the federal government, restrictions on the amount of issuance costs financed
with the proceeds of the Bonds, and the Borrower maintaining its status as a 501(c)(3) organization. Failure to
comply with such covenants could cause interest on the Bonds to become subject to federal income taxation
retroactive to the date of issuance of Bonds.

Bond Examinations
The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has recently indicated that more resources will be invested in

audits of tax-exempt bonds in the charitable organization sector with specific review of private use. In addition, the
IRS has sent several hundred post-issnance compliance questionnaires to non-profit corporations that have borrowed
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on a tax-exempt basis regarding their post-issuance compliance with various requirements for maintaining the
federal tax exemption of interest on bonds issued for their benefit. The questionnaire included, among other things,
questions relating to record retention, qualified use of bond-financed property, yield restriction and rebate
requirements, and debt management policies.

The IRS has also added a new schedule to IRS Form 990, the form of tax return for 501(c)(3)
organizations. This new schedule requests detailed information related to all outstanding bond issues of nonprofit
hospitals, including information regarding operating, management and research contracts as well as private use
compliance.

Although management of the Borrower believes that its expenditure and investment of bond proceeds, use
of property financed with tax-exempt debt and record retention practices have complied and will comply with all
applicable laws and regulations, there can be no assurance that the issuance of a questionnaire will not lead to an
IRS review that could adversely affect the market value of the Bonds or of other outstanding tax-exempt
indebtedness of the Obligated Group. Additionally, the Bonds or other tax-exempt obligations issued for the benefit
of the Borrower may be, from time to time, subject to examinations by the IRS. The Borrower believes that the
Bonds and other tax-exempt obligations issued for the benefit of the Borrower properly comply with the tax laws.
There is no assurance that any IRS examination of the Bonds will not adversely affect the market value of the
Bonds. See “TAX EXEMPTION” below.

Impact of Recent Economic Recession and Disruption of Credit Markets

The disruption of the credit and financial markets in the last several years has led to volatility in the
securities markets, significant losses in investment portfolios, increased business failures and consumer and business
bankruptcies, and is a major cause of the recent economic recession. As a direct consequence, the financial condition
of the Borrower and its operating results has been materially adversely affected.

In response to that disruption, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the
“Financial Reform Act™) was enacted and approved by the President on July 21, 2010. The Financial Reform Act
includes broad changes to the existing financial regulatory structure, including the creation of new federal agencies
to identify and respond to risks to the financial stability of the United States. Additional legislation is pending or
under active consideration by Congress and regulatory action is being considered by various Federal agencies and
the Federal Reserve Board and foreign governments, which are intended to increase the regulation of domestic and
global credit markets. The effects of the Financial Reform Act and of these legislative, regulatory and other
governmental actions, if implemented, are unclear.

The health care sector has been materially adversely affected by these developments. The consequences of
these developments have generally included realized and unrealized investment portfolio losses, reduced investment
income, limitations on access to the credit markets, difficulties in extending existing or obtaining new liquidity
facilities, and increased borrowing costs.

The current economic climate has adversely affected the health care sector generally. Patient service
revenues and inpatient volumes have not increased as historic trends would otherwise indicate. Until recently,
unemployment rates were increasing nationally, which has resulted in increases in self-pay admissions, increased
levels of bad debt and uncompensated care, and reduced availability and affordability of health insurance. The
economic climate is also increasing stresses on state budgets, potentially resulting in reductions in Medicaid
payment rates or Medicaid eligibility standards, and delays of payment of amounts due under Medicaid and other
state or local payment programs.

Health Care Reform

In March, 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “Health Care Reform Act”) was
enacted and approved by the President.

Some of the provisions of the Health Care Reform Act took effect immediately, while others will take
effect or be phased in over time, ranging from a few months following approval to ten years. Because of the
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complexity of the Health Care Reform Act generally, additional legislation is likely to be considered and enacted
over time. The Health Care Reform Act will also require the promulgation of substantial regulations with significant
effects on the health care industry and third-party payors. In response, third-party payors and suppliers and vendors
of goods and services to health care providers are expected to impose new and additional contractual terms and
conditions. Thus, the health care industry will be subject to significant new statutory and regulatory requirements
and contractual terms and conditions, and consequently subject to structural and operational changes and challenges,
for a substantial period of time. The Health Care Reform Act also imposes several additional operational
requirements on hospitals that will result in a loss of tax exemption if not satisfied. One such requirement is that, in
order to maintain its status as a “charitable organization,” hospitals must meet a “community benefit” standard.
Hospitals will not be treated as 501(c)(3) organizations unless they meet requirements relating to community health
needs assessments, a financial assistance policy, limits on charges, billing and collection and information reporting
requirements.

In May 2011, Vermont bill H.202 was enacted, which enactment has led to the creation of Green Mountain
Care, a public/private, single-payer exchange system designed to provide universal health care coverage to Vermont
residents and to create an electronic system of medical records. It is uncertain what the impact of such legislation
will be on the Borrower.

Vermont State Hospital

In connection with the closing of the Vermont State Hospital due to damage from Tropical Storm Irene, the
Borrower accepted the transfer of certain of its patients on an emergency basis from Vermont State Hospital. The
Borrower has entered into a contract with the State to provide a limited number of acute care beds for such
transferred patients. Certain security enhancements and other upgrades to the Borrower’s facilities will be required
in connection with such transferred patients. It is uncertain what the impact of this development will be on the
Borrower.

Other Risk Factors

In the future, the following factors, among others, may adversely affect the operations of the Borrower to
an extent that cannot be determined at this time:

1) Employee strikes, labor shortages and other adverse labor actions that could result in a substantial
reduction in revenues without corresponding decreases in costs.

2) Increased costs and decreased availability of liability insurance.

3) Cost and availability of energy.

) High interest rates, which could strain cash flow or prevent borrowing for needed capital
expenditures.
) An increase in the costs of health care benefits, retirement plans, or other benefit packages offered

by the Borrower to their employees.
6) Litigation.

THE BONDS ARE BEING OFFERED ON THE BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL STRENGTH OF THE BANK
AND NOT ON THE FINANCIAL STRENGTH OF THE BORROWER OR OTHER SECURITY.

TAX EXEMPTION
In the opinion of Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel, under current law and
assuming compliance by the Borrower and the Agency with certain requirements of the Code and covenants of the

Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement regarding the use, expenditure and investment of proceeds of the Bonds
and the timely payment of certain investment earnings to the U.S. Treasury, if required, interest on the Bonds is not
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includable in the gross income of the owners of the Bonds for purposes of federal income taxation. Failure by the
Borrower or the Agency to comply with the requirements of the Code and such covenants may cause interest on the
Bonds to become included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their date of issuance. The
covenant of the Agency described above does not require the Agency to make any financial contribution for which it
does not receive funds from the Borrower. Such opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the exclusion from gross
income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes may not be relied upon to the extent that such
exclusion is adversely affected as a result of any action taken or not taken in reliance upon the opinion or advice of
counsel other than Bond Counsel.

Bond Counsel’s opinion relies on certain representations made by the Borrower with respect to certain
material facts within the knowledge of the Borrower which Bond Counsel has not verified and upon the opinion of
McKee, Giuliani & Cleveland, P.C., Montpelier, Vermont, counsel to the Borrower, that the Borrower is an
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or corresponding provisions of prior law and that, to the best
of such counsel’s knowledge, the Borrower has done nothing to impair such status and that the use of property
financed with the proceeds of the Bonds does not constitute an unrelated trade or business under Section 513(a) of
the Code. The tax exemption of interest on the Bonds is dependent upon, among other things, the Borrower’s status
as a “Section 501(c)(3) organization™ and, therefore, the conclusion of Bond Counsel that such interest is excludable
from gross income for federal income tax purposes is dependent, in part, upon such opinion of McKee, Giuliani &
Cleveland, P.C.

The Act provides that the bonds of the Agency and the income therefrom shall at all times be exempt from
taxation in the State of Vermont, except for transfer and estate taxes.

Interest on the Bonds will not be an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal individual or
corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax consequences, upon
which Sidley Austin LLP renders no opinion, as a result of ownership of such Bonds or the inclusion in certain
computations (including, without limitation, those related to the corporate alternative minimum tax) of interest that
is excluded from gross income. Interest on the Bonds owned by a corporation will be included in the calculation of
the corporation’s federal alternative minimum tax liability.

Ownership of tax-exempt obligations may result in collateral tax consequences to certain taxpayers,
including without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, certain foreign
corporations doing business in the United States, certain S corporations with excess passive income, individual
recipients of Social Security or railroad retirement benefits, taxpayers eligible for the earned income tax credit and
taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt
obligations. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the applicability of any such
collateral consequences.

Backup Withholding

Interest paid on tax-exempt obligations will be subject to information reporting in a manner similar to
interest paid on taxable obligations. Although such reporting requirement does not, in and of itself, affect the
excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, such reporting
requirement causes the payment of interest on the Bonds to be subject to backup withholding if such interest is paid
to beneficial owners who (a) are not “exempt recipients,” and (b) either fail to provide certain identifying
information (such as the beneficial owner’s taxpayer identification number) in the required manner or have been
identified by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS™) as having failed to report all interest and dividends required
to be shown on their income tax returns. Generally, individuals are not exempt recipients, whereas corporations and
certain other entities generally are exempt recipients. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a
payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial owner’s federal
income tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the IRS.

Future Tax Developments

Future or pending legislative proposals, if enacted, regulations, rulings or court decisions may cause
interest on the Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to State or local income
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taxation, or may otherwise prevent beneficial owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such
interest. Legislation or regulatory actions and future or pending proposals may also affect the economic value of
the federal or state tax exemption or the market value of the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should
consult their tax advisors regarding any future, pending or proposed federal or State tax legislation, regulations,
rulings or litigation as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.

For example, based on a proposal by the President, the Senate Majority Leader introduced a bill, S. 1549
(the “Proposed Legislation™), which, if enacted, would subject interest on bonds that is otherwise excludable from
gross income for federal income tax purposes, including interest on the Bonds, to a tax payable by certain
bondholders that are individuals, estates or trusts with adjusted gross income in excess of thresholds specified in the
Proposed Legislation in tax years beginning after December 31, 2012. The Proposed Legislation would also provide
special rules for such bondholders that are also subject to the alternative minimum tax. It is unclear if the Proposed
Legislation will be enacted, whether in its current or an amended form, or if other legislation that would subject
interest on the Bonds to a tax or cause interest on the Bonds to be included in the computation of a tax, will be
introduced or enacted. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors as to the effect of the Proposed
Legislation, if enacted, in its current form or as it may be amended, or such other legislation on their individual
situations.

LEGALITY OF BONDS FOR INVESTMENT

The Act provides that the bonds of the Agency are securities in which all public officers and bodies of the
State and all municipalities and municipal subdivisions, all insurance companies and associations, all savings banks
and savings institutions, including savings and loan associations, administrators, guardians, executors, trustees,
committees and other fiduciaries in the State may properly and legally invest funds in their control.

STATE NOT LIABLE ON BONDS

The State is not liable for the payment of the principal or purchase price of or premium, if any, or interest
on the Bonds, or for the performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be
undertaken by the Agency, and neither the Bonds nor any of the Agency’s agreements or obligations shall be
construed to constitute an indebtedness of the State within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision
whatsoever, nor shall the Bonds directly or indirectly or contingently obligate the State or any municipality or
political subdivision thereof to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any
appropriation for their payment.

COVENANT BY THE STATE

Under the Act, the State does pledge to and agree with the holders of the Bonds that the State will not limit
or alter the rights vested in the Agency until the Bonds, together with interest thereon, with interest on any unpaid
installment of interest, and all costs and expenses incurred by the Agency in connection with the facilities or in
connection with any action or proceedings by or on behalf of the bondholders, are fully met and discharged.

RATING

A rating has been requested from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service, a division of Standard & Poor’s
Financial Services LLC (“S & P”) for the Bonds. It is expected that, when issued by S & P, the rating for the Bonds
will be “AA-/A-1+,” based on the Credit Facility to be issued by the Bank as described herein. A rating, when
issued, reflects only an opinion of S & P and is not a recommendation to buy or sell the Bonds. Any explanation of
the significance of such rating may only be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same.

Generally, a rating agency bases its ratings on the information and materials furnished it and on
investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agency. There is no assurance that a particular rating will
apply for any given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the
agency originally establishing the rating, circumstances so warrant. The Underwriter has undertaken no
responsibility either to bring to the attention of the holders of the Bonds any proposed revision or withdrawal of the
rating of the Bonds or to oppose any such proposed revision or withdrawal. Any downward revision or withdrawal
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of such rating could have an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the Bonds. Such rating should
not be taken as a recommendation to buy or hold the Bonds.

NO LITIGATION

There is not now pending any litigation against the Agency restraining or enjoining the issuance or delivery
of the Bonds or questioning or affecting the validity of the Bonds or the proceedings and authority under which they
are to be issued. Neither the creation, organization or existence, nor the title of the present members or other
officers of the Agency to their respective offices, is being contested. There is no litigation pending against the
Agency which in any manner questions the right of the Agency to make the loan to the Borrower contemplated by
the Loan Agreement.

The Borrower is not aware of any litigation pending or threatened, to which the Borrower is a party,
wherein any unfavorable decision would adversely affect the ability of the Borrower to enter into the Loan
Agreement, issue its Obligation Nos. 5 and 6 or carry out its obligations thereunder.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to the approval of
legality by Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York. Copies of such opinion will be available at the time of
delivery of the Bonds. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Agency by its counsel, Deppman & Foley,
P.C., Middlebury, Vermont, for the Bank by its counsel, Murphy Sullivan Kronk; for the Borrower by its counsel,
McKee, Giuliani & Cleveland, P.C., Montpelier, Vermont; and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Burak Anderson
& Melloni, PLC, Burlington, Vermont.

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

The financial statements of the Borrower for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31,
2009 are included in Appendix B to this Official Statement. The financial statements have been audited by Berry,
Dunn, McNeil & Parker, LLC, independent certified public accountants, to the extent and for the periods indicated
in their reports, which appear in Appendix B.

FINANCIAL ADVISORS

Public Financial Management, Inc., Boston, Massachusetts, served as financial advisor to the Agency in
this transaction, and Bittel Financial Advisors, LLC, Swanzey, New Hampshire, served as financial advisor to the
Borrower.

UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Bond Purchase Agreement described below, the Agency has
agreed to sell to the Underwriter, and the Underwriter has agreed to purchase from the Agency, the Bonds. The
Underwriter is an affiliate of TD Bank, N.A., the provider of the initial Credit Facility.

The Underwriter will agree to purchase the Bonds from the Agency pursuant to a bond purchase agreement
by and among the Agency, the Borrower and the Underwriter at a purchase price equal to the par amount of the
Bonds, less an underwriter’s discount of $40,000. The Underwriter will purchase all Bonds if any are purchased.
The Underwriter initially intends to offer the Bonds to the public at the prices shown on the cover page.

The Borrower has agreed to indemnify the Underwriter and the Agency with respect to certain information
contained in this Official Statement.
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REMARKETING AGENT
The Remarketing Agent is Paid by the Borrower

The Remarketing Agent’s responsibilities include determining the interest rate from time to time and
remarketing any tendered Bonds (subject, in each case, to the terms of the Trust Agreement and the Remarketing
Agreement), all as further described in this Official Statement. The Remarketing Agent is appointed by the Agency and
the Borrower and is paid by the Borrower for its services. As a result, the interests of the Remarketing Agent may differ
from those of existing holders and potential purchasers of the Bonds.

The Remarketing Agent Routinely Purchases Bonds for its Own Account

The Remarketing Agent acts as remarketing agent for a variety of variable rate demand obligations and, in its
sole discretion, routinely purchases such obligations for its own account. The Remarketing Agent is permitted, but not
obligated, to purchase tendered Bonds for its own account and, in its sole discretion, may routinely acquire such tendered
Bonds in order to achieve a successful remarketing of the Bonds (i.e., because there otherwise are not enough buyers to
purchase the Bonds) or for other reasons. However, the Remarketing Agent is not obligated to purchase Bonds, and may
cease doing so at any time without notice. The Remarketing Agent may also make a market in the Bonds by routinely
purchasing and selling Bonds other than in connection with an optional or mandatory tender and remarketing. Such
purchases and sales may be at or below par. However, the Remarketing Agent is not required to make a market in the
Bonds. The Remarketing Agent may also sell any Bonds it has purchased to one or more affiliated investment vehicles
for collective ownership or enter into derivative arrangements with affiliates or others in order to reduce its exposure to
the Bonds. The purchase of Bonds by the Remarketing Agent may create the appearance that there is greater third party
demand for the Bonds in the market than is actually the case. The practices described above also may result in fewer
Bonds being tendered in a remarketing.

Bonds May be Offered at Different Prices on Any Date Including an Interest Rate Determination Date

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement and the Remarketing Agreement, the Remarketing Agent is required to
determine the applicable rate of interest that, in its judgment, is the lowest rate that would permit the sale of the Bonds
bearing interest at the applicable interest rate at par plus accrued interest, if any, on and as of the applicable interest rate
determination date. The interest rate will reflect, among other factors, the level of market demand for the Bonds
(including whether the Remarketing Agent is willing to purchase Bonds for its own account). There may or may not be
Bonds tendered and remarketed on an interest rate determination date, the Remarketing Agent may or may not be able to
remarket any Bonds tendered for purchase on such date at par and the Remarketing Agent may sell Bonds at varying
prices to different investors on such date or any other date. The Remarketing Agent is not obligated to advise purchasers
in a remarketing if it does not have third party buyers for all of the Bonds at the remarketing price. In the event the
Remarketing Agent owns any Bonds for its own account, it may, in its sole discretion in a secondary market transaction
outside the tender process, offer such Bonds on any date, including the interest rate determination date, at a discount to
par to some investors.

The Ability to Sell the Bonds Other Than Through the Tender Process May Be Limited

The Remarketing Agent may buy and sell Bonds other than through the tender process. However, it is not
obligated to do so and may cease doing so at any time without notice and may require holders that wish to tender their
Bonds to do so through the Tender Agent with appropriate notice. Thus, investors who purchase the Bonds, whether in a
remarketing or otherwise, should not assume that they will be able to sell their Bonds other than by tendering the Bonds
in accordance with the tender process.

The Remarketing Agent May Resign, Without a Successor Being Named

The Remarketing Agent may resign, upon 45 days’ prior written notice, without a successor having been
named.
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The Initial Remarketing Agent is an Affiliate of the Bank

The initial remarketing agent is an affiliate of the Bank, the provider of the initial Credit Facility. Each of
the Remarketing Agent and the Bank is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
(“TD”). See Appendix C for more information about the Bank and TD.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
The Agency

No financial or operating data concerning the Agency is material to any decision to purchase, hold or sell
the Bonds. Consequently, the Agency has not and will not provide any such information. The Borrower has
undertaken all responsibility for any continuing disclosure to owners of the Bonds as described below, and the
Agency shall not have any liability to the owners or any other person with respect to such disclosure.

The Borrower

In the Loan Agreement, the Borrower has undertaken, for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds,
to file with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) via its Electronic Municipal Market Access
system:

(a) within 120 days after the end of each of its fiscal years, beginning after its 2011 fiscal year, core
financial information for the prior fiscal year, including (i) the Borrower’s audited financial statements, prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time, and (ii) material financial
information and operating data conceming the Corporation of the type generally found in Appendix A;

(b) in a timely manner, not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence thereof, notice of any of
the following events with respect to the Bonds:

1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2) non-payment related defaults, if material;

3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

%) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or
determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the
Bonds;

) modifications to rights of security holders, if material;
8 bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
) defeasances;

(10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
an rating changes;

12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Borrower or any other
Member of the Obligated Group;
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(13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Borrower or
any other Member of the Obligated Group or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Borrower or any
other Member of the Obligated Group, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other
than pursuant to its terms, if material; and

(14) the appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if
material.

(c) in a timely manner, to the MSRB, notice of a failure of the Borrower to provide required annual
financial information described in (a) above on or before the date specified.

Unless otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB
shall be provided to the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) system, the current Internet address
of which is www.emma.msrb.org. All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided
in an electronic format prescribed by the MSRB (currently, portable document format (pdf), which must be word-
searchable except for non-textual elements) and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by
the MSRB.

No beneficial owner may institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity (“Proceeding”) for the
enforcement of the disclosure covenant described above (the “Disclosure Covenant”) or for any remedy for breach
thereof, unless such owner shall have filed with the Borrower written notice of and request to cure such breach, and
the Borrower shall have refused to comply within a reasonable time. All Proceedings shall be for the equal benefit
of all beneficial owners of the outstanding Bonds benefited by the same or a substantially similar covenant, and no
remedy shall be sought or granted other than specific performance of the Disclosure Covenant at issue.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no challenge to the adequacy of the information provided in accordance with the
filings described above may be prosecuted by any beneficial owner except in compliance with the remedial and
enforcement provisions of the Loan Agreement.

Any amendment to the Disclosure Covenant may only take effect if:

) the amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a
change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the Borrower, or type of
business conducted; the Disclosure Covenant, as amended, would have complied with the requirements of Rule
15¢2-12 (the “Rule™) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”™) at the time of issuance of the Bonds,
after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and
the amendment does not materially impair the interests of beneficial owners, as determined by parties unaffiliated
with the Borrower or the Agency; or

3] all or any part of the Rule, as interpreted by the staff of the SEC at the date of the
Closing, ceases to be in effect for any reason, and the Borrower elects that the Disclosure Covenant shall be deemed
amended accordingly.

In the case of any amendment, the annual financial information containing the amended operating data or
financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in
the type of operating data or financial information being provided.

Any assertion of beneficial ownership must be filed, with full documentary support, as part of the written
request for enforcement of the Disclosure Covenant.

The undertaking described above will terminate upon payment, or provision having been made for payment
in a manner consistent with Rule 15¢2-12, in full of the principal of and interest on all of the Bonds.

Failure by the Borrower to comply with the Disclosure Covenant must be reported in accordance with Rule
15¢2-12 and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the
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purchase or sale of the Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, any such failure may adversely affect the
transferability and liquidity of the Bonds and their market price.

In connection with the issuance of its variable rate demand 2007 Taxable Bonds and the remarketing of the
2007 Taxable Bonds, the Borrower entered into a continuing disclosure undertaking to provide copies its annual
financial statements and certain other information. As such bonds were not “municipal securities,” the Borrower
was not able to submit any continuing disclosure to the MSRB through EMMA. The Borrower did provide to the
remarketing agent of such 2007 Taxable Bonds the information that the remarketing agent requested from the
Borrower in connection with the remarketing of such 2007 Taxable Bonds and to any bondholder of such 2007
Taxable Bonds upon request.

OTHER MATTERS

The foregoing summaries and explanations do not purport to be comprehensive and are expressly made
subject to the exact provisions of documents referred to herein. So far as any statements are made in this Official
Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, they are intended merely as such and not
as representations of fact.

The agreement of the Agency with the holders of the Bonds is fully set forth in the Trust Agreement, and
this Official Statement is not to be construed as constituting an agreement with the purchasers of the Bonds. Except
as set forth above under the heading “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE,” the Borrower has not committed to provide
information on an ongoing basis conceming the Borrower.

The Borrower has reviewed the information contained herein that relates to it, its plan of financing and the
Project, and has approved all such information for use in this Official Statement.

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement have been duly authorized by the Agency.

This Official Statement is in a form “Deemed Final” by the Agency for the purpose of Securities and
Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12.

VERMONT EDUCATIONAL AND HEALTH BUILDINGS
FINANCING AGENCY

By: _ /s/ Robert Giroux
Executive Director

Approved:

THE BRATTLEBORO RETREAT

By:__/s/ JohnE. Blaha
Senior Vice President
& Chief Financial Officer
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APPENDIX A
THE BRATTLEBORO RETREAT

Introduction

The Brattleboro Retreat (referred to herein as “Brattleboro Retreat” or the “Borrower”), founded in 1834, is
a private, not-for-profit, regional specialty mental health and addictions treatment center, providing a full range of
diagnostic, therapeutic and rehabilitation services for individuals of all ages and their families. Nationally
recognized for its treatment in behavioral healthcare, Brattleboro Retreat offers a high quality, individualized,
comprehensive continuum of care including inpatient, partial hospitalization, child and adolescent residential, and
outpatient treatment.

In addition to its hospital services for children, adolescents and adults, Brattleboro Retreat offers:

. The Anna Marsh Behavioral Care Outpatient Clinic

. The Meadows Educational Center, an onsite, Vermont Department of Education accredited K-12
School

. BRIDGES-clinical educational alternative for at-risk Adolescents

. Starting Now, an intensive Outpatient day and evening addictions treatment program for Adults

0 Abigail Rockwell Residential Center for Children ages 6-13

. Residential care for Adolescents

. PrimariLink, a Managed Service Organization providing mental health care utilization
management services

. An extensive Continuing Education Program for mental health professionals

. The Mulberry Bush Early Leamning Center

Brattleboro Retreat treats a comprehensive spectrum of disorders, including:

. Eating Disorders

. Mood Disorders

e Conduct Disorders

. Obsessive - Compulsive Disorders
. Severe Depression

. Anxiety Disorders

. Post Traumatic Stress Disorders

. Personality Disorders

. Addictions/Chemical Dependency

A member of the Ivy League Hospitals network, Brattleboro Retreat is accredited by the Joint Commission.
Brattleboro Retreat offers among the highest ratios of clinical staff to patients, one of the region’s most extensive
staff of psychiatric professionals as well as a wide range of contemporary treatment modalities. As of September
2011, 424 of its 555 employees work under a collective bargaining agreement.

Brattleboro Retreat serves as a practicum site for numerous college and university programs, including
Smith College School of Social Work, the Universities of Massachusetts and Connecticut, and Antioch New
England.

Governance and Administration

The following are the current members of the Board of Trustees:

A-1



Board of Trustees

Peter Sherlock Bette Abrams, M.Ed.

President, Sherlock Investment Chair, Development Committee
Board Chair

Mary Faucher, Esq. William Knorr, MD

Board Member ex officio, (non-voting)

Jeffrey J. Morse Tammy Richards, AVA, CMAP
Treasurer & Chair of Finance Committee Board Member

Michael Sarsynski, MBA, CFP Robert E. Simpson, DSW, MPH
Board Member, Finance & Development Committees ex-officio (voting)

Tonia Wheeler Patricia O’Donnell

Board Member Board Member

There is currently one opening on the Board.

Dr. Robert E. Simpson, Jr., MPH, DSW — President and Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Rob Simpson was named President and Chief Executive Officer of the Brattleboro Retreat in 2006. He
is a graduate of Amherst College, Simmons College (MSW), Harvard University (MPH) and the University of Utah
where he earned a doctorate in Social Work.

Prior to joining Brattleboro Retreat, Dr. Simpson served as CEO of Arbour Hospital, a member of the
Universal Health Services, Inc., in Boston. In earlier executive management positions, he served as Chief Operating
Officer of Behavioral Healthcare and Sr. Vice President of Government Relations at the Sisters of Providence
Health System, and Vice President of Behavioral Health and Cancer Services at Baystate Health System in
Springfield, Massachusetts.

Dr. Vareen O’Keefe-Domaleski, MSN, Ed.D, CNAA, BC - Senior Vice President Patient Care & Chief Nursing
Officer

Dr. Vareen O’Keefe-Domaleski joined the Brattleboro Retreat in August 2007. Before joining the
Brattleboro, she served as Vice President and Chief Nursing officer at Sheppard Pratt Health System in Baltimore,
MD. She has also served as an adjunct faculty member at both the University of New Hampshire and at Dartmouth
College.

Dr. O’Keefe-Domaleski received her nursing degree from Massachusetts General Hospital, her bachelor of
science in Nursing from Worcester State College, her master's degree in Administration of Nursing Services from
the University of Lowell and her doctorate in Education from George Washington University.

John E. Blaha, MBA - Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

John E. Blaha joined the Brattieboro Retreat in 2004 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and was
named Senior Vice President of Finance & Chief Financial Officer in 2010. From 1998 to 2004, John served as the
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer for a Massachusetts based company that provides biomedical equipment
maintenance, repairs and consulting to healthcare organizations. Prior to that, he served as Chief Financial Officer
for Behavioral Healthcare Systems in New Hampshire and Wisconsin.

John has a BBA in Accounting and an MBA in Healthcare Administration. He is also an advanced member
of the Healthcare Financial Management Association, a member of the American College of Healthcare Executives
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and a member of the Board of Directors for the Brattleboro Area Chamber of Commerce and the New England
Regional Healthcare Cooperative.

Peter Albert, LICSW - Senior Vice President Government Relations & Managed Service Organization

Peter Albert, LICSW, has been with the Brattleboro Retreat since 1978. He currently serves as Senior Vice
President Government Relations & Managed Service Organization. During the past thirty-two years he has held
multiple positions at the Brattleboro Retreat including Clinical Director of Adolescent Services, Director of Access
and Evaluation, Utilization Management and Administrator of Adult Services. Mr. Albert currently oversees
PrimariLink, the Retreat’s managed service organization.

Sharon Chaput, RN, CSHA - Director of Quality & Regulatory Services

Sharon Chaput, RN, CSHA, joined the Brattleboro Retreat in April 2008. She is a registered nurse and has
held positions as a nurse manager, program director, executive director, and most recently as the Director of
Regulatory and Accreditation Compliance for Providence Behavioral Health Hospital in Holyoke, MA.

Sharon has served on the advisory board for HCP and assisted in developing the national Certification for
Accreditation Health Professionals (CSHA) examination. She has also provided consultative services for
hospitals on Joint Commission survey readiness.

Frederick “Fritz” Engstrom, MD - Medical Director

Dr. Engstrom received his medical degree from the University of Rochester. He is board certified in
general psychiatry, and his expertise includes evaluating and treating people who require medication for problems
including depression, anxiety, bipolar disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Dr. Engstrom
is the author of the book Movie Clips for Creative Mental Health Education. Dr. Engstrom is a Distinguished Life
Fellow of the American Psychiatric Association.
Utilization and Payor Mix

Summary of Historic Utilization

Set forth below is a summary of the historic utilization of the Brattleboro Retreat for the past three years:

FY 2008 EY 2009 FY 2010
Inpatient Care
Discharges 2,109 2,373 2,939
Days of Care
Inpatient 21,643 22,849 27,814
Residential 12,114 11,748 11,565
Length of Stay 10.4 9.7 9.5
Qutpatient Care
Visits 15,879 16,551 16,142



Payor Mix

Set forth below is a summary of the source of patient revenues, as a percent of gross revenues, for the past
three fiscal years:

FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010
Medicare 17% 18% 17%
Medicaid 57 57 46
Blue Cross 8 7 13
Self-pay 10 9 1
Commercial 7 8 21
Managed Care 1 1 2

The audited financial statements of the Borrower for the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31,
2009 are set forth in APPENDIX B hereto.

Employees

Members of the Borrower’s nursing staff are represented by the United Nurses Allied Professionals Union.
The union contract expired in 2010. The parties entered into a Memorandum of Understanding to extend the term to
October 15, 2012 but allowed for the contract to be reopened following enactment of national health care reform.

Insurance

Commercial property insurance coverage is provided by Peerless Insurance through insurance brokers
Richard, Group and includes all buildings along with combined business income, personal property, equipment
breakdown, ordinance, pollutant clean up and removal, electronic data processing, commercial general liability,
employee benefits liability, commercial crime, business auto, and a commercial umbrella. Professional liability
insurance is provided by Medical Mutual of Maine.

Outstanding Indebtedness of the Brattleboro Retreat

The Brattleboro Retreat, as of fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, had long-term debt totaling
approximately $7.4 million. As of September 30, 2011, the Borrower had approximately $7.2 million of long-term
debt outstanding.

Liquidity and Investments

Brattleboro Retreat’s unrestricted cash and investments were at approximately $10.6 million at the end of
the 2010 fiscal year, a decline of approximately 9.8% from the 2007 fiscal year. The Borrower expects this figure to
increase to approximately $11.5 million as of the end of the 2011 fiscal year. The ratio of unrestricted cash and
investments-to-debt declined steadily from the 2007 to 2009 fiscal years due to increasing debt levels and declining
unrestricted cash and investment balances. In the 2010 fiscal year, this ratio recovered due to improved cash and
investments balances and increased from approximately 1.21x in the 2009 fiscal year to approximately 1.42x in the
2010 fiscal year.

Litigation

There is no litigation pending or known claims likely to be threatened against the Borrower which could be
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Borrower’s financial position.
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Historic Financial Performance

The following summary balance sheets of the Borrower as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,
the related summary statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010,
and the summary of changes in net assets for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 were derived from the
unaudited financial statements of the Borrower prepared by management. In the opinion of management, such
unaudited summary financial statements include all the adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments)
necessary for a fair presentation of the information shown therein.

From 2007 through 2009, as part of its 3-year strategic planning initiative, management of Brattleboro Retreat
focused on strengthening its financial operations by: improving its core care delivery model, implementing and training
staff in a system wide performance improvement process, restructuring its Admitting Department, providing staff with
more education and safety training, and re-establishing relations with the State of Vermont. A major focus also
centered on market perceptions of the Brattleboro Retreat, re-establishing its brand, improving customer service,
identifying and creating new services, and renovating/remodeling areas on its campus.

During the Fall of 2009, Brattleboro Retreat reached a point whereby its admissions and census improved and
profitability has remained consistent since then. In 2010, Brattleboro Retreat increased admissions by approximately
24% and inpatient census by 22% over 2009 levels. Through the first nine months of 2011, admissions and inpatient
census are approximately 6% and 5%, respectively, higher than at the same period in 2010. In 2009, Brattleboro
Retreat started two new services (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender (LGBT) inpatient program and Uniformed
Services Program (USP) for police, firefighters, active military personnel and veterans) and it plans to add an additional
service in 2012 (for Young Adults).

For the first half of 2010, Brattleboro Retreat was hesitant to permanently increase staffing on the units until it
was certain that the increase in admissions and census was going to continue. In 2011, as Brattleboro Retreat continued
its growth and in order to address patient and staff safety, it added approximately 45 full time staff. This is expected to
result in a lower operating margin in 2011.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Balance Sheets

September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010

(in $ thousands)

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash
Assets limited as to use, current portion
Accounts receivable, net of allowances
of $1,300 and $1,013, respectively
Supplies
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Assets limited as to use, net of current portion

Property and equipment, net

Cash surrender value of insurance policies
and annuity contracts

Other assets

LIABILITIES and NET ASSETS

Current Liabilities:
Bank overdrafts
Line of credit
Current portion of long term debt
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accrued salaries and related amounts
Due to third party payors
Current portion of deferred compensation obligation

Total Current Liabilities

Deferred Compensation
Long-term debt, including leases
Total Liabilities
Net Assets:
Unrestricted
Temporary Restricted
Total Net Assets
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2011 2010
$ 15 $ 68
131 170

6,105 5,993

125 125

262 261

6,638 6,617
11,705 10,354
8,007 7,768

613 669

135 146

$ 27,008 $ 25,554
$ 435 $ 407
213 558

218 210

872 1,305

3,001 2,010

485 750

32 67

5,256 5,307

152 152

6.986 7.193
12.394 12.652
14,660 12,849
44 53
14.704 12.902

$§ 27,098 $ 25,554



BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Statements of Operations
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 and 2010

(in $ thousands)
2011 2010
Unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support:
Net patient service revenue $ 34,324 $31,373
Grant revenue 188 139
Other revenues 1,695 1,203
Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support 36.216 32,715
Expenses:
Operating expenses 32,558 28,600
Depreciation and amortization 1,018 1,005
Provision for bad debts 1,068 841
Interest expense 139 130
Total expenses 34.783 30,576
Income from operations 1,433 2,139
Other income:
Investment income 269 269
Net realized gains (losses) on the sales of investments (30) 128
Total other income 239 397
Excess of revenues, gains, and other
support over expenses and losses 1,672 2,536
Change in net unrealized gains on investments 139 176
Net assets released from restriction for property and equipment 9 12
Increase in unrestricted net assets $ 1811 $ 2704
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011

Balances, December 31, 2010

Excess of revenues, gains, and other
support over expenses and losses

Change in net unrealized gains on investments

Net assets released from restriction
for property and equipment

Change in net assets

Balances, September 30, 2011

(in $ thousands)
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Temporarily
Unrestricted Restricted Total
$ 12.849 $ 53 $ 12902
1,663 - 1,673
139 - 139
9 (N -
1.811 9 1.802
$ 14660 3 44 $ 14,704




Investments and Indebtedness
For Year Ended December 31, 2010 and Nine Month Period Ending September 30, 2011

(in $ thousands)

09/30/11 12/31/10
Investments
Cash and short-term investments $ 1521 $ 828
Corporate bonds 5,075 5,598
U.S. Treasury securities and other government securities 5,240 4,098

$ 11,836 $ 10,524
Indebtedness
VEHBFA Series 2007A Variable Rate Demand Bond' $ 2315 $ 2,485
Variable Rate Taxable Bond® 4,835 4,835
Various Capital Leases 54 84

$ 7,204 $ 7,404
Less Current Portion 218 210
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $§ 6,986 $ 7,194

! Expected to be refunded with the proceeds of the Bonds.
2 Expected to be refinanced with a taxable loan contemporaneously with the issuance of the Bonds.
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APPENDIX B
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BORROWER
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009
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BERRY.DUNN.MCNEIL & PARKER

BIDIMIP

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
MANAGEMENTYT CONSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Trustees
Brattleboro Retreat

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Brattleboro Retreat (Retreat) as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, and the related statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the
years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Retreat's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Brattleboro Retreat as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

&M?, o MeAel ¥ Poiker

Portland, Maine
April 1, 2011
Registration No. 92-0000278

PORTLAND, ME - BANGOR, ME - MANCHESTER, NH
WWW . BDMP.COM



BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Balance Sheets

December 31, 2010 and 2009

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash
Assets limited as to use
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for uncollectible
accounts of $1,013,366 in 2010 and $750,854 in 2009
Supplies
Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use, net of current portion

Property and equipment, net
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies and

annuity contracts

Other assets

Total assets

010 200

$ 67,639 $§ 59,762
170,000 160,000
5993366 4,763,937
124,789 115,586
260.622 177.267
6,616,416 5,276,552
10,354,393 9,191,252
7,767,638 8,061,863
669,067 652,751
145,717 160.380

$25.553.231 $23.342.798

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Line of credit
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued salaries and related amounts
Due to third-party payors
Current portion of deferred compensation obligation
Total current liabilities
Deferred compensation obligation, excluding current portion
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 5 and 9)

Unrestricted net assets
Temporarily restricted net assets

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

010 2009
$ 406,511 $ 337,697
557,598 1,277,482
210,093 225,694
1,305,294 818,926
2,009,660 2,034,785
749,601 742,589
66,631 81.631
5305388 5,518,804
152,142 191,869
7.193.585 _7.403.697
12,651,115 13,114,370
12,849,453 10,184,457
52.663 43.971
12,902,116 _10.228.428
$25.553.231 $23.342.798




BRATTLEBORO RETREAT

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support
Net patient service revenue
Grant revenue
Other revenues
Net assets released from restrictions for operations
Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support

Expenses
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for bad debts
Interest expense
Total expenses

Income (loss) from operations
Other income
Investment income
Net realized gains (losses) on the sales of investments

Total other income

Excess (deficiency) of revenues, gains, and other support
over expenses and losses

Change in net unrealized gains on investments
Net assets released from restriction for property and equipment

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets

2010 009
$42,560,301 $35,931,725
169,332 290,876
1,800,463 1,708,435
28.349 -
44.558.445  37.931.036
39,711,000 37,597,733
1,338,892 1,314,590
1,141,434 716,891
159,964 187.604
42351290 39.816.818
2.207.155  (1.885.782)
367,676 421,829
157,537 (26.792)
525213 395037
2,732,368  (1,490,745)
(79,479) 75,551
12,107 -

$_2.664.996 $(1.415.194)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Statements of Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Temporarily
Unrestricted  Restricted Total
Balances, January 1, 2009 $11.599.651 $ - $11.599.651
Deficiency of revenues, gains, and other
support over expenses and losses (1,490,745) - (1,490,745)
Change in net unrealized gains on investments 75,551 - 75,551
Restricted contributions - 43,971 43.971
Change in net assets (1.415.194) 43,971 (1.371.223)
Balances, December 31, 2009 10.184.457 43971 10.228.428
Excess of revenues, gains, and other
support over expenses and losses 2,732,368 - 2,732,368
Change in net unrealized gains on investments (79,479) - (79,479)
Restricted contributions - 49,148 49,148
Net assets released from restrictions for operations - (28,349) (28,349)
Net assets released from restriction
for property and equipment 12,107 (12,107 -
Change in net assets 2,664.996 8.692 2,673,688
Balances, December 31, 2010 $12.849.453 $__ 52,663 $12.902.116

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile the change in net assets to net cash provided

2010

$ 2,673,688

2009

$ (1,371,223)

(used) by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 1,338,892 1,314,590
Provision for bad debts 1,141,434 716,891
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments (78,058) (48,759)
Restricted contributions (49,148) (43,971)
(Increase) decrease in
Accounts receivable (2,370,863) (76,035)
Supplies (9,203) (11,635)
Prepaid expenses (83,355) 52,863
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies and annuity
contracts (16,316) 10,911
Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 486,368 (685,978)
Accrued salaries and related amounts (25,125) 177,864
Due to third-party payors 7,012 (88,000)
Deferred compensation obligation (54727 (59.659)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 2.96' _ (112.141)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (1,030,004) (1,624,514)
Proceeds from sales of investments 12,108,819 13,373,470
Purchases of investments (13,203.902) (11.091.973)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (2,125.087) 656,983
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase (decrease) in bank overdraft 68,814 (189,845)
Payments on long-term debt (225,713) (233,501)
Net payments on line of credit (719,884) (164,018)
Restricted contributions 49.148 43971
Net cash used by financing activities (827.635) (543.393)
Net increase in cash 7,877 1,449
Cash, beginning of year 59,762 58313
Cash, end of year $ 67.639 $ 59.762
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 162,480 §$ 193,748

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Organization and Description of Business

Brattleboro Retreat (Retreat), a not-for-profit corporation, is principally a facility for the treatment of
psychiatric illness and drug and alcohol dependency. The Retreat also offers educational programs to
school-age children receiving rehabilitative care.

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding
balances. Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to earnings
and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual
accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts
are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt
securities are measured at fair value in the balance sheets. Investment income or loss (including
realized gains and losses on investments, interest, and dividends) is included in the excess
(deficiency) of revenues, gains, and other support over expenses and losses unless the income or
loss is restricted by donor or law. Unrealized gains and temporary unrealized losses on investments
are excluded from the excess (deficiency) of revenues, gains, and other support over expenses and
losses.

Supplies

Supplies are stated at the lower of cost (determined by the first-in, first-out method) or market.




BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use consist of assets held by a trustee under an indenture agreement and funds
set aside by the Board of Trustees (the Board) for capital improvements, over which the Board
retains control and may, at its discretion, use for other purposes such as short-term operating needs.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded at cost or, if contributed, at fair market value
determined at the date of donation. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of each
class of depreciable asset and is computed using the straight-line method. Equipment under capital
lease obligations is amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the lease term or the
estimated useful life of the equipment. Such amortization is included in depreciation and
amortization in the financial statements.

Bond Issuance Costs

The costs incurred to obtain long-term financing are being amortized over the life of the bonds using
the straight-line method. The costs are included in other assets. Accumulated amortization at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, was $51,331 and $36,668, respectively.

Net Assets

Funds used for operating purposes have been classified as and are a component of unrestricted net
assets in the accompanying balance sheets. Temporarily and permanently restricted net assets are
those whose use by the Retreat has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose.

There were no permanently restricted net assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Net Patient Service Revenue

The Retreat has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the Retreat at
amounts different from its established rates. Payment arrangements include prospectively
determined rates, discounted charges, and per diem payments. Net patient service revenue is
reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-party payors, and others for
services rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements
with third-party payors. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the
related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined.




BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Charity Care

The Retreat provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under its charity care policy without
charge or at amounts less than its established rates. Because the Retreat does not pursue collection
of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they are not reported as revenue.

Accounting for Impairment of L.ong-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed

The Retreat reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Long-lived assets to be
disposed are reported at the lower of carrying amounts or fair value, less cost to sell. The Retreat
evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of long-lived assets based on estimated cash
flows to be generated by each of such assets as compared to the original estimates used in measuring
such assets. To the extent impairment is identified, the Retreat would reduce the carrying value of
such assets. To date, the Retreat has not experienced any such impairments.

Donor-Restricted Gifts

Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets to the Retreat are reported at fair value at the
date the promise is received. The gifts are reported as either temporarily or permanently restricted
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a
donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is
accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and
reported in the statement of operations as net assets released from restrictions. Donor restricted
contributions whose restrictions are met in the same year as received are reflected as unrestricted
contributions in the accompanying financial statements.

Functional Expenses

The Retreat provides specialized health care services to residents within its geographic location.
Expenses related to providing these services were as follows for the years ended December 31:

2010 2009
Health care services $ 34,783,269 $ 32,544,971
General and administrative 7.568.021 7.271.847

$_42351.290 $_39.816.818
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Income Taxes

The Retreat is a not-for-profit corporation as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code (Code), and is exempt from federal income taxes on related income.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2009 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
year's presentation.

Subsequent Events

For purposes of the preparation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, the Retreat has considered transactions or events occurring through
April 1, 2011, which was the date the financial statements were issued.

Charity Care

The Retreat maintains records to identify and monitor the level of charity care it provides. These
records include the amount of charges foregone for services and supplies furnished under its charity
care policy, the estimated cost of those services and supplies, and equivalent service statistics. The

following information measures the level of charity care provided during the years ended December
31:

2010 2009
Charges foregone, based on established rates $_200.000 $__270.000
Estimated costs incurred to provide charity care $__89.000 $_ 138,000
Equivalent percentage of charity care services to all services 0.21 % 0.35 %

Net Patient Service Revenue

The Retreat has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the Retreat at
amounts different from its established rates. A summary of the payment arrangements with major
third-party payors follows:




BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Medicare

Inpatient services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively determined
rates based upon a patient classification system. Outpatient services rendered to Medicare
beneficiaries are paid at prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to an ambulatory
payment classification system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Amounts not
paid by Medicare beneficiaries are reimbursed through annual cost reports. As of December 31,
2010, final settlement has been made by Medicare for all years through 2008.

Medicaid

Services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid under prospectively determined rates
and fee schedules.

Revenue from the Medicare and Medicaid programs accounted for approximately 17% and 46%,
respectively, of the Retreat's patient revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010, and 16% and
49%, respectively, of the Retreat's patient revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. Laws and
regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely complex and subject to
interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will
change by a material amount in the near term. The 2010 and 2009 net patient service revenue
decreased approximately $131,000 and $1,600, respectively, due to retroactive adjustments in
excess of amounts previously estimated.

Other Payors

The Retreat has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance carriers.
The basis for payment to the Retreat under these agreements includes prospectively determined
daily rates and discounts from established rates.

Patient service revenue, contractual, and other allowances consisted of the following for the years
ended December 31:

2010 200
Gross patient service revenue $94.700.145 $78.091.700
Less Medicare and Medicaid allowances 36,491,894 30,344,627
Less other contractual allowances 15,448,468 11,545,170
Less charity care and other discounts 199.482 270,178

52,139.844 42.159.975

Net patient service revenue $42.560.301 $35931.725
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

4. Assets Limited as to Use

The composition of assets limited at to use,

including the current portion, at

December 31, 2010 and 2009, is set forth in the following table. Investments are stated at fair value.

Cash and short-term investments
Corporate bonds
U.S. Treasury securities and other government securities

5. Property and Equipment

A summary of property and equipment follows:

Land and land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Fixed equipment

Major moveable equipment

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction in progress

2010 2009
$ 827,640 $ 805,062
55908430 4,838,144
4,098.323 _3.708.046
$10.524,393 $_9.351,252

2010 2009
$ 1,604,787 $ 1,542,387
24,622,361 24,296,861
1,125993 1,110,471
5148667 _5.077.284
32,501,808 32,027,003
24901347  23.965.140
7,600,461 8,061,863
167,177 -
$_7.767.638 $_8.061.863

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, was $1,324,229 and

$1,299,928, respectively.

The Retreat leases certain equipment under capital leases that expire through 2012. Included in
property and equipment is $280,661 and $372,531 of cost and $204,976 and $169,107 of
accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, related to assets held

under capital lease arrangements.

During 2010 the Retreat began a project expected to total $250,000 for building renovations, of
which $167,177 has been incurred as of December 31, 2010. This project will be completed during

2011 and is being funded from operations.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following as of December 31:

2010 2009

Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing
Agency (VEHBFA), 2007 Series A, variable rate
demand revenue bonds (0.43% at December 31, 2010),
payable in varying amounts of principal and interest
through January 2022, principal payments range from

$170,000 in 2011 to $250,000 in 2022. $ 2,485,000 $ 2,645,000
The Brattleboro Retreat Variable Rate Demand Taxable
Bonds Series 2007 (0.34% at December 31, 2010),
payable in varying amounts of principal and interest
through January 2036, principal payments range from

$240,000 in 2023 to $470,000 in 2036. 4,835,000 4,835,000
Various capital leases, bearing interest at fixed rates
ranging from 6.68% to 9.91%, maturing through

October 2012; collateralized by equipment. 83.678 149,391

7,403,678 7,629,391

Less current portion 210,093 225.694

Long-term debt, excluding current portion $7.193.585 $_7.403.697

VEHBFA Demand Revenue Bonds (The Brattleboro Retreat Project) 2007 Series A in the amount
of $2,800,000 and the Brattleboro Retreat Demand Taxable Bonds 2007 Series in the amount of
$4,835,000 were issued in May 2007. Interest on the Bonds is based on available weekly rates as
determined by the remarketing agents based on prevailing market conditions, not to exceed 10% and
15% per annum, respectively. The Retreat may at any time exercise an option to convert to a fixed
rate. No conversion will be effective unless all Bonds have been remarketed and sold. The Retreat
may prepay certain of the Bonds according to the terms of the loan and trust agreements. The Bonds
are collateralized by the gross receipts and equipment of the Retreat and letter of credit agreements.
The Bonds were issued to refund the Series 1997-2 bonds and repay other existing debt.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

While interest on the Bonds accrues on a weekly variable rate, the Hospital is required to maintain
credit facilities in amounts not less than the principal amount of each outstanding Bond plus accrued
interest for 35 days at their respective maximum interest rates noted above. To comply with this
requirement, the Retreat has obtained two irrevocable direct pay letters of credit from TD Bank (the
Bank) in the amounts of $2,508,829 and $4,904,545, respectively. The letters of credit expire on
June 1, 2011 and can be extended for an additional year on each annual anniversary. They are
collateralized by a pledge agreement of the investments of the Retreat. The Retreat is required to pay
the Bank quarterly fees at the rate of .75% per annum of the daily average amount available of the
outstanding bonds as defined in the agreements. Interest on draws is paid at a variable base rate. The
base rate will be equal to the Wall Street Journal's prime rate plus 0% to 2% depending on the
amount of days outstanding and the type of draw.

There are various restrictive covenants, which include compliance with certain financial ratios and a
detail of events constituting defaults. The Retreat is in compliance with these requirements at
December 31, 2010.

Scheduled principal repayments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations are as follows:
Capital

Long-Term Lease
Debt Obligations

2011 (included in current liabilities) $ 170,000 $ 45900
2012 175,000 45,882
2013 180,000 -
2014 190,000 -
2015 195,000 -
Thereafter 6,410,000 -

_ $7.320.000 91,782
Less amount representing interest under capital
lease obligations

8,104

$__83.678

e l——
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Concentrations
Credit Risk
The Retreat grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of whom are local residents and are

insured under third-party payor agreements. The mix of receivables from patients and third-party
payors was as follows:

2010 2009
Medicare 12 % 16 %
Medicaid 38 38
Blue Cross 16 11
Other third-party payors 29 31
Patients _S5 _4

100 % 100 %

The Retreat maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally
insured limits. The Retreat has not experienced any losses in such accounts. Management believes it
is not exposed to any significant risk with respect to these accounts.

Labor Force
The Retreat's unionized labor workforce are members of the United Nurses and Allied Professionals

Local Unit #5086 and Local Unit #5087. The union contracts are in effect through October 12,
2012.

Commitments and Contingencies

Medical Malpractice Claims

The Retreat insures against malpractice losses by obtaining a claims-made policy which provides
specified coverage for claims reported during the policy term. The policy contains a provision which
allows the Retreat to purchase "tail" coverage for an indefinite period to avoid any future lapse in
insurance coverage. The possibility exists, as a normal risk of doing business, that malpractice
claims in excess of insurance coverage may be asserted against the Retreat. In the event a loss
contingency should occur, the Retreat would give appropriate recognition to it in its financial
statements in conformity with FASB ASC 450, Contingencies. As of December 31, 2010, there are
no known malpractice claims outstanding which, in the opinion of management, will be settled for
amounts in excess of insurance coverage, nor are there any unasserted claims or incidents which
require loss accrual. The Retreat intends to renew coverage on a claims-made basis and anticipates
that such coverage will be available.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Operating Leases

The Retreat has leased equipment under operating leases expiring at various dates through 2013.
Total rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, for the operating leases was
approximately $86,500 and $72,300, respectively.

The following is a schedule by year of future minimum lease payments under operating leases as of
December 31, 2010, that have initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year.

2011 $ 64,880
2012 64,880
2013 64,880
$_194.640
Litigation

The Retreat is involved in litigation and regulatory investigations arising in the course of business.
After consultation with legal counsel, management estimates that these matters will be resolved
without material adverse effect on the Retreat's future financial position or results from operations.

Asset Retirement Obligation

FASB ASC 410, Asset Retirement Obligations, requires entities to record asset retirement
obligations at fair value if they can be reasonably estimated. The State of Vermont requires special
disposal procedures relating to building materials containing asbestos. The Retreat buildings contain
asbestos, but a liability has not been recognized. This is because there are no current plans to
renovate or dispose of the buildings that would require the removal of the asbestos; accordingly, the
liability has an indeterminate settlement date and its fair value cannot be reasonably estimated.

Pension Plan

The Retreat has a contributory defined contribution plan (Pension Plan) available to substantially all
employees. The Retreat contributes 3% of gross compensation up to maximum amounts allowed
under Internal Revenue Service regulations. In addition, employees may elect to contribute up to
20% of gross compensation up to the maximum amount allowed per year to the Pension Plan with
the Retreat contributing an additional $.50 for each $1.00 of participant contribution. This matching
contribution is limited to one percent of the participant's compensation. The Retreat has temporarily
suspended discretionary contributions on behalf of its employees in 2010.

Total expense related to the Pension Plan for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, was
approximately $147,000 and $593,000, respectively.
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BRATTLEBORO RETREAT
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Deferred Compensation

In 1983, the Retreat implemented a deferred compensation plan (Plan) intended to provide
postretirement income for employees approved by the Board. The Plan was adopted by the Board to
ensure the continuation of the performance of valuable services to the Retreat by certain employees
up to their retirement, as well as to aid in providing retirement and death benefits to the employee
and his or her beneficiaries.

Each employee, approved by the Board of Trustees to participate in the Plan, executed a Stated
Benefit Deferred Compensation Agreement with the Retreat. Under the terms of these agreements,
if the employee retires or dies while employed by the Retreat, the Retreat will make a standard
payment as stated in the agreement to the employee or the stated beneficiary within six months and
for the 14 years thereafter. If the employee ends employment with the Retreat, the Retreat will
commence payments to the employee or the beneficiary in 15 equal annual installments as set forth
in each executed agreement. There are no employee contributions allowed under the terms of the
Plan. All distributions of the Plan are taxable to the employee or beneficiary as income.

As allowable under the Plan, the Retreat has obtained insurance policies on the lives of the
employees participating in the Plan. The policies are owned by the Retreat and the cash surrender
values of these policies are assets of the Retreat and may be used to meet future obligations of the
Plan.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Retreat has borrowed approximately $220,000 against the
policies.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FASB ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid
to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. FASB ASC
820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The
standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the
entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect an entity's own assumptions about the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
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December 31, 2010 and 2009

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below. Fair values
were primarily determined using a market approach.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2010, Using

Quoted Prices  Significant

In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 657,640 $ 657,640 $ - 3 -
Corporate bonds 5,598,430 - 5,598,430 -
U.S Treasury obligations and
government securities 4,098.323 4,098,323 - -
Total assets $10.354.393 $__ 4.755963 $_5.598430 $___ -
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2009, Using
Quoted Prices  Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 645062 $ 645,062 $ - 8 -
Corporate bonds 4,838,144 - 4,838,144 -
U.S. Treasury obligations and
government securities 3.708.046 3.708.046 - -
Total assets $.9.191.252 $_  4.353.108 $_4.838.144 $ -

The Retreat's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade accounts
receivable and payable, estimated third-party payor settlements, and long-term debt. The fair values
of all financial instruments approximate their carrying values at December 31, 2010.
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APPENDIX C
CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE BANK

TD Bank, N.A. (the “Bank™) is a national banking association organized under the laws of the United
States, with its main office located in Wilmington, Delaware. The Bank is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of
The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”) and offers a full range of banking services and products to individuals,
businesses and governments throughout its market areas, including commercial, consumer, trust and insurance
agency services. The Bank operates banking offices in Connecticut, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Florida,
Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, North Carolina, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode
Island, South Carolina, Vermont and Virginia. As of September 30, 2011, the Bank had consolidated assets of
$187.5 billion, consolidated deposits of $150.6 billion and stockholder’s equity of $28.1 billion, based on regulatory
accounting principles.

On April 1, 2011, TD and the Bank acquired Chrysler Financial Services Americas LLC (“Chrysler
Financial) for cash consideration of approximately $6.3 billion. The purchase is comprised of net assets of $5.9
billion and approximately $400 million in goodwill. Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Bank
acquired the Chrysler Financial business in the U.S. and TD acquired the Chrysler Financial business in Canada.
The acquisition gives TD and the Bank all of Chrysler Financial’s processes and technology as well as its existing
portfolio of retail assets in both countries, and gives TD and the Bank a platform for asset generation in the North
American automotive lending market, giving it the opportunity to significantly grow its consumer loan portfolio.

Additional information regarding the foregoing, and the Bank and TD, is available from the filings made by
TD with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), which filings can be inspected and copied at
the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed
rates. In addition, the SEC maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov, which contains reports, proxy statements and
other information regarding registrants that file such information electronically with the SEC.

The information concemning TD and the Bank contained herein is furnished solely to provide limited
introductory information and does not purport to be comprehensive. Such information is qualified in its entirety by
the detailed information appearing in the documents and financial statements referenced herein.

The Letter of Credit has been issued by the Bank and is the obligation of the Bank and not TD.

The Bank will provide copies of the publicly available portions of the most recent quarterly Call Report of
the Bank delivered to the Comptroller of the Currency, without charge, to each person to whom this document is
delivered, on the written request of such person. Written requests should be directed to:

TD Bank, N.A.

1701 Route 70 East

Cherry Hill, New Jersey 08034
Attn: Corporate and Public Affairs

Information regarding the financial condition and results of operations of the Bank is contained in the
quarterly Call Reports of the Bank delivered to the Comptroller of the Cumrency and available online at
https://cdr.ffiec.gov/public. General information regarding the Bank may be found in periodic filings made by TD
with the SEC. TD is a foreign issuer that is permitted, under a multijurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the
United States, to prepare certain filings with the SEC in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Canada, its
home country. Canadian disclosure requirements are different from those of the United States. TD’s financial
statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and may be subject
to Canadian auditing and auditor independence standards, and thus may not be comparable to financial statements of
United States companies prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

The delivery hereof shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of TD or

the Bank since the date hereof, or that the information contained or referred to in this Appendix C is correct as of
any time subsequent to its date.
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APPENDIX D
DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS AND SUMMARIES OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE
TRUST AGREEMENT, AND A COPY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS

The following is a summary of the definitions of certain items contained in the Loan Agreement and the
Trust Agreement and used in this Official Statement. The term “Corporation”, as used in this Appendix D, refers to
the Borrower, The Brattleboro Retreat.

“Act of Bankruptcy” means a filing of a petition of bankruptcy (or any other commencement of bankruptcy
or similar proceedings) by or against the Corporation or the Agency under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization or similar law, as now or hereafter in effect.

“Alternate Credit Facility” means any validly issued letter of credit delivered to the Bond Trustee and being
substituted for the Credit Facility then in effect pursuant to the Trust Agreement and which fails to qualify as a
Substitute Credit Facility.

“Available Moneys” means (i) money or Defeasance Obligations deposited by the Corporation in trust with
the Bond Trustee that have been held in trust by the Bond Trustee for at least 123 days (365 days if the Corporation
is no longer the sole Member of the Obligated Group) prior to the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds,
determined on a first-in- first-out basis, without an intervening Act of Bankruptcy, (ii) proceeds of the Bonds
deposited in the Interest Account, (iii) money that would not be a preference payment under the United States
Bankruptcy Code, as indicated in an Opinion of Counsel nationally recognized as expert in bankruptcy law
acceptable to Moody’s, and (iv) any investment of amounts specified in (i), (ii) and (iii) above and the proceeds
from the investment thereof. For the purposes hereof, the Bond Trustee shall not be required to consider amounts to
be Available Moneys unless such amounts represent draws under the Credit Facility or, as of the Business Day next
preceding any date on which payment or disbursement is to be made by the Bond Trustee, the Bond Trustee has
received a certificate of an officer of the Corporation and an Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Bond Trustee to
the effect that no Act of Bankruptcy exists or has occurred which would result in such funds being considered
voidable preferences in the event of an Act of Bankruptcy.

“Bank” means TD Bank, N.A., issuer of the initial Credit Facility and any Substitute Credit Facility, and
any legal successors thereto, or any other entity providing an Alternate Credit Facility.

“Bank Obligations” means all obligations of the Corporation to the Bank under the Reimbursement
Agreement.

“Bank Rate” means, with respect to the Bonds, the rate of interest per annum payable in respect to such
Bonds held by or for the account of the Bank as provided in the Trust Agreement.

“Beneficial Owner” means the Person in whose name a Bond is recorded as beneficial owner of such Bond

by the Securities Depository or a Participant or an Indirect Participant on the records of such Securities Depository,
Participant or Indirect Participant, as the case may be, or such Person’s subrogee.

“Bond Fund” means the Bond Fund created under the Trust Agreement.
“Bonds” means the Bonds of the Agency issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

“Bond Year” means the period commencing on the first day of December of any year and ending on the
last day of November in the following year.

“Book Entry Bonds” means Bonds of which a Securities Depository or its nominee is the Holder.

“Book-Entry System” means a book-entry system established and operated for the recordation of Beneficial
Owners of the Bonds pursuant to the Trust Agreement.
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“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday or legal holiday or a day on which
banking institutions in any city in which the principal office of the Bond Trustee, the Tender Agent, the
Remarketing Agent or the Bank is located are authorized or required by law or executive order to close, or (ii) a day
on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

“Code” means the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Corporation Representative” means each of the persons at the time designated to act on behalf of the
Corporation in a written certificate furnished to the Agency and the Bond Trustee, which certificate shall contain the
specimen signature(s) of such person(s) and shall be signed on behalf of the Corporation by its president or chief
financial officer.

“Cost” means, without intending thereby to limit or restrict any proper definition of such word under the
Act, all items of cost set forth in the Trust Agreement.

“Credit Facility” means the irrevocable direct-pay letter of credit dated the date of delivery of the Bonds,
issued by the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement and any extensions, renewals or substitutions thereof
pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement. Upon the substitution of an Alternate Credit Facility or a Substitute
Credit Facility pursuant to the Trust Agreement for any Credit Facility held by the Bond Trustee, “Credit Facility”
shall mean such Alternate Credit Facility or Substitute Credit Facility, as the case may be.

“Daily Rate” means the interest rate to be determined for the Bonds during any Daily Interest Period
pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

“Defaulted Interest” means any interest on any Bond which is payable, but is not punctually paid or duly
provided for, on any Interest Payment Date.

“Defeasance Obligations” means (i) noncallable Government Obligations, (ii) evidences of ownership of a
proportionate interest in specified noncallable Government Obligations, which Government Obligations are held by
a bank or trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof
in the capacity of custodian, (iii) Defeased Municipal Obligations and (iv) evidences of ownership of a proportionate
interest in specified Defeased Municipal Obligations, which Defeased Municipal Obligations are held by a bank or
trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof in the
capacity as custodian.

“Defeased Municipal Obligations” means obligations of state or local government municipal bond issuers
which are rated in the highest rating category by S&P and Moody’s, respectively, provision for the payment of the
principal of and interest on which shall have been made by deposit with a trustee or escrow agent of (i) noncallable
Government Obligations, (ii) evidences of ownership of a proportionate interest in specified noncallable
Government Obligations, (iii) cash or (iv) any combination of such noncallable Government Obligations, evidences
of ownership and cash, which Government Obligations or evidences of ownership, together with any cash, are held
by a bank or trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state
thereof in the capacity of custodian, the maturing principal of and interest on such Government Obligations or
evidences of ownership, when due and payable, being sufficient, together with any cash, to provide money to pay
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such obligations of such state or local government municipal bond
issuers.

“Expiration Date” means the date six days prior to the date upon which the Credit Facility will expire in
accordance with its terms, without regard to earlier termination upon the occurrence of certain events.

“Extended Rate” means the rate at which the Bonds shall bear interest during any Extended Rate Period.

“Fixed Rate” means the rate or rates at which the Bonds shall bear interest from and including the Fixed
Rate Conversion Date to the maturity date thereof.
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“Government Obligations” means direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment of the principal
of and interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America.

“Holder” means a person in whose name a Bond is registered in the registration books of the Bond Trustee.

“Indirect Participant” means a broker-dealer, bank or other financial institution for which the Securities
Depository holds Bonds as a securities depository through a Participant.

“Interest Payment Date” means, (a) when used with respect to Bonds bearing interest at other than the Bank
Rate, the Extended Rate or the Fixed Rate, the first Business Day of each calendar month, (b) when used with
respect to Bonds bearing interest at the Bank Rate, the date the Remarketing Agent is able to sell such Bonds
pursuant to the Trust Agreement, (c) when used with respect to Bonds bearing interest at the Extended Rate, the first
Business Day of the sixth month following the Extended Rate Conversion Date and the first Business Day of each
sixth calendar month thereafter, and (d) when used with respect to Bonds bearing interest at the Fixed Rate, each
June 1 and December 1.

“Investment Obligations™ means:
)] Defeasance Obligations;

) bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by any of the following
agencies or any other like governmental or government-sponsored agencies which are hereafter created: Bank for
Cooperatives; Federal Intermediate Credit Banks; Federal Financing Bank; Federal Home Loan Bank System;
Export Import Bank of the United States; Farmers Home Administration; Small Business Administration
Inter-American Development Bank; International Bank for Reconstruction and Development; Federal Land Banks;
and Government National Mortgage Association;

3) direct and general obligations of any state of the United States of America or any municipality or
political subdivision of such state, or obligations of any corporation, if such obligations are rated in one of the two
highest rating categories by each of S&P and Moody’s (without regard to any gradations within such categories), or,
upon the discontinuance of either or both of such services, any other nationally recognized rating services;

@) negotiable or non-negotiable certificates of deposit, time deposits, or other similar banking
arrangements, issued by any bank (including the Bond Trustee), banking association or trust company or any
savings and loan association, and either (i) the long-term obligations of such bank or trust company or savings and
loan association are rated in one of the two highest rating categories by S&P and Moody’s (without regard to any
gradations within such categories) or (ii) the deposits are continuously secured as to principal, but only to the extent
not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or similar corporation chartered by the United States of
America, (a) by lodging with a bank or trust company, as collateral security, obligations described in paragraph (1)
or (2) above or other marketable securities eligible as security for the deposit of trust funds under applicable
regulations of the Comptroller or the Currency of the United States or applicable state law or regulations, having a
market value (exclusive of accrued interest) not less than the amount of such deposit, or (b) if the furnishing of
security as provided in clause (a) of this paragraph is not permitted by applicable law, in such manner as may then
be required or permitted by applicable state or federal laws and regulations regarding the security for, or granting a
preference in the case of, the deposit of trust funds;

) repurchase agreements with respect to obligations listed in paragraph (1) or (2) above if entered
into with a bank (including the Bond Trustee), banking association, trust company or a broker or dealer (as defined
by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) which is a dealer in government securities which reports to, trades with and
is recognized as a primary dealer by a Federal Reserve Bank, and which is a member of the Securities Investors
Protection Corporation if (i) such obligations that are the subject of such repurchase agreement are delivered to the
Bond Trustee or are supported by a safe-keeping receipt issued by a depository satisfactory to the Bond Trustee,
provided that such repurchase agreement must provide that the value of the underlying obligations shall be
maintained at a current market value, calculated no less frequently than monthly, of not less than the repurchase
price, (ii) a prior perfected security interest in the obligations which are the subject of such repurchase agreement
has been granted to the Bond Trustee and (iii) such obligations are free and clear of any adverse third party claims;
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6) commercial paper rated in the highest rating category by S&P and Moody’s;

@) mutual funds that invest primarily in obligations listed in paragraphs (1), (2) and (3) above, which
mutual funds are rated in the highest categories by each of S&P and Moody’s;

(8) investment agreements continuously secured by the obligations listed in paragraphs (1), (2) or (4)
above, with any bank, trust company or broker or dealer (as defined by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) which
is a dealer in government securities, reports to, trades with and is recognized as a primary dealer by, a Federal
Reserve Bank, and is a member of the Securities Investors Protection Corporation if (i) such obligations are
delivered to the Bond Trustee or are supported by a safekeeping receipt issued by a depository satisfactory to the
Bond Trustee, provided that such investment agreements must provide that the value of the underlying obligations
shall be maintained at a current market value, calculated no less frequently than monthly, of not less than the amount
deposited thereunder, (ii) a prior perfected security interest in the obligations which are securing such agreement has
been granted to the Bond Trustee, and (iii) such obligations are free and clear of any adverse third party claims;

©) investment agreements with any bank (including a domestic branch of a foreign bank), trust
company, insurance company, insurance holding company, corporation or other financial institution which has
long-term obligations rated in one of the three highest rating categories by S&P and Moody’s (without regard to any
gradations within such categories); and

(10) so long as the Credit Facility is in effect and has not been dishonored, any other investment
approved in writing by the Bank.

Any of the above-described investments may be issued by or acquired through the Bond Trustee or its
affiliates, or any entity for which the Bond Trustee or its affiliates provide services (and received compensation) if
such investment otherwise satisfied the requirements of this definition.

“Loan Repayments” means the payments so described under the caption “Loan Repayments; Required
Payments Under the Loan Agreement” in the Summary of the Loan Agreement in this Appendix D.

“Mandatory Tender Date” means any date on which the Bonds are subject to mandatory tender pursuant to
the Trust Agreement.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., its successors and their assigns, and, if such corporation
shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s”
shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency appointed by the Corporation
and approved by the Agency.

“Optional Tender Date” means any date on which the Bonds are subject to optional tender pursuant to the
Trust Agreement.

“Qutstanding” when used with reference to Bonds means, as of a particular date, all Bonds theretofore
issued under the Trust Agreement, except:

(a) Bonds paid or redeemed or delivered to the Bond Registrar for cancellation;

(b) Bonds, for the payment of which money, Defeasance Obligations, or a combination of both,
sufficient to pay, on the date when such Bonds are to be paid or redeemed, the principal or Redemption Price of, and
the interest accruing to such date on, the Bonds to be paid or redeemed, has been deposited with the Bond Trustee or
the Bond Registrar in trust for the Holders of such Bonds; Defeasance Obligations shall be deemed to be sufficient
to pay or redeem Bonds on a specified date if the principal of and the interest on such Government Obligations,
when due, will be sufficient to pay on such date the principal or Redemption Price of, and the interest accruing on,
such Bonds to such date;
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(c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been issued and authenticated under
the Trust Agreement;

(d) Bonds deemed to have been paid in accordance with the Trust Agreement; provided, however, that
so long as the Credit Facility is in effect, any moneys or Government Obligations deposited pursuant to the Trust
Agreement and used to pay amounts due or to become due on the Bonds shall not, in the Opinion of Counsel of
recognized standing in matters pertaining to bankruptcy laws, constitute a voidable preference if an Act of
Bankruptcy occurs; and

(e) Undelivered Bonds;

provided, however, that any Bond paid from the proceeds of a drawing under the Credit Facility shall be deemed
Outstanding and not to have been paid until the principal of and all interest on such Bond shall be paid by the
Corporation to the Bank; and provided, further, however, if payment for the Bonds has been provided for pursuant to
the Trust Agreement prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date such Bonds shall be deemed Outstanding and not to
have been paid and continue to enjoy the security and benefits of the Trust Agreement but only to the extent
required to assure the repurchase of such Bonds in the manner provided for in the Trust Agreement and in the
Remarketing Agreement.

“Participant” means a broker-dealer, bank or other financial institution for which the Securities Depository
holds Bonds as a securities depository.

“Purchase Date”, when used with respect to any Bond, means any date on which the Tender Agent is
obligated to purchase such Bond.

“Purchase Price” of any Bond required to be purchased by the Tender Agent means an amount equal to the
principal amount of such Bond plus accrued interest thereon if the Purchase Date is other than an Interest Payment
Date at the rate applicable to such Bond from the most recent Interest Payment Date to but excluding the Purchase
Date.

“Rate Period” means, when used with respect to any particular rate of interest, the period during which
such rate of interest determined for the Bonds will remain in effect pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

“Redemption Fund” means the Redemption Fund created under the Trust Agreement and described in the
Summary of the Trust Agreement in this Appendix D.

“Redemption Price” means, with respect to Bonds or a portion thereof, the principal amount of such Bonds
or portion thereof plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof.

“Reimbursement Agreement” means the Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2011,
between the Bank and the Corporation pursuant to which the initial Credit Facility is issued and also includes any
similar agreement between the Corporation and the Bank pursuant to which a Substitute Credit Facility is issued,
and including, in each case, all amendments and supplements thereto.

“Required Payments Under the Loan Agreement” means the payments so described under the caption
“Loan Repayments; Required Payments Under the Loan Agreement” in the Summary of the Loan Agreement in this
Appendix D.

“Securities Depository” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and any substitute
for or successor to such securities depository that shall maintain a Book-Entry System with respect to the Bonds.

“Securities Depository Nominee” means the Securities Depository or the nominee of such Securities

Depository in whose name there shall be registered on the Register the Bonds to be delivered to such Securities
Depository during the continuation with such Securities Depository of participation in its Book-Entry System.
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“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, its successors
and assigns, and, if for any reason “S&P” shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency or
“S&P” shall no longer maintain a rating on the Bonds, “S&P” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally
recognized securities rating agency appointed by the Corporation and approved by the Agency.

“Sinking Fund Requirement” means, with respect to Bonds for any Bond Year, the principal amount fixed
or computed as hereinafter provided for the retirement of such Bonds by purchase or redemption on December 1 of
the following Bond Year.

The Sinking Fund Requirement for the Bonds for each Bond Year shall be initially the respective principal
amounts of such Bonds to be redeemed, or otherwise retired, on December 1 of the following Bond Year as
provided in the Trust Agreement. The Sinking Fund Requirements for the Bonds are as set forth under the
subheading “Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption Without Premium” under the heading, “DESCRIPTION OF
THE BONDS?” set forth herein.

“State” means the State of Vermont.

“Substitute Credit Facility” means any validly issued irrevocable letter of credit issued by the provider of
the Credit Facility then in effect containing substantially the same terms as the initial Credit Facility, delivered to the
Bond Trustee and being substituted for the Credit Facility then in effect pursuant to the Trust Agreement. (See
“Alternate Credit Supports - Substitute Credit Facilities” under the heading “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” set
forth herein.)

“Total Required Payments” means the sum of Loan Repayments and Required Payments under the Loan
Agreement.

“Undelivered Bonds” means Bonds which are deemed to have been tendered to the Tender Agent, as
provided in the Trust Agreement, but which have not been surrendered to the Tender Agent.

“Variable Rate” means, as the context requires, the Daily, Weekly or Extended Rate applicable to the
Bonds.

“Weekly Rate” means the interest rate to be determined for the Bonds during any Weekly Interest Period
pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

SUMMARY OF LOAN AGREEMENT

Loans Repayments; Required Payments Under the Loan Agreement

The Corporation is required to make Total Required Payments under the Loan Agreement when due.

Loan Repayments are required to be sufficient in the aggregate to repay the Loan and interest thereon and
to pay in full all Bonds outstanding under the Trust Agreement, together with the total interest and redemption
premium, if any, thereon. The Corporation is required to repay the Loan in installments, each installment being
deemed a Loan Repayment. The Corporation may prepay all or any part of the loan as provided in the Loan
Agreement.

The Corporation shall also pay, when due and payable, as Required Payments under the Loan Agreement,
the following costs and expenses, exclusive of costs and expenses payable from the proceeds of the Bonds:

6)] the fees and other costs incurred for services of the Master Trustee (and, if not paid when due,

interest thereon at its base rate), the Tender Agent (and, if not paid when due, interest thereon at its base rate), the
Remarketing Agent, the Bank and any rating agency rating the Bonds;
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(ii) the fees and other costs payable to the Bond Trustee (and, if not paid when due, interest thereon at
its base rate);

(iii) all costs incurred in connection with the purchase or redemption of Bonds to the extent money is
not otherwise available therefor;

@iv) the fees and other costs incurred for services of such engineers, architects, attorneys, management
consultants, insurance advisers, and accountants as are employed to make examinations, provide service, render
opinions or prepare reports required under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture or the Trust Agreement;

) reasonable fees and other costs that the Corporation is obligated to pay, not otherwise paid under
the Loan Agreement or the Trust Agreement, incurred by the Agency in connection with its administration and
enforcement of, and compliance with, the Loan Agreement or the Trust Agreement, including, but not limited to, the
annual administrative fee imposed by the Agency in an annual amount not to exceed 1/10 of 1% of the original
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, which annual amount is payable November 1 of each calendar year
commencing November 1, 2012, and reasonable attorneys’ fees;

(vi) all costs incurred by the Agency or the Bond Trustee in connection with the discontinuation of or
withdrawal from any book-entry system for the Bonds or any transfer from one book-entry system to another,
including, without limitation, the printing and issuance of additional or substitute Bonds in connection with such
withdrawal, discontinuance or transfer; and

(vii) fees and other costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

Absolute Obligation to Make Total Required Payments

So long as any Bonds remain Outstanding or Bank Obligations remain unpaid, the obligation of the
Corporation to make Total Required Payments shall be absolute and unconditional. The Corporation will pay
without abatement, diminution or deduction (whether for taxes or otherwise) all such amounts regardless of any
cause or circumstance whatsoever including, without limitation, any defense, set-off, recoupment or counterclaim
that the Corporation may have or assert against the Agency or the Bond Trustee or any other person.

Other Covenants of the Corporation

The Loan Agreement provides that the Corporation will comply with each covenant, condition and
agreement in the Master Indenture. The Loan Agreement also sets forth certain other agreements of the Corporation
with respect to among other things: merger, sale and transfer of assets; examination of books and records of the
Corporation; furnishing to the Agency, the Bond Trustee, the Bank, and any Holder who requests in writing, the
financial statements and certain other information required to be furnished under the Master Trust Indenture; the
execution, acknowledgment and delivery of supplements, amendments and such further instruments as may
reasonably be required with respect to the performance of the Loan Agreement; inspection of any Operating Assets
by the Agency, the Bond Trustee, the Bank and the Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate
principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds; and secondary market disclosure.

Amendments to Master Indenture

So long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the Master Indenture shall not be amended without the prior written
consent of the Agency and, subject to the provisions of the applicable supplement, the Bank if such amendment
would require the consent of all or a portion of the Holders of the Obligations then Outstanding. So long as any
Bonds are Outstanding, the Corporation agrees that it will not exercise any right it may have under the Master
Indenture to remove the Master Trustee unless the Corporation has given prior written notice by certified mail of
such removal to the Agency and the Agency has not objected thereto within ten (10) days after the receipt of such
notice.
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Defaults and Remedies

Events of Default are defined in the Loan Agreement to include: (a) failure of the Corporation to make any
payment required under the Loan Agreement (including, but not limited to, Loan Repayments) or under the
Obligation related to the Loan Agreement when due, whether at maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise, (b)
failure of the Corporation to perform, observe or comply with any covenant, condition or agreement on its part
under the Loan Agreement (other than a failure to make any payments described under clause (a) of this paragraph),
including any covenant, condition or agreement in the Master Indenture applicable to the any Member of the
Obligated Group and incorporated by reference in the Loan Agreement, and such failure continues for a period of
thirty (30) days after the date on which written notice of such failure, requiring the same to be remedied, has been
given to the Corporation by the Bond Trustee or to the Corporation and the Bond Trustee by the Holders of at least
twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding; provided, however, that if
such performance, observation or compliance requires work to be done, action to be taken or conditions to be
remedied, which by their nature cannot reasonably be done, taken or remedied, as the case may be, within such 30-
day period, no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred or to exist if, and so long as, the Corporation shall
commence such performance, observation or compliance within such period and shall diligently and continuously
prosecute the same to completion; or (c) the Master Trustee has declared the aggregate principal amount of the
Obligation related to the Loan Agreement and all interest due thereon immediately due and payable in accordance
with the Master Indenture.

Upon the happening and continuance of an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, the Agency may
take the following remedial steps: (i) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (a) in the preceding
paragraph, take whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to collect the payments then due under
the Obligation related to the Loan Agreement; (ii) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (b) in the
preceding paragraph, take whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to enforce the performance,
observance or compliance by the Corporation with any covenant, condition or agreement by the Corporation under
the Loan Agreement; and (iii) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (c) in the preceding paragraph,
take such action, or cease such action, as the Master Trustee shall direct, but only to the extent such direction is
consistent with the provisions of the Master Indenture.

Prepayment of the Loan

The Corporation has the option to prepay, together with accrued interest, all or any portion of the unpaid
aggregate amount of the Loan by redeeming Bonds in accordance with the Trust Agreement. Such prepayment will
be made by the Corporation taking, or causing the Agency to take, the actions required (i) for payment of the Bonds,
whether by redemption or purchase prior to maturity or by payment at maturity, or (ii) to effect the purchase,
redemption or payment at maturity of less than all of the Outstanding Bonds according to their terms.

The Corporation has the option to prepay the unpaid aggregate amount of the Loan, together with accrued
interest to the date of prepayment, upon the occurrence of the following events: (a) damage or destruction of all or
any part (if damage or destruction of such part causes the Corporation to be impracticable to operate, as evidenced
by an Officer’s Certificate filed with the Agency and the Bond Trustee) of the Operating Assets by fire or casualty,
or loss of title to or use of substantially all of the Operating Assets as a result of the failure of title or as a result of
Eminent Domain proceedings or proceedings in lieu thereof; or (b) changes in the Constitution of the United States
of America or of the State or of legislation or administrative action, or failure of administrative action by the United
States of America or the State or any agency or political subdivision of either, or any by reason of any judicial
decision; in either event to such extent that in the opinion of the board of directors of the Corporation (expressed in a
resolution) and in the opinion of an independent architect, engineer or management consultant (as may be
appropriate for the particular event), both filed with the Agency and the Bond Trustee, (i) the Loan Agreement is
impossible to perform without reasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities not being
imposed on the date of the Loan Agreement are imposed on the Corporation.

The Corporation shall have the right to revoke any notice of prepayment given pursuant to the Loan

Agreement if and to the same extent that a notice of optional redemption given pursuant to the Trust Agreement
contains conditions under which the call for redemption may be revoked.
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Amendment of T.oan Agreement

The Loan Agreement may be amended, without the consent of or notice to any of the Holders, to cure any
ambiguity or formal defect or omission therein or in any supplement thereto; to correct or supplement any provisions
therein which may be inconsistent with any other provisions therein or make any other provisions with respect to
matters which do not materially and adversely affect the interest of the Holders; to grant to or confer upon the Bond
Trustee for the benefit of the Holders any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security that may lawfully
be granted or conferred upon the Holders or the Bond Trustee; or to add conditions, limitations and restrictions on
the Corporation to be observed thereafter.

Other than amendments referred to in the preceding paragraph and subject to the terms and provisions and
limitations contained in the Trust Agreement and not otherwise, the Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, to consent to and approve
the execution by the Corporation and the Agency of such supplements and amendments as shall be deemed
necessary and desirable for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular,
any of the terms or provisions contained in the Loan Agreement; provided, however, nothing in the Loan Agreement
shall permit or be construed as permitting a supplement or amendment which would:

(i) Extend the stated maturity of or time for paying interest on the Obligation related to the Loan
Agreement or reduce the principal amount of or the redemption premium or rate of interest payable on such
Obligation without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then Outstanding;

(65)] Except as expressly permitted at the time of execution of the Loan Agreement, grant to the
registered owner of any Indebtedness (as defined in the Master Indenture) a security interest in Pledged Assets
superior to that of the Holders without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then Outstanding; or

(iii) Reduce the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding the consent of the Holders of
which is required to authorize such supplement or amendment without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then
Outstanding.

Members, Directors, Trustees, Officers and Employees of the Agency and the Corporation Not Liable

Neither the members, officers and employees of the Agency nor the members of the board of directors or
the trustees, officers and employees of the Corporation will be personally liable for any costs, losses, damages, or
liabilities caused or subsequently incurred by the Corporation or any officer, director or agent thereof in connection
with or as a result of the Loan Agreement.

Bank Deemed Holder

For all purposes of the Loan Agreement regarding defaults and remedies and amendments to the Loan
Agreement, the Bank shall, so long as the Credit Facility shall be in effect and shall not have been dishonored and
uncured and so long as any Bank Obligations remain unpaid, be deemed the Holder of all Bonds. As such, the Bank
may take all actions permitted by the provisions of the Loan Agreement regarding defaults and remedies and
amendments thereto to be taken by the Holders of the Bonds, to the exclusion of the actual Holders of the Bonds, as
if the Bank was in fact the actual Holder of all such Bonds; the purposes of this provision being to permit the Bank
to direct the taking of actions and the enforcement of remedies permitted by the provisions of the Loan Agreement
regarding defaults and remedies and to consent to supplements to the Loan Agreement so long as the Credit Facility
shall be in effect and shall not have been dishonored and uncured and so long as any Bank Obligations remain
unpaid.
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SUMMARY OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT

Various Funds and Accounts Created by the Trust Agreement

The Trust Agreement creates the following funds:

1. The Bond Fund
2. The Redemption Fund
3. The Construction Fund

Money received by the Agency from any source for the construction of any portion of the Project shall be
deposited immediately upon receipt to the credit of the Construction Fund. Payment of the cost of the Project shall
be made from the Construction Fund.

The Trust Agreement also creates separate accounts in the Bond Fund designated the “Interest Account”
and “Sinking Fund Account.”

The Bond Trustee shall establish separate subaccounts within the Interest Account, Sinking Fund Account
and Redemption Fund corresponding to the source of moneys (e.g., proceeds of required draws on the Credit
Facility or Available Moneys) for each deposit made thereto so that the Bond Trustee may at all times ascertain the
source and date of deposit of the funds in each such subaccount.

The money in each of such funds and accounts shall be held in trust and applied as hereinafter described
and, pending such application, shall be subject to a lien and charge in favor of the Holders and for the further
security of such Holders; provided, however, that moneys in subaccounts shall also be subject to a lien and charge in
favor of the Bank for the further security of the Bank.

Deposits to the Bond Fund

The Bond Trustee will deposit all amounts received as Loan Repayments and Required Payments under the
Loan Agreement in the following order, subject to the credits provided in the Trust Agreement:

@) on the 1st day of each month commencing on the 1st day of the month which follows the month in
which the Bonds are delivered and paid for, and continuing on the 1st day of each month thereafter so long as any
Bonds are Outstanding, into the Bond Fund for credit to the appropriate subaccount in the Interest Account, an
amount such that, if the same amount is so credited on the 1st day of each succeeding month thereafter, the
aggregate of such amounts on credit to such subaccount on an Interest Payment Date will be equal to the installment
of interest falling due on the Bonds on such Interest Payment Date; and

(i1) beginning December 25, 2011, and on the 25th day of each month thereafter, into the Sinking
Fund Account in the Bond Fund, one-twelfth (1/12) of the amount required to retire the Bonds to be called by
mandatory redemption or to be paid at maturity on the next ensuing December 1 in accordance with the Sinking
Fund Requirement therefor.

If, after giving effect to the credits specified below, any installment of Total Required Payments is
insufficient to enable the Bond Trustee to make the deposits required above, the Bond Trustee will notify the
Corporation and request that it increase each future installment of the Total Required Payments to make up any
previous deficiency in any of the required monthly payments and to make up any deficiency or loss in any of the
above-mentioned accounts and funds.

To the extent that investment earnings are credited to the Interest or Sinking Fund Accounts in accordance

with the Trust Agreement, or amounts are credited thereto as a result of the application of Bond proceeds or a
transfer of investment earnings on any other fund or account held by the Bond Trustee, or otherwise, future deposits
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to such accounts shall be reduced by the amount so credited, and the Loan Repayments due from the Corporation in
the months following the date of the credit shall be reduced by the amounts so credited.

Interest Account

If the Bonds are not in a Book-Entry System, not later than 1:00 p.m. on each Interest Payment Date, or
date for the payment of Defaulted Interest, or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed, the Bond Trustee shall
withdraw from the Interest Account and remit by mail, to each Holder which is not a Securities Depository Nominee
the amount required for paying interest on such Bonds when due and payable.

If the Bonds are in a Book-Entry System, at such time as to enable the Bond Trustee to make payments of
interest on the Bonds in accordance with any existing agreement between the Bond Trustee and any Securities
Depository, the Bond Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account and remit by wire transfer, in Federal
Reserve or other immediately available funds, the amounts required to pay to any Holder which is a Securities
Depository Nominee interest on the Bonds on the next ensuing Interest Payment Date or date for the payment of
Defaulted Interest or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed; provided, however, that in no event shall the Bond
Trustee be required to make such wire transfer prior to the Business Day next preceding each Interest Payment Date
or date for the payment of Defaulted Interest or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed, and provided further
that such wire transfer shall be made not later than 1:00 p.m. on each Interest Payment Date or date for the payment
of Defaulted Interest or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed.

Sinking Fund Account

Money on deposit in the Sinking Fund Account of the Bond Fund will be applied during each Bond Year to
the retirement of Bonds then Outstanding as follows:

(a) The Bond Trustee shall endeavor to purchase and cancel Bonds or portions thereof then subject to
redemption by operating of the Sinking Fund Account at the most advantageous price obtainable with reasonable
diligence, such price not to exceed the Redemption Price provided in the Trust Agreement which would be payable
on the next December 1 to the Holders of such Bonds under the provisions of the Trust Agreement if such Bonds or
portions were to be called for redemption on such date, plus accrued interest to the date of purchase. The Bond
Trustee shall pay the interest accrued on such Bonds or portions thereof to the date of settlement therefor from the
Interest Account and the purchase price from the Sinking Fund Account, but no such purchase will be made by the
Bond Trustee from money in the Sinking Fund Account within the period of forty-five (45) days immediately
preceding the next December 1 on which such Bonds are subject to redemption. No such purchase of Bonds shall be
made other than with Available Moneys on and prior to the Expiration Date. The aggregate purchase prices of such
Bonds so purchased shall not exceed the amount deposited in the Sinking Fund Account on account of the Sinking
Fund Requirement for such Bonds; provided, however, that if in any Bond Year the amount held for the credit of the
Sinking Fund Account plus the principal amount of all Bonds purchased during such Bond Year pursuant to the
provisions of the Trust Agreement described in this paragraph (a) exceeds the aggregate Sinking Fund Requirements
for all Bonds then Outstanding for such Bond Year, the Bond Trustee shall endeavor to purchase any Bonds then
Outstanding with such excess money;

(b) The Bond Trustee shall call for redemption on the December 1 immediately following such Bond
Year, Bonds or portions thereof then subject to redemption in a principal amount equal to the aggregate Sinking
Fund Requirement for the Bonds for such Bond Year, less the principal amount of any such Bonds retired by
purchase pursuant to clause (a). If such December 1 is the stated maturity date of any such Bonds, the Bond
Trustee shall not call such Bonds for redemption but, on such maturity date, shall withdraw from the Sinking Fund
Account and remit to the Bond Registrar the amount required for paying the principal of such Bonds when due and
payable. On each such redemption date, the Bond Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account and the Sinking
Fund Account and wire transfer to the Bond Registrar the respective amounts required for paying the interest on and
the Redemption Price of the Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption, other than Bonds owned by the
Bank. Any amounts remaining in the Interest Account and the Sinking Fund Account immediately after such
transfer to the Bond Registrar shall be used by the Bond Trustee to reimburse the Bank in immediately available
funds for any required draw on the Credit Facility and to pay the interest on and the Redemption Price of Bonds
owned by the Bank.
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Redemption Fund

Money held for the credit of the Redemption Fund shall be applied to the purchase or redemption of Bonds,
as follows:

(@ Subject to the provisions described in paragraph (c) below, the Bond Trustee shall endeavor to
purchase and cancel Bonds or portions thereof, whether or not such Bonds or portions thereof shall then be subject
to redemption, at the most advantageous price obtainable with reasonable diligence, such price not to exceed the
Redemption Price that would be payable on the next redemption date to the Holders of such Bonds if such Bonds or
portions thereof should be called for redemption on such date from the money in the Redemption Fund. The Bond
Trustee shall pay the interest accrued on such Bonds or portions thereof to the date of settlement therefor from the
Interest Account and the purchase price from the Redemption Fund, but no such purchase shall be made by the Bond
Trustee from money in the Redemption Fund within the period of forty-five (45) days immediately preceding any
date on which such Bonds are subject to redemption and no such purchase of Bonds shall be made other than with
Available Moneys on and prior to the Expiration Date;

(b) Subject to the provisions described in paragraph (c) below, the Bond Trustee shall call for
redemption on each Interest Payment Date such amount of Bonds or portions thereof as, with the redemption
premium, if any, will exhaust the money then held for the credit of the Redemption Fund as nearly as may be
practicable; provided, however, that not less than $50,000 principal amount of Bonds shall be called for redemption
at any one time. On the redemption date the Bond Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account and from the
Redemption Fund and wire transfer to the Bond Registrar, in Federal Reserve or other immediately available funds,
the respective amounts required for paying the interest on and the Redemption Price of the Bonds or portions thereof
so called for redemption, other than Bonds owned by the Bank. Any amounts remaining in the Interest Account and
the Redemption Fund immediately after such transfer to the Bond Registrar shall be used by the Bond Trustee to
reimburse the Bank in immediately available funds for any required draw on the Credit Facility and to pay the
interest on and Redemption Price on Bonds owned by the Bank; and

(c) Money in the Redemption Fund shall be applied by the Bond Trustee each Fiscal Year to the
purchase, or the redemption of Bonds then Outstanding in accordance with the latest Officer’s Certificate filed by
the Corporation with the Bond Trustee designating the Bonds to be purchased or redeemed. For purposes of this
clause (c), Bonds shall be considered to mature on December 1 in amounts equal to the aggregate Sinking Fund
Requirement therefor.

Draws on the Credit Facility

(a) Prior to and including the Expiration Date, the Bond Trustee shall, no later than 10:00 A.M., New
York City time, on each Interest Payment Date for the Bonds, submit the necessary draw certificates in accordance
with the terms of the Credit Facility to ensure that by 1:30 P.M., New York City time, on each such Interest Payment
Date an amount shall be drawn on the Credit Facility which, together with any Available Moneys then held in the
Interest Account for, and available for payment of, the Bonds, shall be sufficient to pay the interest becoming due on
all Bonds other than Bonds owned by the Bank. Such payments shall be made solely from first, Available Moneys,
and second, from moneys drawn on the Credit Facility. No drawing under the Credit Facility shall be made or
proceeds of any drawing applied to pay the interest on any Bonds owned by the Bank or any Bonds that have been
converted to bear interest at a Fixed Rate.

) The Bond Trustee shall, no later than 10:00 A.M., New York City time, on each day on which
principal is due prior to and including the Expiration Date, whether by optional redemption, mandatory redemption,
extraordinary mandatory redemption, acceleration or maturity, submit the necessary draw certificates in accordance
with the terms of the Credit Facility to ensure that, by 1:30 P.M., New York City time, on each such day to and
including the Expiration Date, an amount shall be drawn on the Credit Facility which, together with any Available
Moneys then held in the Sinking Fund Account or the Redemption Account for, and available for payment of, the
Bonds, shall be sufficient to pay the principal of all Bonds becoming due upon presentation and surrender thereof,
other than Bonds owned by the Bank. Prior to and on the Expiration Date, the Bond Trustee shall pay all principal
coming due on all Bonds other than Bonds owned by the Bank, whether at maturity, upon mandatory or optional
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redemption or upon acceleration, solely from first, Available Moneys, and second, from moneys drawn on the Credit
Facility. No drawing under the Credit Facility shall be made or proceeds of any drawing applied to pay the principal
of any Bonds owned by the Bank or any Bonds that have been converted to bear interest at a Fixed Rate.

(c) In the event the Bank dishonors a draw on the Credit Facility pursuant to subsections (a) or (b)
above, the Bond Trustee shall pay principal of or interest on the Bonds, as the case may be, from Loan Repayments
regardless of whether such Loan Repayments constitute Available Moneys.

d The Bond Trustee shall deposit the proceeds of all required draws under the Credit Facility to the
appropriate subaccounts in the Interest Account, Sinking Fund Account and Redemption Fund.

Money Held in Trust

All money that the Bond Trustee shall have withdrawn from the Bond Fund or shall have received from
any other source and set aside or transferred to the Bond Registrar for the purpose of paying any of the Bonds
secured by the Trust Agreement, either at the maturity thereof or by purchase or call for redemption, shall be held in
trust for the respective Holders. Any money that is so set aside or transferred and that remains unclaimed by the
Holders for a period of three (3) years after the date on which such Bonds have become payable shall be paid to the
Corporation, or to such successor as may then be entitled by law to receive the same, and thereafter the Holders shall
look only to the Corporation, or to such successor, as the case may be, for payment and then only to the extent of the
amounts so received, without any interest thereon, and the Bond Trustee, the Bond Registrar, the Bank and the
Agency shall have no responsibility with respect to such money; provided, however, that any such money relating to
the Bonds shall be paid to the Bank instead of the Corporation if and to the extent that any obligations of the
Corporation to the Bank remain outstanding under the Reimbursement Agreement.

Investment of Money

Money held for the credit of all funds and accounts, as nearly as may be practicable, shall be continuously
invested and reinvested by the Bond Trustee in Investment Obligations; provided, however, that proceeds of
required draws on the Credit Facility shall not be invested. Any such Investment Obligations will mature not later
than the respective dates when the money held for the credit of such funds or accounts will be required for the
purposes intended.

No Investment Obligations in any fund or account may mature beyond the latest maturity date of any
Bonds Outstanding at the time such Investment Obligations are deposited.

Investment Obligations acquired with money and credited to any fund or account established under the
Trust Agreement will be held by or under the control of the Bond Trustee and while so held shall be deemed at all
times to be part of such fund or account in which such money was originally held. Interest accruing on such
Investment Obligations and any profit or loss realized upon the disposition or maturity of the same will be credited
to or charged against the fund or account to which the same are credited. The Bond Trustee shall sell at the best
price reasonably attainable or reduce to cash a sufficient amount of such Investment Obligations whenever it is
necessary so to do to provide money to make any payment or transfer of money from any such fund or account. The
Bond Trustee will not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any investment made in accordance with
the Trust Agreement.

Valuation

For the purpose of determining the amount on deposit in any fund or account, Investment Obligations in
which money in such fund or account is invested will be valued (a) at face value if such Investment Obligations
mature within six months from the date of valuation, and (b) if such Investment Obligations mature more than six
months after the date of valuation, at the price at which such Investment Obligations are redeemable by the holder at
his option if so redeemable or, if not so redeemable, at the lesser of (i) the cost of such Investment Obligations plus
the amortization of any premium or minus the amortization of any discount thereon and (ii) the market value of such
obligations.



The Bond Trustee shall value the Investment Obligations in the funds and accounts established under the
Trust Agreement as of the last business day of each month. In addition, the Investment Obligations will be valued
by the Bond Trustee at any time requested by the Agency Representative or Corporation Representative on
reasonable notice to the Bond Trustee (which period of notice may be waived or reduced by the Bond Trustee),
provided, however that the Bond Trustee shall not be required to value the Investment Obligations more than once in
any calendar month.

Events of Default
Each of the following events is an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement:
@ payment of any installment of interest on any Bonds shall not be made when due and payable; or

(b) payment of the principal or the purchase price or the redemption premium, if any, of any Bonds
shall not be made when due and payable, whether at maturity or by proceedings for redemption or pursuant to a
Sinking Fund Requirement or otherwise; or

(© default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements
and provisions contained in the Trust Agreement or any agreement supplemental thereto and such default shall
continue for thlrty (30) days or such further time as may be granted in writing by the Bond Trustee aﬁcr receipt by
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the Agency, of a written notice from the Bond Trustee SyCCAL]uLs such default and ,V\iamng the same to be
remedied; or

(d) an “Event of Default” shall have occurred under the Loan Agreement, and such Event of Default
shall not have been remedied or waived.

Remedies on Default

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default under the Trust Agreement, the Bond Trustee
may, and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall, by notice in writing to the Agency, the Bank and the Corporation,
declare the principal of all Bonds then Outstanding to be due and payable. Such declaration may be rescinded under
circumstances specified in the Trust Agreement.

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default under the Trust Agreement, then and in every
such case the Bond Trustee may proceed and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than twenty-five
percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall proceed to protect and enforce its
rights and the rights of the Holders under the laws of the State or under the Trust Agreement by such suits, actions or
special proceedings in equity or at law, or by proceedings in the office of any board or officer having jurisdiction,
either for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Trust Agreement or in aid or
execution of any power therein granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as the Bond
Trustee, being advised by counsel chosen by the Bond Trustee, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce
such rights.

No Holder may institute any suit, action or proceeding on any Bond for any remedy under the Trust
Agreement unless such Holder previously has given to the Bond Trustee written notice of the Event of Default under
the Trust Agreement on account of which suit, action or proceeding is to be instituted, and unless the Holders of not
less than twenty-five percent (25%) in the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding also shall have
made a written request of the Bond Trustee to act and furnished indemnity as required in the Trust Agreement and
afforded the Bond Trustee a reasonable opportunity to act and the Bond Trustee has refused or neglected to comply
with such request. Except as otherwise provided in the Trust Agreement, no Holder will have any right in any
manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Trust Agreement or to enforce any right
thereunder except in the manner provided in the Trust Agreement, and any individual rights given to such Holders
by law are restricted by the Trust Agreement to the rights and remedies therein granted.
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Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, no provisions of the Trust Agreement shall affect or
impair the right of any Holder to enforce the payment of principal of and interest on his Bond or the obligation of
the Agency to pay the principal of and interest on each Bond to the Holder thereof at the time and place in said Bond
expressed.

Notice to Bondholders

Except as described below, notice of any Event of Default will be mailed to all Holders at their addresses as
they appear on the registration books within thirty (30) days after the Bond Trustee receives notice of the same. The
Bond Trustee shall not be subject to any liability to any Holder by reason of its failure to mail any such notice.

Except upon the happening of an Event of Default with respect to, among other things, the payment of the
principal of and interest on or redemption premium on bonds when due, the Bond Trustee may withhold notice of
any Event of Default to Holders if in its opinion such withdrawal is in the interest of the Holders. The Bond Trustee
shall not be subject to any liability to any Holder by reason of its failure to mail any such notice.

Bank Deemed Holder

For all purposes of the provisions of the Trust Agreement regarding defaults and remedies and supplements
to the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement, the Bank shall, so long as the Credit Facility shall be in effect and
shall not have been dishonored and uncured and so long as any Bank Obligations remain unpaid, be deemed the
Holder of all Bonds. As such, the Bank may take all actions permitted by the provisions of the Trust Agreement
regarding defaults and remedies and supplements to the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement to be taken by
the Holders of the Bonds, to the exclusion of the actual Holders of the Bonds, as if the Bank was in fact the actual
Holder of all such Bonds; the purposes of this provision being to permit the Bank to direct the taking of actions and
the enforcement of remedies permitted by the provisions of the Trust Agreement regarding defaults and remedies
and to consent to supplements to the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement so long as the Credit Facility shall
be in effect and shall not have been dishonored and uncured and so long as any Bank Obligation remains unpaid.

Payment of Bond Trustee’s and Bond Registrar’s Fees

If the Agency fails to cause required payments to be made to the Bond Trustee or the Bond Registrar for
compensation and expenses, the Bond Trustee or the Bond Registrar may make such payment from any monies in its
possession other than proceeds of drawings on the Credit Facility and will be entitled to a preference therefor over
any Bonds Outstanding.

Modification of the Trust Agreement

The Agency and the Bond Trustee may, from time to time with the prior consent of the Bank so long as the
Credit Facility is in effect and has not been dishonored and uncured and any Bank Obligation remains unpaid,
execute such supplemental trust agreements as shall be consistent with the terms and provisions of the Trust
Agreement and the Loan Agreement and, in the opinion of the Bond Trustee, who may rely upon a written opinion
of counsel, shall not affect adversely or prejudice the interest of the Holders to cure any ambiguity or formal defect
or omission, to modify, alter, amend, add to or rescind in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in
the Trust Agreement, to grant to or confer upon the Bond Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds any
additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the
Holders or the Bond Trustee, to add to the provisions of the Trust Agreement other conditions, limitations and
restrictions thereafter to be observed, to add to the covenants and agreements of the Agency contained in the Trust
Agreement, to surrender any right or power reserved to or conferred upon the Agency, to comply with any federal or
state securities law, to provide for the issuance of Bonds in bearer form, to provide for the issuance of Bonds under a
book-entry system, or to provide for changes necessary or desirable in connection with the conversion of the Bonds
to a Fixed Rate, including the establishment of additional accounts for serial Bonds.

The Trust Agreement may be amended in any particular with the consent of the Bank so long as the Credit
Facility is in effect and has not been dishonored and any Bank Obligation remains unpaid and the Holders of more
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than fifty percent (50%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding, provided, that nothing contained
in the Trust Agreement will permit (a) an extension of the maturity of principal of or interest on any Bonds, (b) a
reduction in the principal amount of or the redemption premium or the rate of interest on any Bonds, (c) the creation
of a pledge of receipts and revenues to be received by the Agency other than the pledge created by the Trust
Agreement, (d) a preference or priority of any Bonds over any other Bonds, or (¢) a reduction in the aggregate
principal amount of Bonds required for consent to such supplemental trust agreement. '

Defeasance

When, among other things, the principal, premium, if any, and interest due upon all of the Bonds is paid or
sufficient money or Defeasance Obligations are held by the Bond Trustee for such purpose under the conditions
specified in the Trust Agreement, then the right, title and interest of the Bond Trustee in the funds and accounts

created in the Trust Agreement will cease and the Bond Trustee will release the Trust Agreement.

No Recourse Against Members, Officers or Employees of the Agency

No recourse under, or upon, any statement, obligation, covenant, or agreement contained in the Trust
Agreement; or in any Bond secured thereby; or in the Loan Agreement; or in any document or certification
whatsoever; or under any judgment obtained against the Agency or by the enforcement of any assessment or by any
legal or equitable proceeding by virtue of any constitution or statute or otherwise or under any circumstances, shall
be had against any member, officer or employee, as such, of the Agency, either directly or through the Agency,
respectively, or otherwise, for the payment for or to, the Agency or any receiver of either of them, or for, or to, any
Holder or otherwise, of any sum that may be due and unpaid upon any such Bond. Any and all personal liability of
every nature, whether at common law or in equity or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such member,
officer or employee, as such, to respond by reason of any act or omission on his or her part or otherwise, for the
payment for, or to, the Agency or any receiver of either thereof, or for, or to, any Holder or otherwise, of any sum
that may remain due and unpaid upon the Bonds secured by the Trust Agreement or any of them, is expressly
waived and released in the Trust Agreement as an express condition of, and in consideration for, the execution of the
Trust Agreement and the issuance of the Bonds.
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THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, made and entered inlo as of the 15t day of May,
m07.bymwwnmmnmm(ﬂw“ﬁxwmﬁ,lvmwufu
end fis legal and Chi Trust Company, a Vermont chartered
ngmpurtﬂmdulquliﬂedmwptmdndzninmalhemmuhuwy(m
“Master Trustee'

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Corporation s mithorized and deems it necessary end desirabie to entar
into this Indenture for the purpose of providing far the issuance from tme to time by Mzmbers
of the Obligated Group (as defined herein) of Obligations (ss defined bewein) to finance or
refinance the ecquisition or betterment of health care facilites or other faciities, or for other
1awful and proper purpeses; and

WHEREAs.:ilmlndﬂnngimnqm itnts this Ind: » valid ipd
mdngrecmmlmdhg»lhlﬂmhmbuumuperfomed.me&rpommnmduly
authorized the excvution end dedivery of (hls Indenture, and the Corporation, in (be cxercise of

ibe legnl rights and powers vestod in i, executes this Indenture and peoposes to make, execute,
Issue and deliver Obligations bereunder; and

WHEREAS, the Master Trustee agrees 1o accept end admimister the trasts created hereby,

NOW, THEREFORE, ideralion of the premises, of the by the Master
Tnmenfﬂ\:mher&ymhd.ndnfuwpwngofemdmhu and scceptanse of
Obligations issued b der by the regi wmﬁ:exwf.mdfarﬁwmafﬁxiuud
declaring the terms and conditi which O i be issaed,

Mwmmwmmmulmw»muwmw
owpers thereof, the Corpaoralion covenmnts and agrees with the Master Trustes, for the equal and
proportionate benefit of the respective registered owners fram tims to time of Obligations {ssued
hereunder, as follows:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PROVISIONS
CONCERNING INTERPRETATION

Section 1.0}, Definitiops. For the purposes hereaf unless te context ctherwise
mdmﬂnﬂhﬂngmdsndphmsﬁmllmﬁsklbmm

“Accoun Limn Amonnt™ mesas the prodnet of (x) the Coverage Factar mukiplied by (3)
an amoum equal to the Obligated Group's net patient accounts (as shown in its andited Financial
Statements for the preceding Fiscal Yesr).

or any Affiliate, and which is a professional Ttant having the skill and
experience necessary 1o render (be particular repart required by. the provisian hereof in ‘which
such requirement appears mnd which is scceptable to the Master Trustec.

“Corporate Charter” means, with respeet to any the erticles of i
certificare of Incorporation, corporate charter ar other organic document pursuant to which such
corparation is organized and existing under the aws of the United States of America or any siate
thereof.

“Cmpmm'l'moﬂine mhnﬁudﬂwMﬂuTManmw
trust businesy is conducted, which i the date hereol i located in Burlingtan, Vermont.

“C jon’’ mcsms The Brottichoro Retrent, #n eligible {astingion under Chaptey 134,
SeehouSBSl 1o 3862, inctusive, of Title 16, Vermont Statuies Annotated, organized and
ummwhmdmmﬂhmmdmgmndnymmﬁmu
tranaferce corporation thereof.

“Corporation Property” means all eapllal asseis of the Corporauon wherever, located,
inctuding without limitation sny or all land, | Id interests, buildings, fixtures, fumishi
equipment, pesonal property, hardware, supplies and investory of the Corporation, whether
sepnu:lyvnogdh:rwﬂh-nycnhu:\d:mmdlllnockmdbylthorpormmnny
corporation which may own any such capital asseis.

“Coverage Factor” mcans an amount d ined in d: with the following
schedule:

Long-Term Debt Service Coverage

Ratio for preceding Fiscel Year Coverage Factar

greater than or equal 10 4.0 100%

1ess than 4.0 but greater then or equal to 3.0 %

1ess than 3.0 but greater than or equal 16 2.0 0%

fess than 2.0 but greater than or equal to 1.2 5%

fess than 12 0%

“Cross-over Deate” means, with respect to Cross-over Refunding lndebicdness, the date
mwbmhlhcp-mapnlpommofﬂ-:relmd&m—ovuk:ﬁmdedlndebtedmssuwbepndu

d from the ds of such Ci Indeb
“Cros Refunded |ndehiadnass” Tndebed funded by Cn
R:ﬁmdinalmkhednﬁ:.

“Cross-over Refonding Ind u debied: issued for the purpose of
Rd'mdm;od\erlnﬂcblodmutflh:wvuuhormch“‘ ding Indebied; are i bly

) anas
3

“Acooumts™ means any right 1o payment for goods sold o leased ar for services rendered
which is not evidenced by an instrument or chattel paper, whether or not it has been eamed by
performance.

“Affiliaic™ means a hip, joird venture, - business trust or
similar entity organized under the laws of the United States of Ametica or any state thereof
w!ﬁeh(i)hdmcdyotmdxreclly controlled by any Member of tho Obligated Group, oz by eny
Person which directly ar indirectly controls any Member of the Obligated Group or (ii) controls,
directly or Indirecdy, eny Member of Ge Obligmed Group. Far purposes of this definition,
control means the power to direct the management and palicies of a Person through the
ownership of not less than a majority of jis voting securities or the right to designate or elect not
kess than a majority of the members of its baard of directors or other governing board or body by
coatract o otherwise.

“Agency” means the Vermont Educational xnd Health Buitdings Financing Agency, a
body corp mnd politic Imting & public Ji ufnnsmeanumm.Mmy
successar thereip.

“Balloon Long-Tam Indebiedness™ means Long-Term Indebtedness twenty-five percent
(25%) or more of the principal payments of which are due in a single year or forty percent (40%)
or more of the principal payments of which are due over two cansecttive years, which portion of
the principal i not required by the documents purnuamt 10 which sch Indebtedness is kssued to
be amortizad by redemption prior to such year.

“Capitalization” means the sum of the aggregate Long-Term Indebicdness of the
Members of the Obtigated Group, phus the aggregude unrextricied fund balanos of the nanprofit
Members of the Obligated Group and plus, without duplication, the sgeregate excess of mxsots
over Jiabilities of the for-profit Members of the Obligated Group, if smy, all es caleulated in
ucoordance with gessrally accepted scoounting principles.

“Code™ means Lbe Interal Revenne Code of 1986, as amended.

“CmnphhonhMMmmylm&memmﬁ:mW
of financing the completion of favilities for the or

contemplated st the time that such Loag-Term Indebtodness theretofors incurred was otiginaily
imcumred, and, ¢o the extent the same shall be applicable, in eccordance with the gencral plans and
specifications for such fecility as ariginally prepared with enly such changes as bave been made
in confonmance with the documents pursuant to which such Long-Term Indebiedness theretoftre.
incurred ws originally incurred.

“Consultant”™ means a firm or firms which is nol, and 0o member, stockholder, director,
officer or employee of which is, an officer or employee of any Manber of the Obligated Group

nriinzma
2

dqnsiwdlnmmmmepymmonﬂnnpphub]endﬂnphondneormmlydneo{
hmwmmdhmdnponawh&mwdcpm\mmmedbbupﬁdm
pay Interest on such Refunding Indedtedness unti the Crosy-over Date,

P Obligations™ means () e G Obligations, i) ovid
of ownership of a proportionate Interest in specified )|able O Obli; which
Govermmlm R Sblgt:g:e held by s bank or trust company erganized and existing wnder the
of nil ofAmencanrnnymlhmofinlhc of
Defeased e Obligations and (iv) evi of vfulwmy b (1“)
specified Defeased Mnmapal Obligations, which Defeased Mumulpal Obliganonsm held by [}
bank or trust company organized and existing under the kxwa of the United States of Arserica or
any state thereof in the capecity as custodian.

*“Defexsed Muricipal Obligations” bligations of state ar local government
mnapulbondmwhchmnﬂdlh:lﬂahﬁnﬂnghysmmd&hoﬂhmgss«vm
and Moody’s 1 Service, for the paymend of the principal of end

humonwﬂchnullMvehemmdebydeposnwimamwmwml(pursuantwm
agroement which may not be amended to provide for redemption on an carber date than that
oﬂgﬁnllymmpmdbympmlammmcdnewchwlmﬁmcuuﬂd)nf
(U] ' or {if) evid of hip of & interes)
in G Oblij ‘which Obligations ere held by a
bankorMcnmpmyorpnhdMmsungunderlhehmolﬂwl]mledSmuofAnmw
mylmzlhereol'mth:apau\yucnﬂ:fdm.thcunﬁnﬁupdﬂdpdo(wmmm
ship, when due @nd ble, shall provide
sufficient money to pay the principal of, red it ll'llymhneslnﬂsnd:
ob!tgﬂmuofmulocaluvummmldwﬂbondiam

“Defeased Obligations™ means Obligations fssued vnder a Supplemant thet have been
discharged, or provision for the discharge of which has been made, pursuant (o thelr temms.

“Derivative Indeblodness™ means alf or any portion of Indebicdness of a Mermber of the
Obligated Gmmmbunmmuxvmablculefwanyl\mnmodofmwlhe
mummwhdudaiaunuvwmgmpamrwlvﬁmnndodoﬁmm
1he requirements set forth in clauses (i) and (i) below:

()  the Member of the Obfigated Gromp issuing such Indebtednes

Mhnm&dwnmdm-wwhmeuof-llmm
portion of such Indebtedness within sixty (60) days of the date of issnance of such
Indebtedness, and

[H) nhmdgcwmduﬂudmdumnwm
mhhdehedncsbwsxnmuawubkmmmdhww
OmupwnllpayufxednuuﬂﬂnmdaorﬂeﬂedgeAmen\en(wmmu;e
variable ratle bome by such Ind: or such d: taken togather
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with the Hedge Agreement, results in a net fixed rate payablc by such Member of
the Obligated Group for such period of time (the “Hedged Fixed Rate™), assuming
such member of the Obligated Group and the party(ies) with whom such Member
of the Obligated Group has entered into the Hedge Agreement make all payments
required to be made by the terms of the Hedge Agreement.

“Event of Default™ mems, with respect to this Indenture, any ane or more of therse events
set forth In Section 4.01 hereof.

“Financis] S ™ meens the d or ined finascial of the
Wﬂdwu@oﬁdmnw:muhwmﬁdmkm

“leYm’mhﬁmlywokaHWGmup,vhﬁdﬂlb:ﬂan
commencing on January | of any year and ending on December 31 of the same year unless the
Miaster Trustee Is notifled in writing by the Obligated Group Representative of a change in such
petiod, in which case the Fiscel Year shall be the period set forih in such notice; provided,
bowever, that each Member of the Obligated Group shud] bave ee sume Flece] Year.

“Governing Body”™ mesns, when used with respect to eny Member of the Obligated
Group, its boand of directors, board of trusices or other board or group of individuals in which
the powers of much Member of the Obligaied Group are vested. e

“G Obligatis meams direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment
of the principal of and Interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United
States of America,

“Govermmnental Restriclions” mezns federal, state or other applicable govemmeatal laws
or regulations affecting any Member of the Obligated Group or its heaith care facilities placing
restrictions and Timitations an the (i) fees and charges 1o be fixed, charged and collected by any
Member of the Obligated Group or (i) the timing of the receipt of such revenves.

“Gross Receipts™ moans all Accounts and all revennes, income, receipts and money

(other than proceeds of borrowing) reoeived in any period by or oo behalf of any Member of the
Obligated Group, including, but without limitiog the lity of the foregoing, (a)

dexived from the operations of any Member of the Obligated Group, (b) gifts, grants, bequests,

donations and contributions and the income therelrom, exclusive of any pifis, grants, bequests,

the

donor to & particular inconsisteny with their use for the psyment of Obligations, (c)
roceeds derived from (i) insurance, except to the extent otherwise
i) A ftics and (i) inventory and other tangible and

(i)
intangible property, (v) medica) or hospital i indemnity ar or
egreemexnts end (vi) contreet rights and other rights and essets now or hereafter owned, held or
posseased by each Member of the Obligated Group, and (d) restals received from Lhe beasing of
reat or tangible personal property.

L)

“Insurance Consultant™ means a firn or person which is pot, end no member,

stockbolder, director, officer or employce of which s, an officer or employee of w1y Mamber of

the Obligated Grovp or an Affiliate, which is qualified to survey risks and to reccspmend
insurence coverage for hospitals, healib-rolated facilities and services and organizations engaged
in such operations and, if being retrined (o evalunte alt ive risk programs,
vy, rich hms a favorable patianal 7

“Llen” mesns mny mortgage, deed of trust or pledge of, security imerect in or
encumbrance on eny Property of suy Member of the Obligated Group which secures any
or any other obligation of any Member of the Obligated Group or which secures

any obligation of any Person, other than en obligation to any Member of the Obligated Groap.

“Long-Term Debn Service Coverage Railo™ mesns for any period of time the mtio
determined by dividing the Income Available for Debd Service by Maximom Anmua) Debt
Service.

"Long-Tam Debt Scrvice Requirement” means, for amy period of twelve (12)
cansecutive culendar months for which such determination is made, the aggregate of the
payments to be made In respect of principal of and imterest on Outstanding Long-Term
Indebtedness of the Obligated Group during such period, also taking into accoun (i) with respect
10 Belloon Lang-Term Jndebtodness the emount of principal which would be payable in srch
period if such principal werc amortized from the daie of incurrence theresf over a period of
tweaty (20) years (er, if the torm thereof exceeds rwenty (20) years, over a period equa! to such
term) on a level debl sarviee basis &t an interest rade set forth in an opinion of a banking
Institution, a fmancial firm or an # banking nsil X g in
bealth care finnnce detivered 10 the Master Trustee as the bnterest rate st which the Obligated
Oroup could reasonably expect to borrow the same by Isming an Obligation with the same term
es smsumed above, oz, If a binding iy d of prep hedule has beeh
esighlished between a Member of the Obligated Group and a eredit enhancement provides, then
the amount of principal required to be redcemed or prepaid in such period purssant to such
schedule shall be the mmount of principal taken into aveount; provided, however, that If the date
of calculation is within twelve (12) manths of the soturl meturity of such Indebiedness and no

f exists to such Indebiedness or ient moneys have oot been

gregated to pay such Indebizdness ot its actual maturity, the full amount of principal payable st
maturity shail be inchaded in such catculatlon, (H) with respect to Varisble Rate Indebtedness
thet is Long-Term Indebécdness the interest on such Indebtedness shall be calcolated ot the rne
which is equnl (0 the average of the actua) Interest rates which were i effect (weighted
sccording bo the length of the period during which each such intevest rate was in effext) for the
most recent iwelve-momih period ding the dnte of caiculation for which such
information is availahle (ar shorter period if such information is not available for 3 tordve-month
period), excep that with rexpect to new Variable Rate Indebiedness the interest mte for such
Indebtedness for the imitial inierest rate period shall be the inilial rate a1 which such Indebtedness
is swned and thereafier shall be caleulated as 5ot forth above end (jii) with respect to Derivative

i Qumes
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“Ommy‘mmyMdeMﬂnhuofmmﬁganedﬂth
any punner, directly or indirectly, any obligation of eny Persan that ks bt a Member of the
Obligated Group which obligation of such other Person would, if such obligation were the
obligation of 8 Member of the Obligated Group, jute Indebiedness b des. For the
purposes of this Indentire, a Guaranty shall bo valucd at twenty pereent (20%) of the obligation
30 guarznteed &1 the interest rate bome by such obligation on the date calculeted; provided,
boweves, that for purposes of determining whether 8 Member of the Obligated Group may incar
anmy.mOmmthhvﬂuednmhmmml(lw%)ofmcpﬁncipd
amount of the obligation so guarantecd ot the intevest sate borme by such indebiedness on the date
calculated; and further provided that in the event such Guarsnty shall have been drawn upon ar
for 8o long as any default shall have occurred and be contimuing with respect to the abligation s
gumnited, such Guananty shall be valued st one hmdred percent (100%) of the principal
amount of the obligation so guaranteed at the interest rate borae by such obligation on the date
calculated for a period ending two (2) years alter the date that such Guaranty was drawn tpon.

“Hedge Agrecmuent” means an interest naie swap, cap, collar, floor, forward or other
hedging agreement, srangement or security bowever denominated, expressly identified parsuant
o its terms as being entered jnto in comnection with and in order 0 hedge imterest rate
ftuctnations on all or a portion of any Indebtedness,

“Hedged Fixed Rete” means Hedged Fixed Rate as defined in the definition of Derivetive

“Holder” means the owner of any Obtigstion issued in registered form.

“Income Avallable for Debt Service” mess, wilh respect to the Obligated Group, as to
any Fiscal Year, the excess of over exp before depreciation, ization snd
interes expense on Long-Term Indebtedy s d ined in d with generally
acoepted accounting principles consistently applied; provided, however, that no deiermination
thereof shall take into occount unrealived pains or losses on investments, inoluding charges to

“Indebisdness™ mewars (i) aJl indeblodness of Merubers of the Obligated Group for
borrowed maney, (i) sl installment sales, conditional mles end capital lense obligations,
fncurred or assumed by any Member of the Obligated Group, and (jii) all Guarmmies (other thun
sy Guaranty by any Member of the Obligated Group of Indebtedness of any other Member of
the Obligated Group), whether constituting Long-Temn Indsbiedress or Shon-Term
Indebtodness. Indebiedness shall not include obligations of any Member of the Obligated Growp
to saother Member of the Obligated Group.

WY1 Errmges.

Indebtedness, the ioterest on such Indebtedness shall be calculated at the Hedged Fixed Rae;
provided, however, that interest shall be excluded from the determinstion of Long-Term Debt
Service Requirement 1o the exient the same is provided from the proceeds of the Long-Term
Indebtedness mnd provided further, however, that sotwithstanding the foregoing, the aggregate of
the payments to be made with respect 1o principal of and interest on Qutstanding Long-Termn
Indebtedness shall not include principal and intarest paysble from funds evaileble (without
reinvestment) in & Qualified Escrow (other than principat and interest so payable solely by
reasom of the Obligated Group's Riilure to make payroents Frem other sourees).

“Long-Term Indsbiedness” means all obligations for borrowed woney incumred or
assorned by any Member of the Obligated Group, including G: ies (except tics of
obligations of any Member of the Obligated Group by another Member of the Obligated Group),
Short-Term Indcbiedness If a binding commlunent by an Issthutional Jenda axists w provide
finencing to retire sch Short-Tenm  Indebtedh ad such provides for the
repayment of principal on 12rms which would, if such ke were it i
Long-Term Indebicdness, and the current portion of Losig-Term Indebiedness, for any of the
following:

()  woscy borrowed for m original ke, or renewable at the option of
the botrower for a perind from the dae originally incured, longer than one (1)
yer,

(i)  beases which are required to be capltalized in accordance with
B ly accepted g principles having an original term, or renewabile at
the option of the lessee for a period from the date ariginally fncurred, longer than
one (1) year; and

()] sale or conditional sale having an original
term In exeess of ane (1) year;

provided, bowever, that any Gasranty by any Member of the Obligated Group of any obligation
of any Persom, which obiigation would, if it were a direct obligation of such Member of the
Obligated Groap, Short-Term b shall be excluded

“Mbchinery and Equipment™ mesns &l persomal propesty of the Corporation comtitating
mechinery and equipment owned by the Corporation s of June 1, 2007, and any substitutions,
replacersents, products sed p thereof, 7 g the p ds of any i
‘with respect thereto.

“Master Trusice™ means Chitienden Trust Company, Burlinglon, Vesmont, in the trusts
created hereunder. .

“Maximum Annus] Debt Sevvice™ means the highest Long-Term Debt Service
Requisement for the then current or any succeeding Fiscal Year.

Lt s



“Member of the Obligated Group™ means, initially, the Corporation and, thereafier, any
Person which shall become a Member of the Obligated Group in 2ccordance with Section 3.11 of
this lndenture excluding any Person which shall have withdrawn fram the Obligated Group in
accordence with Section 3.2 of this Indenture.

“Net Book Valuc”, when used in connection with Property, Plant and Equipment or other
Pmpcnyofmy?qm.mmevﬂuofmmynﬂofmm deprociatian, & it
is caried on the books of such Pemsan fn conformity with generally accepted sccounting
principles, and when used In connection with Property, Plant and Equipment of other Propesty of
the Obligated Group, means the aggrepate of the valuss 0 determined with respect (o soch
Propesty, Plant end Equipment or other Property of the Obligated Group determined in such a
‘menmer that a0 portion of Property, Plant and Equipmeat or other Property is incinded more than
once.

“Non-Reaourse Indebiedness”™ means any Indebiedness secured by & Lien, the Liability for
which s cffectively imited 10 the Property, the purchase or acquisition or, in the ease of vacant
land only, the improvement of which was financed with the proceeds of such Non-Recourse
Indebtedness and which is subject to such Lien with ro recourse, directly or indiroctly, to eny
other Property of any Member of the Obligated Group,

“Obligated Group™ mesns, collectively, the Members of the Obligated Group.

“Obligsted Group Represeniative® means the Person at the time designeied to ast on
bebalf of the Obhgpled&onpm-mmmmel\rmﬂndmhumuhm which
certificate shall contnin & apccimen signature of such Person and sball be signed on behalf of the
Obligated Group by the President of the Carporation ar by his designee.

=Obligatian” means the evidence of particular Indebteduesa issued b "

“Officer’s Certificaie™ mesns » certificate signed by (i) the chaizman of the Goveming
Body, or the president or chief executive officer, or the chief financial officer, ar the chairman of
tbeﬁn:ncewmnﬂzmof\‘heGovmngBoﬁyofuchManbuofme()bﬂgmedﬁmupw(ll)lhe
Obligated Group Representative. Each Officer’s Certificate presented under this Indenture shall
mmhhbmngdehvu'edpunuamto(mddnllldmﬁfylh:mumbuni)lhis
Ind. and shall i by xnd use in all appropriaic instances all terms defined
msml(llmthulndunu:e E-d:otﬁwr'lcmiﬁmshallm(‘)utbemw
are in 1i: th the of the section or subsection pursuant to which mmh
Oﬁw:amﬁmkhﬁwmmmhmﬁlmmﬁmy
non~ompliance and the sieps beang ulm 1o rmdynn:h non-compliance, and (H) thar it is

being delivered together with eny or other dh srequired in
connection therewith,
“Opemaling Assets™ means any or all lsnd, interests, bujldi

eqmwmlnﬂwue.mdmvunoryofnd\Manhuuf!heObhwederputdmhs
NV SI2mte) 9

"Rd\mdlng Indebtedns is held by the holder of the Prior Indebtedness or Refunding
;?Worbylb:\lsluuagmlmonwofmwhﬁs
sukneclmnperfwmnityxmercstinfavotofmwder trustee o agent, (b) i beld in cash
ar invested in Defeasance Obligations, and (c) is required by the documents establishing such
fund ar sccount to be applied toward the Obligated Group's psyment obligations in respeet of the
Pﬂmlndehedna.pmvuhdlht.!hhsﬁmdnrmhﬁndedhwholeuhpanwmlh
ds of e ishing the same may require specified
paymemsofpnnmpalum(nrhmh)mrespec!urhkzﬁmdmgmmbem&
from tbe fund or account prior to the dalc oa which the Prior Indebiertness Is repaid In full.

"Rejaled Bond lndenmm mens any ind: bond bond
fion or othar pumtow:hlmofhwulﬂmlﬁusﬂd

“Retnted Bond Issuer” means the issuer of any issue of Related Bonds.

Reh!edaum’mlhzmbudswmhuohhpdmhmdbymymc.
temitary or posscasion of the Uniied States or any ion or political subdivi
bmﬁundull’:hwslhamf or lnyconmmedauu\onlymagmcyormrumcmﬂkyof eny of

d 1 issue obligati on behalf thereof (“governmentsl issuer’),
purnmnhonsmg]ckdnul Bond Indenture, theprocecdso!whlcb sre Joaned or otherwise made
avalbble to (i) & Member of the Obligated Group in considertion of the exeqution,
nnh:nnmﬂon-ﬂd:lnmyornObﬁgauenwwrudwwdadnd-nmnﬂm.
(li)-:yl’uwnottﬂ'thmnManluoflh:Ouxgalcdﬁmupmmﬁtﬂono!lb:mh
mdlpvunnmﬂm(A)bynlemormymdcbwdnesswnhoﬂmﬂwnfm
Person, end (B) by a Member of the Obligmed Group of u Guaranty in respect of such
indebtedmess ar otber obligation, which Guaranty s represemied by an Obligation.

“Related Bond Trusice™ means the {rustee or bond purchaser and its succzssors in the
trusis cyeated under any Related Bond Indesiure.

“Short-Term bodness” means all obligati mhu'ﬂmmamlyoful
obligation of a Persan which is a Member of the Obligated Group and the current portion of
Loog-Term dn bot including any by any Member of the Obligated Group of

any obligation of any Punn, which obligation would, if it were a direct ohligation of such
Member, constituie indebtedness due within ont ycar, incurred or assumied by one or more
Members of the Obligated Group, for any of the following:

{ Wnormdplwwmmmmmmhﬂwﬂ
for an original term, or renewable at the option of the borrower for & period from
the date originally incurred, of one (1) year or less;

(ii) paymmswﬂulasuwhﬂnmnmﬂmdmmmwh
Iy des having an original e, of renewabie at
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espoctive trades or busi ‘whether ly or together with other such assets, but not
including cash, iti mdo\h:rhvputyhddfahvmm

'OpmndB@ded’mmopnhnhwmmgngmdbymﬂmmcyn‘ﬁrmd’
atiamcys scceptable to the Master Trustee md:xpumai in the field of municipal bonds
whxse opinfons are p ly accepted by purch of bonds,

“Opinicn of Counsel” nmnvpinionhwmmsnmdbyumwywﬁmof
aftorneys, acceptable 1o the Master Trusies, who may be counsel for any Member of the
Ohllgdd(!mormbuml acceptable to the Master Trustes,

*Outstanding”, when used with reference to Indeitedness, means, =5 of ey date of
determination, o) Indebiadness theresofors usued or tncarrod and not paid and discharged other
mm(ooummmmemdubymwmrmuww»mm
Trusiee for cancellation, (ii) Indebredness decmed paid end no longer Ouistanding and (iif)
OhllyﬂomInll:uofwhmhmobhgahonshnbemmmdmdddwmmm

been peid pursuant 1 the p of the Suppls destroyed, lost or
stolen Obligations unless proof satisfa to the Master Trastee has been received that any such
Oumtmuhldby-bomﬁdcpmd\m.

“Permitted Liens” mexns those Liens or liens described in Section 3.05 hereof,

an individoal, it " o
mmmmmulmwnwulmwm
thereof, or any other entity.

“Pledged Assets” means all Gross Receipts of the Members of the Obligated Group, pow
owned ar heresfier acquired, and all procesds thereof, nd al) Machinery mnd Equipment of the
Members of the Obligated Group, and sl proceeds thereof.

“Property” means any and all sights, titlet and interests in end to eny and all property
whether real or personal, tkngible or intangible and wherever situsted.

“Property, thnqumpmenl"mmuﬂMoﬁhMunbmoflh:%ﬁgmd
Gsoup which ks property, plant and equi] mder P
“Put Indebttedness™ means Long-Term indebtodness twenty-five percent (25%) or more

of tho principal of which Is required, &t the option of the owner thercof, 1o be purchased or
redecroed ot opz time.

“Qualified Escrow™ means a segregated escrow fund or othey simiter fund or acooual
which (a) is irrevocably established s security for Long-Term Indebtedness previously incurred
and then outstanding (herein referred to 28 “Prior Indebiedness™) or for Long-Term Indebtedness,
if any, then to be incurred to refund Outstanding Prior Indebiedness (herein referred to as

NY1 @2eDed
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the option of the lessee for n period from the date originally incurred, of ooe (1)

year or fess; and
@ der ingaall hese or conditional ssle
baving an originel tema of one (1) year or less.
“Statc” means the Stetc of Vermont.
“Supplement” means an ind: ppl J 10, and authorized and executed pursamt
to the teyms of, this Indenture.

“Tex-Exenmpt Organization” means & Person organized under the haws of the United
States of America o7 any state theveol which ks an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of
the Code and exempt from federal income tmxes under Section 501(a) of the Code, or
corresponding provisions of federal income tax laws from time Lo Gme in effecl

“ToﬂOpenlxngRﬂuns"mmmmmhwwm Aslomyp:md
of time, total sccepted
mmmgwmplamﬂ:nﬂylmlbd.

“Transfer™ meuns any a6t of occurrence the resadt of which Is 1o dispossess sny Person of
any ssset or imterest therein, including specifically, but without limitation, the forgivensss of any
debl.

“Yariable Rate Indebiedness™ means any postian of Indebiedness the interest mte on
Mumeﬂ&dnﬂ:mdmunﬁxdwwma

Section 1.02. Interpretation. (2} Any reference herein to any officer or member of the

OvvanlnanodyohManbcrofﬂncObkgatedGrmMmcludel!wunmndnuwlhir

Mswumuﬂﬂumnumwwmorhwwmmhwﬁmy
performing their functions.

(®)  Unless the context otherwise indi words i ing the singular shall
nclude the plurs) and vice versz, and the use of the neuter, masculine, or feminine gender is for
mmﬂy-nd:hﬂlbedwnadhmmmdmduﬂeﬂ\em masculine ar feminine

{c) Wmum«mmafwm,mmhwmmdhma
expense is required 10 be or mny or other
emnpummnkreqmredlnhenud:brlhep\upmhcmfnrofwwdommﬂnﬂ
centificate executed and delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Indenture, the eame shall
be done in sccordance with generally soccpted accounting principles.

12



(d)  Headings of articks and sections herein and in the teble of cantents bereol”
arc solely for lence of refe do not ite a part hereof and shall pot affect the

meaning, construction or effect beyeof.

(e)  Provisions calling for the rodanption of Obligations or the calling of
Otligations for redemption do not mesn of include the payment of Obligations st thelr stated
‘maturity or maturities,

. [43) Provisions calling for or referring to the delivery by esch Member of the
Obligated Group of financial satements for eny givea period shall be deemed satbsfied if the
bined or Jidated financial for such period, prepared in sccordance with

[ d unting principles, of such eniities are so delivered.

ARTICLE Il

INDEBTEDNESS, AUTHORIZATION, ISSUANCE AND TERMS OF OBLIGATIONS
Section 201. Amount of Indebtedness. Esch Member af the Obligated Group may
fesuing Obligations b

incur Indebtedness by der or by ereating Indebtedness under sy other
d The principal amount of Indebtedness created under other documents and the sumber
end ipal amount of Obligati idencing Indebiedness that may be created hermumder are

not limited, except ag Bmited by the provisions hereof, including Section 3.06, or of any
Supplement. Any Membsr of the Obligated Group proposing to incur Long-Term Indebiedness,
whether evideneed by Obligations issued b der or Indet created under any other
documents, ahmli, at least scven (7) days peior to the due of the incurrence of such Long-Tern
Indebtedness, give written notice of fs intention ® Incor such Long-Term

Redated Bond Trustee with s copy of each such notice. Each Member of the Obligated Group ls
jointly and sevenally Hable for each and every Obligation.

Sectlon 2012 Designation of Qblipati Obligations shall be lsxued in such forms ss
msy from time to time be created by Suppl permittad b d Obligation or
saries of Obligations shall be created by a different Supplement and shall be designated in such s
oatmar as will differentiate such Obligstion from uny other Obligation,

Section 2.03. Exsquiion wnd tion bigations. Each Obligation shall be
executed for and on betmif of the lommr thereof, by the cheirman of its Governing Bady, its
jpresident or & vice president and attested by ity secretary or an assistant scoretary. The signatures
of cither ar both of such officers may be mechanically ar ph hically reproduced on the
Obligation. If any officcr whosa signature appears on any Obligation ceaset to be such officer
before delivery thereof, such signature shall remmin valid and sefficient for all purposes as if’
such officer bed romzined ip office until such dedivery. Each Obligation shzli be manually

Y T
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()  Each Member of the Obligated Group shal) have delivered to the Master
Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating that, to the best of the knowledge of the signer therenf,
cach af the Persons who is to be 2 Holder of such Obligation upen the original issusnce thereof is
not acquiring the interess rep d by such Obligation directly or Indirectly with the asvets of,
or in ion with sny ar ding by it in any way hvolving, any
employee benefit plan with respect 1o which (7) any employes of any Member of the Obligated
Groap ar the Masier Trustec, in its individua) capacity, is a participant or (H) any Member of the
Obligated Group or the Master Trustee, in ity individual enpacity, or any of their affilistes is
otherwiss a party in intevest, all within the meaning of the Employes Retirement Income Security
- Actof 1974, as amended,

ARTICLE T
PARTICULAR COVENANTS OF THE OBLIGATED GROUP

Section 3.01. ity; Restricti i ed ts; Pay t of
Principal and Interest. (2) Any Obligation issued pursuam to this Indenture shall be ¥ gencral
obligation of the issuer of such Obligation.

To securc the prompt payment of the principal of, rodemption premium, If any, and the
intesest oa the Obligations mnd the performance by each Member of the Obligated Group of its
other obligations hereunder, each Member of the Obligated Group hereby pledges, assigns and
grams to the Master Tnusice 8 secutity Imerest in its Pledged Assets, Prior fo its receipt of a
request from the Master Trustoe pursoant to Section 3.01(d) of this Indenture, any Member of the
Obligated Group may sefl, or incur Indebtedness sccured by, ell or uny pari uf ity Pledged Assets
free of such security interest, subject, however, W thie provisions of Sections 3.08, 3.06, 3.08 and
3.09 of this Indenture. In the cvent of such sale or incurrence of Indebiedness, upon request of
Member of the Obligatod Group, the Master Trustee shall execute a selease of its secarity interest
with respect to the assets 90 sold or pledged as security for such Indebtedness. Upon the request
of moy Member of the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee will provide to sach Member of the
Obligated Group a written centification es to whether (here s currently ouistanding a request
from the Master Trustee pursmt to Section 3.01(d) of this Indennsre.

At least one (1) business day prior to the delivery of thre first Obligation hereundey, there
shall be delivered to the Mester Trustee duly d financi: 0 evidence the
aforementioned security interests in the form required by the Vermont Uniform Commercial
Code with coples sufficiem in mumber for filing o the office of the Secretary of Sime in
Montpelier, Yermont.

Each Member of the Obligated Group shall alss execute and defiver to the Master Trustee
from Ume W Ume such or k W this Indh as may be peesssary or
appropriate lo inchude a5 ppewrity hereunder its Pledged Assele. In axidition, each Member of the
Obligated Group eovenants that it will prepare and file such financi or ch
to or inations of existing fi i which shall, in the Opinion of Counse), be

w1
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ruthenticated by en suthorized officer of the Master Trustee, without which authentlcation no
Obligation shall be entitied to the benefits heveof.

o The Mester Trustee's suthestication cettificate shall be substentially in the following

MASTER TRUSTEE'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE
‘:Ihs.mdnddeT:TmhﬂebyuﬁﬁaMlh'aObWNm_bmef
described in s AT

the Ob

Chinenden Trost Company,
8 Muster Trustee

By

Authorized Sigmtary

Boction 2.04. Supplement Creating Indebtedness. Any Member of the Obligated Group
and the Master Trastee may from fime to time enter tio & Supplement in order to create
Indebtedness b der. Such Suppl shall, with respect to an Obligation evidencing
Indchtsdness created therehy, st forth the date thercof, and the dute or daics on which the
principal of, redemption premivm, if ey, and interest on such Obligrtion shell be payable, and
the form of such Obligation and such other terms and provisions as shall conform with the
provisioas hereof,

Seoction 2.05. Conditions to Jssuance of Obligations Hereunder. 'With respect to
Indebtedness created h der, simul 1y with or prior to the execition, authentication and
ddivaynf‘““ P vid '_nn‘- debred mblﬂl' di

(&) Al requirements end conditions to the issunce of sach Obligations, if

y, set forth in the Supplement apd in this Indenture shall tave been complied with and

:kﬂed,nfl_pmﬁdedhnOﬁz’lCuﬂﬂm,leuﬁﬁdmofwhkhﬁlbewvudw
Master Trustee;

()  The lssuer of such Obligations shall have delivered o the Master Trusize
83 Opinion of Comnsel o the effect that (7) registration of such Obligations under the Securitk
Aaorl”i.unm&mwlﬁnﬂmumeMwhSmlmimmm
Indenture Act of 1939, a3 mmended, Is not required, or, If such registration or qualification is
required, diat el spplicable repistration and qualiBestion provisions of sid scts have been
camplied with, and (i) the Master Indentare and the Obligations are valid, binding asd

ligations of he Members of the Obiigriad Group in accordancs with their tonms,
mqtnaﬁnmeabﬂilymbeﬁmhdbybanlaupwy.hudmcymmmm
ereditors’ rights generaily end wsund equity principles; and

L
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mylocomplywilhapplicab)chwmuIwnhddmwwhmcoblimm
Including, without limitation, (i) any Pemson becoming & Member of the Obfigated Group
p\-mbsulnulnmﬂshhnmut(ﬂ)anyuunbaomzobliwed&onpmsingw
be 8 Member of the Obligated Group pursaant 10 Section 3.12 of thés Indenture. In particular,
each Member of the Obligated Group covenants thet it will, at least thirty (30) days prior to the
piration of any financi prepare and file such contimuation statements of existing
financing statements as shall, i the Opinion of Counsel, be necessary to comply with applicable
Tow and shall provide to the Master Trustee written notice of such filing. I the Master Trustee
shall rol have received such notioe ot least twenty-five (25) days prior (o the expimtion date of
any such financing setement, the Master Trusiee shall prepare and file or cause ench Member of
duouw&wbmcwﬁkuﬂcmﬁnmﬁmminumdymb
esyure that the secunity inicrest in the Pledged Assets shall remnin perfected.

()  Exch Member of the Obligated Group covenents \bat it will not pledge o
grant 8 securily interest in (except as provided in (a) above nd as may be otherwise provided in
this Indenture) any of its Piedged Assets.

(c)  Each Obligation shall be a joint and several obligation of each Member of
the Oblignicd Group. Each Member of the Obligated Group covenants promptly to pay or camse
to be paid the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on each Obligation izsued
mnlbeplnqmﬂ)ehamdlnm:mmviﬁhcein,lntheSnppkmmumlin
nﬂouiw‘h;nmdiqmufmmwmwnmmﬁty,mm&r

(d)  Each Member of the Obligated Group covemmts that, subject 1 the rights,
if any, of holders of Permitted Liens, if an Event of Default shall have occumed and be
continving, it will, upon request of the Master Trustee, deliver or direct 10 be dalivered to the
MﬂnTmsuea!leuthdpumﬁlm:hEveuofDeﬁnhhsbmand,ntth-
Receipts i be applied in accandance with Section 4.04 of this Indentare,

Section 3.02. Covenants as 1o Corporate
Ez2ch Member of the Dbligated Group hereby coven
® Except as atherwlse expressly provided herein, to preserve its corporate or
other logal exdistonce and all its rights and liconsos o the axtent nocessary ar desirable fo the
opamionoﬂhhﬂuﬂlndaﬁ:ndbeqm!iﬁadhdnb\nlmheachjurisdiclionvdueih
umu-ﬂdempcﬂywlhmdiummdmnnhqmﬁﬁwﬁum;wm
howem.matnothingheminmmﬂmdxhllb:mwlhohligauilmmﬁnorwuuvemy
nfluﬁ;hswllunsa,nIuwmdu.hlbejudpmo[lu(}ovcmingbody.mﬂinnu
conduct of its business.

()] Mdlﬁm:wunsiﬂ?mpcnymhminuind,mmwh
good repair, working arder and condition and all needed o proper repairs, Fnewals and
lqlmﬂsmmrxuhm;wvﬁdugho“m,ﬂmmﬁmmmhmkmﬁm

16

WY axmsey



shall be construed to (7) prevent it from ceasing 1o operate any portion of its Property, il in s
Judgmml(:vndcﬂced,inlh:emol’mdlamahunoﬂaerlhmmlhmdnmrymmnf business
by an op of a Consultam) Jt is advisable not to operate ibe same, or if it intends
1o scll ar otheywise dispose of (he same end within a reasanable time endeavors 1o effect such
sate or other dispositon, or (i) to cbligate it to retain, preserve, repair, renew ar replace any
Property, leases, rights, privileges or licenses no langer used or, in the judgment of ks Governing
Body, useful in the conduct of its business.

(©  To do all thingy reasonably necessary to conduct ity affairs and carry on lis
business and operations in such manner as 1o comply with any and all applicable lsws of the
wummmmmmfwmwmmmammum

or requi of any go hority refative to the condoct of ils business
and the ,oﬂu; perties; provided, that nothing berein contained shatl
require it o comply with, observe and eanform to any such law, order, regulation or requiremnent
of any governmental autherity so loog as the validity thereof or the applicability thereof to )t
shall b contested in good faith.

() To pey promptly all lmwful taxss, g i charges and
& any time levied ar assexsed upon of agalnst it o its Property; provided, however, that it shall
Tave the right to contest In good fuith any such taxes, charges or assessments of the coflection of
any sech sums and pending such eontest may delay or defer payment thereof,

) Topayp 1y or otherwise satisfy and al) of its Indebtod:
mﬂuﬂdunmtuﬂchhungmnsmnnﬂmﬂnmmmwpuyahlg«hm
any thereof created and Outsiands ) whose validity,

nmnuoreollwtab\lxkyubuummhdmpodﬁilh.

) At all times to aomply with all terms, covenanis and provisions of amy
Licos af such time cxisting upan Hts Propety or any part thereof or seewing sny of its
Indebtedness.

(®  To procure and mainiain al} necessary licenses and permits and maintain
acereditation of its health care facilities (other than these of a type for which stcreditation §s not
i] bylhe.blnl"‘ isxdon on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations ar ofher
1i ig body; provided, however, that it need pot comply with this
Secuon:I(n(l)xfmdlolhsmthh!sﬁomunghdylhnhlwdﬂam:dmpdﬂtb.
evideooed by u resclution of the Govaming Dody, that such compliance is not in Its best intarests
mdlhmlmkornnhwmﬂhuwmldmmﬁﬂinﬂybnpﬁrhslhﬂilybmlnm
when due,

8o lang ax this Indenture shall remain in foros and effect, each Member of
the Obligated Group which is e Tex-Exempt Organization al the tims j1 becomss a Mamber of
the Obligated Group agrees, 5o long es ell amounts due ar to bocome duc on ey Related Bond
have not been fully paid 1o the holder thereaf, 1o take oo action or 1o £xil to take eny action which

wyiaDmtas
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mmmmm:-:mmﬁmsmmm«mwmmwm
risk i in state or faloal insurance programs, fo iake
adwofmwfedmlhwswwubuuﬁumdmlmmmndmnmwm

1izhility, or 10 establish or in other risk all as may
be the C [ - iate risk by the
Obhgmed Gmup, I any Mamber of the Obligated Gmp shall be self-insured for any coverage,
the repont of the imurance Comsultamt mentioned above shall state whether the smticipated
ﬁn&ngefmyulﬂnmwl\mdu:cmmlly so«nd and lrmt.mznqmmdﬁmdmg b
produce such resull and sech age shall be d by such C

than lly. If the I Consaul ines that the anticip fundlng nfa.ny self-

insurance fund is not actuarially somd, the Obligated Group covenants thed it will fund such self-
insurance fund in the manner secommended by the Inswrance Consultant.

Section 3.04. Insupance and Condemnation Proceeds. Amounts received by my
Member of the Obligated Group a3 insurance proceeds with yespect to any casulty loss or as
condamnation awards oy be wsed in such mammey as the recipient may determine, including,
MMlhﬂm-mmhmwmewmwpmpaymcmofmmem
accardance with the terms thereof and of any perl subject to with
ﬁumvnmheoﬁpmmdﬂnf\hmdmhmmdsammm
mummwhuwmmmmumuowomemvmdm
Propecty, Plam snd Equipment of the Obligated Group, each Member of the Obligated Group
agrees that it will immediately potify the Masier Trusiee end that it will, within one hundred
twenty (120) days after the casalty loss or taking, defiver to the Masiey Trustee:

(" (1)) An Officar’s Certificste certifying the expected Loag-Term Debt
Service Coverage Ratio for each of the two (2) periods of twelve (12) full consecutive calendar
mantks following the dete on which puch procecds or awards are expected lo have been fully
applied, which Long-Term Dett Serviee Coverage Ratio for each such period is not Jess than
1.25, ndmbyplnfumﬁmmulmwbrmhnnd:pcnod,mpﬁdbyl
of the refevant fons as to the use of such proceeds or
mﬁ,uponwhwhnnﬁmfmammmhmd.dwmhnzoﬂber‘sm
ndunufymgfwﬁa&uﬁemmufaﬁpro%wmﬂgmgmhawlﬁoﬂuam
funds of the Obligated Group, shall be sufficient to pay the estimated replacement cost, which
estimate shall be oanfirmed in an independent architect’s report, and (i) if the smownt of such
Mummmmmtbnymﬂlyhnuwndemnmanm
pum\(20%)01'!1!Bmkamof!heleﬂy,ledelhONqMGmp.l
written report of a Consultant confinming such certification; or

®) A written report of a Consultanl stating the Conmtant's

datiore, i dations a3 (o the use of such procezds or awards, to cause

lbelmg—TamDeb\SavieeCovemgcmfornd\nI\hepmodsdsaibedn:uhmm(-)

of this srciton 1o be not less than 1.25, or, if in the opinion of the Consultant the atinironert of
such level i3 impracticable, a the highes practicablc level which shall not be less than 1.00.

oy G
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eclion ar fajlure 10 act (including smy sction or Milure 1o act which would resell in the altzration
o7 Joss of its statis as & Tax-Exempt Organization) In the Opinion of Bond Counsel, would result
in the intorest on any Relsed Bond becaming included In the gross Incoroe of the holder thereof
[or Federa) income tax purposes.

() To maiomin at all tmes cash, cesh equivalents and unrestricted
hmwhnmwnlmqﬂwﬂﬁy:dopmhgmnhmﬁdﬁwm
most recerd Financial Su shall mean those funds not
nmmwywmmwmmngnagxwmmsmmmu Operating expense
shal) exclude depreciation, amortization and other non-cash charges,

Section 3.03. Insurance. (a) Esch Member of the Obligated Group agrees that it will
ufmdn,ormwb:mmnudpcd,mmmwlmwuhogmﬁcnw

h Consultast to be ) of such and [ such amounts es are
mnuliyunwdbyhospmlﬁeﬂnl:ufsmularwpe-damnd@nﬂmdlnshum
antomadly insured against in with hospital and hospital facilities of
simitar type and size, including, but aol Yimited to: (i) comprehensive general public Jiability
b including blanket J liabiltty and ile i i ovmed and
hired bif ding coliision snd hensd _,.mn).(ix) profmionnl
lisbitity ar medical malpractice , Git) fire, flood, Hightni " i

riot, fiot di umkn,clvil dmmscﬁmnhwaﬁ,mdmnﬂmifmmmd

and

business inmterruption
hmmwmmsn:hpwds,(‘w)wkm mpminnnmlnd(v)hilumu

(b)  The Oblignted Group shall retsin sn Insrance Cossalimt to review the.

i of the Members of the Obligatod Group from time 10 time (but nol Jess

frequently Usam triermi ). 10 the In Consultani makes recommendstions for the increme
ohnycovmge.lhObhywdQuwmlwmumuhhu\asdm:ovmgoh
with such dati m;mm-wmumofhom-w

Group Rep tat such In whaole or in pat, are in the best interests of
the Obligated Group, Notwithstanding enything in this Section to the contrary, cach Member of
the Obligated Group shall have the right, withont giving rise to an Event of Defauht solely on
much accound, (7) to maintain insurance coverage below that most recently recommended by the
hmmOmﬂmHn:cHWGmupﬁnnﬁnmlheMme(nlwpoﬂd\h
Inmmnce Consultant to (he effect that g inswance so provided affords elther the greatest
”mwmmmmmmm-%nmmm:mjmm;:

mmmmmdwnmbymmo!mwfedmlm
mqbuuﬂuhmhﬂumdieﬂmﬂmﬂpmﬂcemw.wmnadopt

prog which the
ible, Including, withoul limitati hsdhmnewwbdewmmuﬁlv&nﬂyorh
lon with other institutions, to participate n of captive b s 1o

Bn:hMemhuorﬂuObhgmemmlilwmmanhpmceedsormw
Ihemupuminedbth,m}ym dance with the described in subseetion (g),
in {b), of this section.

Section 3.05, Limitgtions an Creatign of Liens. (s) Esch Member of the Obligated
Group agrees that it will net creste or suffer to be crested ar pamit the exiience of any Lien
upon Pledged Assets or an Property now cwaed or hereafter acquired by it other them Permitted
Liens.

(b)  Pemnitted Liens shall consist of the Tullowing:
()  The Lien on the Piadged Asseas created by Section 3.01(a) of this

(i)  Liena arising by reason of good faith deposits with any Member of
the Obligated Group in conneeticn with leases of real estare, bids ar cantracts
{other than contracts for the payment of money), deposits by my Membes of the
Obligated Group to secure public or statutoey obligations, or o secure, or In fieu
of, surety, stay ar appeal bouds, and deposits 8¢ securily for ths paymem of taxen
or assessments or other similar charges;

(i) Amy Lien wising by rexscn of depasita with, or the giving of any
form of szourity 10, any governmental agency or any body created ar approved by
Muymmﬂmﬁmhmypumowumymnmqmmdbthc

iation a3 a condition to the ofnybusm:sswlln

uncmployment insurance, pension or profit eharing plans or other social security,
or to share in the privileges or benefits required for companies participating in
such arangements;

{iv)  Any hoigmem lien of Jess than $230,000 against any Member of
lheohuu.edﬂmrpmhulsmjndgmemhbdngmm good faith
and executlon thereon Is stayed and eny judgment llen which is eentified by an
Officer’s Certificate to be fully covered by adequate insurance or finded reserves
of the Obtigated Group;

() (A) Rights reserved to or vested in my municipelity or public
wtharity by the tesros of any right, power, franchise, gram, licenss, permit or
pravision of law, -ﬁeammyhmr(ﬂ)mylmmmthfamxes,

assesyments, levies, fees, waler aad mvuus, wvamneutni and
similar charges and any Liens of mechani

vendors for work or services performed or fals furnished in i wntb
20 )
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such Property, which are not due and payable or which zre oot delinquent, or the
munludavofﬂﬁ,mﬁmwwmﬂmmumyd
or, with respect to liens of mechanis Iaborers, fiers or vendors
Iwnh:endw{crfcwuthmmhmdmddgbly(lm)dxys;((;m,
rights-of-way, servimudes, restrictioms, oil, gas or other mineral reservations and
other minor defects, encumbrances, and irregularities in the title to any Propesty
which do ot materhally bopair the use of such Property or materially and
dversely affect the vatue thereof} (D) to the extent that it affects title to any
Propesty, this Indeature; and (E) landlord’s liens;

(vi) Any Lien which is existing on the date of suthentication end
wmdmwowmmmmisw

{vil) Anyugnonp!adga,pﬁsofm(mdommm&ns
Rexeipis) to be reccived in the futare including any income derived from the
investment thereof;

(vil)) (X) Any Lien on fnveatory securing Shon-Term indebtedness
Mdounumc:dmry-ﬁvewaﬂ)o(thcmvmmfot
(y) any Liem on ng Shor-Term
Indebwdnaswmdldosnmwm-ﬁv:wmm%)onhcﬁbnm
valus thereof;

()  Any Lico In faver of & trustes oo the proceeds of Indebredness
prior to the spplicatian of such procecds;

{x)  Any Lien scouring aft Obligations on & perity basis;

(=) Lizns subordinate 10 the lien described in clausc (x) of this
Munﬂrq\umlby-mwdavdﬁdumm isvued;

(xH) Liens oo moneys deposlied by patients or others with any Member
ofﬁcoﬂlpwdﬁmpummfwornmmfwmemofplﬂem

(xi) Liens on Property received by any Member of the Obligated Group
through gifis, grants or bequesis, such Liens being due to restrictions on such
gifts, gramts ar bequests of Property or the income thereom;

(xiv) Lkmmhopmydmmnghtsofﬂmdmypymh
of amounts paid to any Member of the Obfigated Qroup;

(xv) Rights of the United States of America under Title 42 United
States Code Section 29)i;

2]

that the forecasted Iann-TadeuSﬂvbeCuvcmge Ratlo, 1aking the proposad
Long-Tenm Indebiedness indo account, for (1) in the eme of Long-Term
Indebtedness (other than a Guaranty) to finance capital improvements, ench of the
two (2) periods of twelve (12) full conserutive calendar months succeeding the
dncouwhlannhuphl p ue p mhln % ar (i
in the case of Long-Term 1 i pital i orin
memornom,udwflh:ma)pmodsohwdv« (IZ)ﬁxllwnnunm
calendar momths micceeding the date an which the Indebtadnesy is incurred, is not
lexs than 1,35, in each case 3 shown by forecasted balance shests, stateracnts of

od exp md of changes in fimancie] position for each
suxd petiod, jed by o of the relevan ions upon which
such forecasted stalements are based; wwmhuwcva,lhnf the lmg-Tem
Debt Service Coverage Ratio calculaicd pursuem to this clause {a)(liXB) is
greater then 150, an Officer’s Certificate may be subsiltmied for the required
Consultant's report.

()  Completion Indeitedness may be incurred withowt Himlwlen; provided,
however, that grior to0 the 4 of C the Obligated Group
eﬂimntmg

ve shall furnish to the Master Trustee: nmmcneormuvhmu
costs of completing the faellies for which Bw ; 8
certificate of the chiel' Bnancial officer of the Member of the Obliguted qu; for which
Completion Indebtedness is o be Incurred ceriifying thel the amount of Completion
Indebtedness o be Incurred will be sufficient, together with other funds, if applicable, to
complete construction of the facilities in respecs of which Completion Indebtedness i to be

() Loog-Tenn hmmyhmkfmepurposenfnﬁmding
any Outstanding Long-Term lndebtedness without limitation 1f, prior to the incurrence of such
l.ong—'rmlndebtednm maekuwumumm.ao;imorcmm

npon the i of soch d Long-Tam Indebtedness and
pmcecdsxhercof(ontheCmmDatc h!heuuof&mvumﬂndmhﬁdmdms).lhe
Long-Term lodebtedness to be refunded thereby will no Jonger be Outstanding.

[C)] SlwnTumlnda&edmmaybekmmvdlf|mmﬂy-ﬁwlbe
i of such ncipa) amount of all such
hd:budm(uchmveofdn&hm—?mlmmdewnbedmhm
plus the currem pontion of Lang-Tern Indebiedness does not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the
“Toal Operating Revenues for the most recont period of twedve (12) consecutive calendar months
for which the Financial Statements have been reported upon by independent centified public
sccountants; provided, however, tha there shall be a period of m least twenty (20) consecative
calendar days during each such period of rwelve (12) comseative calendar months during which
#ll Short-Term Indebredness, other than Short-Term Indebledness incurred pursiant to
Mm&)of&nSﬂmB%M&melmhmdmo&aw

Y] a2pmase )

]

(o) Any Lien securing NonRecourse Indebiedness penmited by
Section 3.06(g) bereof;

(xvii) Any Lien oa Accounts thal are sold pursuaat to Section 3.08(c)
hereof or that @e pledged 1o seeure Indebtedness permitied by Section 3.06(d) or
3.06(h) hereof; and

{xvill) Any Lien saciiring a Hedge Agreement.

Section 3.06. Limitations on Indebedness, Each Member of the Obligated Group
wvamlxandngtaeslha!,aﬁuﬁwlmmoemddehvﬂyufolillgauonNo 1, Obligation No. 2,
Oblig: Ne. 3 and Obligation No. 4 adidmed.soanylManillnoﬂwr
myhdcbw&nmilhwﬁvhlmwdlﬂhmmcmﬁbyhoﬁlmd
Group, suoh Indebtedness could not be incuared pursuant to subsections (2) to (h), inclusive, of
this Section 3.06, and it will not incur any Long-Tern Indebtedness if, immediately after the
£ of tbe d Long-Term Indebied: the aggregate principal amowunt of all
Long-Term Indebtednexs would excoed scventy piyoemt (70%) of Capitalization.  Any

may be incmred only in the manner end pursuant 1o the terms set forth in such

(a) lmg-Tmlndmmyb:lncuMi!wbrmhmmofm
Long-Term Indebiedness oae of the followk di

(0] lhunhd:lhadblheMasaTmuOfﬁu‘sCemfue

ied by the historical sndited fi } repovt(s) of the independent

certified public mmmzmmdbelow) eenifying that the Long-Term Debt

Serviee Coverage Ratio, taking all Long-Tenn Indebted and the

langTamlndebxedmlh:pwposedwhmndmhmnnlnhd

been incurred a1 the beginning of such period, for the mast recemt period of
moaths i

indopendent cedificd public sccountants memianed below) centifying dmt the
Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio, taking fnlo acoount all Outstanding
Long-Term Indebtedness, but not the Long-Ternm Indebiedness then 10 be incurmed
for the most recent period of twenty-four (24) full consecutive calendsr months
preceding the date of detivery of the Officer's Certificate for which the Financial
Statements have been reported upon by indcpendent certified public accountants
and wuch Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio is not fess then 1.25; and {B)
there shall be filed with the Master Trustee the report of s Cansuhant 1o the effect

-3

delay in the receipt of funds doe from third-party payers and Short-Term Indebtedness incurred
in reasonshle anticipation of the issunre of Lomg Term Indebtedness, shall not axceed five
percent (5%) of such Total Operating Revenues; provided, bowever, that the Corporation's
outstanding Short- Term Indebtedness may include a bauk line of credit, -mllﬁmmuybc
Mwhkhmymommdmg,wmnﬂnw\imlkmmd
WuMmﬁuS@m!Dﬂd),whuwmbmszmm-my
one time,

(o) hﬂ&mmyhlmdmmhmmbymymﬂdn
Wwdmpm-hofadgmdm&gmwhﬂmww
similar Hiquidity or aredit enly facility cstablished in iom with the tssumnoe of any
Obligations or Related Bands; provided, however, if such liquidity facility Is used or drawn upon
mmmwmﬁ:ohhgammwlzllwdﬂonds,mdnlhblliry sepresenied by such
usc ar draw by the Member of the Obligated Group shall be incloded In Indebiedness &s of the
date of such use or draw and the principal amount of the Obligations or Refaed Bonds 5o
purchased shall be excludad for all other purposes of this Master Indenture,

(1)) Puhdeblmuqybemmed if prior to the incurrence of such Pul
deb: (7) the @) o (@)GXA) and
(:)ao(B)o[mnSeehme-emum(ﬂ)tMuwmimhmnbankwm
finameial institution exisis to provide financing sufficlent 1o pay the prchase price or princips] of
such Put on eny date an which the owner of such Put Indebtedness may demand
payment theveol pursuant to the terms of such Put Indebtedness; provided, bowever, that no
repayments of any principa) smounts drawn under such facllity for liquidity pusposes wre
mlhndfwnlhumymﬁmlhedmonhnhuthwh&

® on-Recowrse Indebtedness may be incumred upon delivery (o the Master
hmdmoﬁw’nc«m(mpmdbytkmofmemdemdmccmﬁcdwuw
mmmmﬂmedhdw)wﬂlm(i)m amount of Non-Recourse Indebtedness
tudi R Indebiedness 1o be incurred in connection with such certification)
!neumddunnglhemmunpeﬂodofmlv:(u)c-m\nlnmmrumehme
Financial Statements have been reported upon by independent certified public accountants #s mot
in exceys of an aggrepate oﬁwuuypuum(za%) of Total Revenues during such period, ead (ii)
that the § of such Nan- will not result in & violation of Section

(h)  lodebtedness secured by Accounis may be incurred i prior 1o Uk
i of such Indeb there is defivered to the Master Trustee an Officer’s Cestificate
of an Obligatad Group Representative certifying thet immediately afier the incarrence of such
Indebiedness, the amount of Accounts that have been pledged 1o secure Indebtediess tat has
been Issued pursuant w this prragraph (b) and bs then Outstanding will not exceed 25% of the
Obligated Group’s net patients accounts, as shown on the Financial Statenents for the previous
Fiscal Year; mrovided, however, that {A) tho determination of whether a disposition of Accounts

W) a1 0mpy

2



is a sale or Joan chall be made In accordance with generally aceepied accounting principles and
(B) eny Indebtediness issued pursaant to this provision shall be considered to be Sbont-Term
Indebtedness subject o the imcurrence test sei forth in Section 3.06(d) hereol.

Section3.07. Long-Term Debt Service Coverape Ratio, () Each Member of the
Obligated Group covenants 10 s#1 rates and charges for its facilities, services and products such
thet the Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio, calculated at the end of each Fiscal Year, will
not be Jess than 1.10; provided, however, that in any case where Long-Tenm Indebtednrss has
been incurred to acquire or construct capilal improvements, the Long-Term Debt Service
wamﬁmmpeuwwlm&dtmhmmhmkmglhfomom
calculation anjl the first Fiscal Year commencing after the oecupation or utilization of such
capital improvernents uniess the Long-Term Debt Service Requirement with respeat thereto is
required to be paid from sources other than the proceeds of such Leng-Term Indebiedness prior
‘to such Fiscal Year.

®) Humylmﬁchng-TmDehSaweanwndby
clause {2) hereof s pot mey, the Obligated Group
awuplahlebﬂ:nmﬂtydhbemﬂmlmnfohhgalwn?b.lmm
recommendarions 1o incresse such Long-Term Debi Service Coverage Ratio in the following
Fiseal Year to the level required or, if in the opinion of the Consaltani the attainment of such
level Iy impracticable, to the highest level attainable. Each Mmh!ro!'h Obllgnﬂl Group
agrees that it will, fo the extent permitied by law, follow the of the Consul
Solongnnwmdnllhmndmdu&Manh:roflhOhlxgadelwaMHolbw
ench Consultant’s recommendations to the extent permitted by lxw, this Section 3.07 shall be
deemed o have been complied with even if the Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratlo for the
following Fiscal Year Is below the, n:qulred level; provided, however, the revenues of the
Obligated Group shall not be less than the mrﬁulmdhmhwpaylhml
expenses of the Obligated Group and to pay the debt servioe on el Indebtedness of the Obligated
Group for sach Fiscal Year.

{©) lr.md-wmkwwmhmm.mw
shall state that Governmental Restrictions bave been imposed which make it impossihie far the
morcqmummthehnu(n)hamf&h:mmcnndimmqmmmdnﬂh

the by such 0 no event

Tage p

M&.@m (ﬂ)Eﬂf-‘lMﬂﬂb‘f of “w Obhgued G'O“PWM it Wlﬂ
not transfer Operating Asaets in any twelve (12) month period for which Financial Statements
will be reporied tpos by en independent certified public accountant, except for Trnsfors:
(0] To any Person, of Operating Assets (A) that the Obligatad Group
boy cessed 1o cperate popsant to Scction 3.02(b) hercof and (B) the Net Book
Value of which, in dre aggregaie for such twebve-month period, does not exeeed
25

Transfer, cash, scrvices or Peoparty eqml to the fair marked value of (he msset so
transferred ([air market value of real property with & value in excess of $100,000
udﬂmnhadbymOﬂhu’chmﬁaleswlkay-wﬂmmcf

ble to the Master Trustee which
reponshallmlhcﬁirmtﬁvalnenofld&mnmllmw(l)yw
prior to the date es of which such fair market vatue is being detexmined), and (B)
3f the fair market value of the asset to be tranxferred cxceeds five pescent (5%) of
the wwrestricted fund balance of the Obligated Group ay shown an the Financial
Statements for the most recent period of twelve (12) full oomsecutlve calendar
months for which such Financial Stetements were reported upon by indcpendent
cerlified public accountants, then there shall be delivercd to the Masier Trustec.
prior o such Transfer either:

() en Officer’s Centificate (accompanicd by the Financlal Stetaments
memtioozd below) certifying that the Long-Term Debt Sexvice Coverage Ratio,
adjusted to excluds the revennes and expenses derived from the Operaiing Assets
proposed 1o be disposed of, for the most recent period of twelve (12) full
constetive calendar months preceding the date of delivery of the Officer's
Certificats for which Financial Staements are svailable, is not less than 125 and
not less than shay-Five percent (65%) of what it would have been were such
Transfer not fo take place; or

(11) e report of 8 Consultant to the effect tal the forecasted Long-Term
Debt Servies Coverage Ratio, taking such Transfer into sccoun, for each of the
M@Mofhﬂvs(&)ﬁlmﬂwmmmdmglh
date on whith such Transfer is expected to occur, and the Long-Term Debt
Savice Coverage Ratlo for each such period is not Jess than 1.25 2nd not less dum
sixty-five percent (65%) of what i would have been were such Transfer not to
take place, sccompanied by a satement of the relevant assumptions upon which
such forecasts are based.
MMm\b«onbeObhgntedO:wp o mai records ad to enable the
Master Trusiee to ) that the provisions of (v)lmhwbecnemﬂdmm
mdmmkemnhmﬂsm!hbkmlthaslerTmswewmwnnmmueﬂ.

(¥}  Each Member of the Obligated Group agrees thal it will not trensfer cash
investmems

or nvestments, except for Transfers of cash and by muy Member of the Obligaed
Group:
(i)  Toanother Member of the Obligated Group without limit.
()  To any Person if there shall be filed with the Master Trustee an
Officer’s Certificate, accompanied by and baszd upon Financial Sutements for
the most recam period of twelve (12) full consecutive calendar months for which
NV AXIEDV)
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ten pereent (10%) of the unrestricied find balance (plus the exocess of assets over
linbilities of for-profit Members of the Obligated Group, if epplicable) of the
Obligated Group, as shown an the Financia) Statements for the most recent period
of twelve (12) full consecutive calendar manths for which such Fimancial
Statements are gvailable.

()  To any Persam I, prior to the sale, lease or other disposition, there
is delivered to the Master Trustee an Officer’s Cartificete stating that, in the
jupunonhcsxgncr mOpmhngAmmmhmm
and the selz, lease,
mlummmmrwmwmmmm
efficiency or economic valve of the remaining Operating Asseis; provided,
however, that oo Officer’s Certificate shall be required to be delivered to the
MﬁuTmﬂummmbﬂuTm'admyOpmungmh«mnNa
Book Valve in the aggregate of less than two percent (2%) of the unresiricted
fund balance (plus the excess of essets over lisbilities of for-profit Members of
the Obligated Group, if applicable) of the Obligated Group, as shown on the
Financial Statements for the most recent period of twelve (12) fudl consecutive
celendar months for which Financia) Sisements are svaflable.

(i)  To enother Member of the Obligsied Group without limit.

v) To any Person provided there shall b delivered to the Master
Trusee prioe to such Transfer either:

(A) mn Officer's Certificate (3 by the Financial Stelcments
mentionad below) autifying thet the Long-Term Debt Serviee Coverage Ratio,
edjusted lo exchude the reveroes and expenses derived from the Operating Assets
proposed (o be disposed of, for the most recent period of twebve (12) full
comsecotive calendar months preceding the date of delivery of the Officer's
Certlficats for which Financlal Stziements arc svailable, I pot less than 1.25 and
oot kess than sixty-five percent (65%) of what It would have beco weve such
Transfer oot to take place; of

{(B) the report of @ Consultant to the effect thet the forecasted Long-Term
Debt Service Coverage Ratio, taking such Tramsfer into accoumt, for each of the
two (2) periods of twelve (12) full consceutive calondar months sspoceding the
date on which such Transfer is expected to occur, s not less than .30 and not less
thom sixty-five percent (65%5) of whet it would have been were such Transfer not
0 tke place, accompanied by a staizment of the refevamt assumptions upon
witich sch forecasts sre besod,

w Tommep:wHaddm(A)lheMmbaol’th:ONw
Group proposing to rmake such Transfer shall receive, as consideration for

26

such Financial are availabl ing (i) thet the Long-Term
Debi Sexvioe Coverage Ratio for the period commencing with the Fiscal Year in
which such accamulsted emoant became svallable and ending with te Fiscal
Year preceding the year of such Transfer would oot be reduced below 1.25 I the
amount of the proposed Transfer was deducted from Income Available for Debt
Service for such period, and (i) that the Long-Term Dedt Service Coverage Ratio
for such perfod would not be reduced below 1.2 if the emoum of the proposed
Teansfer were deducted from Income Available for Dedbt Service for such perlod;
provided, however, Lhat In each twelve (12) month perind in which 1he emount of
cxsh and [nvestments Uransferred purmiant to Qs clsuse (B) is less than the
mnup«mmednbemfmd pummtmmisdm(n),mem
itted to be transferved but ferred may be lated for Transfer in 8
ﬁxlureyenwyms.pmvxded!hnvd\manyoxallo{mmdumms
transferred, theye shall be filed with the Mosier Trustee an Officer’s Centificate
demonstrating (7) that the Long-Term Debt Serviee Coverage Ratio for the period
commenciog with the Fiscal Yeor in which such eccumulated emount became
available and ending with the Fistal Year preceding the year of such Transfer
would not be reduced below 125 If the amount of the proposed Trensfer were
MﬁdfmlmAvdhbkmMSavmhmhpenodm(i)Mtk
amount so ferred will not reduce the cash und investments of
tho Obligeled Group ay hown on the Financial Statements for the most recent
twelve (12) maath period by more than thirty-five percent (35%) or o an smount
below the cash and Investmenty for the twelve (12) month period when such
accamulstion began a3 shown on the Financial Statements for such twelve (12)
mmmmmmmnmmrmmnmdm
the cash and m-l:vduotbdwlmdays'
operating cxponses, as defined in Scetion 3.02(1) bereof.

(iii) To smy Person provided that, the Member of the Obligated Group
proposing to make such Teansfer shall receive, and if requested by the Master
Trustee can demonstrte in an Officer’s Certificate filed with the Master Trustee
that the Member of the Obligated Group shal) receive, a8 consideratian for such
Tramler Propexty, m.mﬂhmlﬂvhsﬂlehhmnkdvﬂmofwmku

least equal 10 the emotnt of the cash, and other
:fured,pkued.hmu l’mlnlhetlwoflTrmsfermvolvmg
forgiveness of debt in with which conlam, as
ion, a loan, the k of which is contl ‘upon the

bymdphymofnmofwnwﬁdhmphysmanm
services reecived or lo be received by the Member of the Obligated Qroup in the
event of compiction of such term of service are, presumptively, equal to st beast
the fair market value of such forgiveness of debt and provided further, bowever,
that no such Transfer shall reduce the remaining cash end unrestricted
investments 10 a level & or bedow 30 days' operating expenses.
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(iv) To any Persan or Persons in an aggregate amount ol to exceed
$1,000,000 in eny Fiscal Year.

()  Eath Member of the Obligated Group agrees that it will oot transfer
Accounts; provided, however, thal prios so it5 receipt of a reguest from the Miser Trusiee
pussuant (o Section 3.01(d) bereof any Member of the Obligated Group will have the right 1o
scll, in any Fiscal Year, its patient Accounis in an amount not 1o exceed the differcoee between
(1) the Account Lien Amount end (i) the zmount of Accounts that have been pledged to secure
mmwmbymmormmwmmmwsdm
3.06(d) or 3.06(h) hereof, if such Memwber of the Obligated Group shall (i) receive as
consideration for auch sale cash, services or Property equal to the fair market value of the
accounts receivable 5o sold, #5 certified to tie Master Trustee in an Officer’s Certificate of such
Member of the Obligated Group and (il) deliver 1o the Master Trustes a satement from Lhe
Obligated Group®s certiffed public accountents that such safe of patient Accounts constinsies a
“sale” under 1t 4 vy

()] ding the forcgoi isions of this sectlon, nothing berein
shall be construed as Bmiting the ability of any Munberofmzowpwd&umtowchasew
ﬂhw(mmmm)wxnwnwuhuwﬂmmdhﬂnnmb

transfer cash, it Fon with andinary investment
Whﬂvnx:h nlalndmnst‘mmﬁnmbﬂﬂ!hﬂy value,
Section 3.09, Coagelidation, Meseer, Sale or Conveyance. (s) Each Member of the

Obligated Group covenants that it will nol merge of consolidate with, or sell or convey ol or
substantially all of its assets to any Person that Is not & Member of the Obligated Group unless:

(‘) EﬂmnMﬂnbuoltthhhgntndGmnpvduhthem

or if the s not 8 Member of the Obligaied
mmeMmmﬁnmthme
apprOp i£ Y to the Master Trugiee, containing the

of such poration to asume the dus and puncthual payment

of the principal of, ? um, if any, and foterest on all Outstanding

Obligations issued under this Indenture 2ccording to thair tener and the e and

punciual performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions of this

Indenture and any Supplement hereto and granting to the Master Trosice o
*  seowity interest in the Pledged Assets of such suceessor corporation; and

(i)  NoMember of the Obligated Group immediately nfter such merger
wmolﬂwomwnd:nhmmmubmﬂaﬂlh‘bc
puhnnmorohsarmccofmy ot condition of this & d eny

ocondition described in subscotion (a)(i) or (i) of Soction 3.06 of this Indenturs
would be met for the incurrence of one (1) additions! dollar of Long-Term
Indebtedness; end

LU
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SCOOUNnIS, Mmmrmusmmmuwwmmmemmry
mccepted accounting principles and shal) include such statements necessary for a fair presentation
of unrestricted fund Fmancial position, resafts of operations and changes in imrestricted fund
batance ami finmncial position @y of the end of such fiscal reporting perind.

(®)  Within thirty (30) days after receipt of the audit report mentioned above
ban In no event later tham one hundred twenty (120) days afier the end of each Fiscal Year, file
with the Masier Trustee and with each Holder who may have 6o requested or in whose behalf the
Master Tnntee may have so requested, en Officer’s Certificate stating the Long-Tenm Debt
Servive Coverage Ratio for the Fiscal Year end stating whether, to the best knowledge of the
d;m,myumhofkobhgucdGmuphmde&:ﬂ:hmapaﬁumofmym

d in this Ind and, if so, specifying cach such default of which the sipners may have
kmwlcdg:lndwhﬂhuu:hmhddauuhsbummnﬂd. If sy default has pot been
remedied then a report of independent certified public to the best k dge of the
signers, shall identify what, if eny, corrective action will be taken o cure such defiull.

{©)  Ifen Evan of Delsuh shall have ocoured and be comimulng, () file with
e Master Trusice such other financial and (nft it b op ond
financial affairs (or of any 1idated or ined group of companies, i any Member
af the Obligated Group)ulheumu'l'mwemny from tims to time reasonably request,
exciuding fically donor records, patient records and personnel records and (i) provide
occess to il facilities for the purpose of inspection by the Master Trustee during regulor
business hours or ai sach other limes as the Master Trustes mary remsanably request.

(@) Within thiny (30) days after its receipt thereof, file with the Master
Trustee a copy of each report which eny provision of this Indesture requires to be prepared by a
C oran i Consult

(&)  Within (hirty (30) days afies the beginning of cach fifth Fiscal Year, file
with (he Master Trustee a0 Opinion of Counse] which shall state whether there ere required to be
filed in any office wilhin the period of twetve (12) fall umucullv: nleuhr mooths following
the datc of such Opinion of Counsel financi in
arder 10 continue the perfection of the security intercsis granted hereunder.

Section3.11. Panits Becoming Members of the Obligated Group. Persons which are

non-profit corporations and which ere ot Members of the Obligated Group and non-profit

portions which are ons to any Memmber of the Obligated Group through a

WwmﬁMﬂanbySemmehmofmay,nmhMpnorwﬁmmof
the cosrent Members of the Obligated Group, become Members of the Obligated Group, i

(®) The Parson or ion which is b ing 2 Member of the

Obligated Group shall exccute and deliver o the Master Trustee an approprisie instrament,

safisfactory lo the Master Trustee containing the agreement of such Person or successor
corparation () 10 become a Member of the Obligated Group under this Indenture and thereby
NYI R0

Ell

(i)  1f al) amounis due or to become due on any Related Bond have not
been fully pald to the holder thereof, there shall have beea delivered to the Masier
Trustee an Opinion of Band Counsel, In form and subsiames sstisfaciory to the
Master Trustee, to the cffect that under then existing law the consammation of
such merper, consolidation, ssle or conveyanoe, whether or not contemplated on
any date of the delivery of such Related Bond, would not adversely affect the
exclusion fram gross income for purposes of federal income toxation of interest
payable on such Relared Bond.

(®) lnmeofmsndimﬂdﬂun.wnlcumwymadupon
any sch jon by the fon shall succeed 1o
n\dbembsnmdfmmwedm wnhlhcnmeeﬂ'eﬂu:fnhdhmnmedhzmum
predecessoy of bad boooms 1 Member of the Obligaied Group pursumnt i Section 3.11 hereof, ay
the case may be. Sﬂmmpomhnﬂnnmmaymmhw.ndmym

the Master Trustee shall muthenticate sud ghall deliver Obligstions that such ssecessor
corporation shall kave caused to be sigred and delivered tn the Master Trustee. Al
ONJganonswohn«lbywchmoomomuonhmun&vmlmlllmpemhwahm

security position and benefit under this I o O di
mmummm::mofmwummmdmowmm
had been issued hereunder without eny such merger, salc or having
occarred,

() In caxe of amy such consolidation, merper, sale or conveyance such
chamges in phraseology sod form (but not in substiznes) may be made in Obligaions thereafter to
bo issued a3 vy be appropizie.

(d)  The Master Trusiee may accept sn Opinion of Counsel s conclusive
cvidence thal any such comsolidation, merger, mle or conveysnce, and sy such assumption,
compties with the provisions of this Seciion and thi It is proper for the Master Trusiee under the
provisions of Article V1 and of this Section 1o Join in the execution of any tnstrument required to

caecuted and deltvered by this Section.

Sextion 3.10, Filing_of Fi
Informetion The Obligated Gmupmvmamsﬂmhwﬂl

(s)  Within thirty (30) deys afier receipt of the audit report mentioned below
hnhmmhummnhmbdm(lm)mmnmemdofﬂnhmnlhnh
which ¢:o Firancial Srscments arc repaned upon by independem certified poblic accountants,
ﬁhwl\hlthanm:MMthnchHoldcrwlwmyh\enmqutslcdlnwnunguon
whose bebalf the Masier Tnmtee may bave so roquesied, a copy of the sudited Finencial
Statements as of the end of such Fiseal Ycar (which shall include comparative information fram
wmrmvmmmwumnfmmmmmn
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become subject to compl. with all provi of this Ind ining to 8 Member of the
Obligated Group, mddmglhplndg:ndmﬁymmdedhmkﬂmSﬂ)ddm
Indenture, the filing or of all ing and in
such pleces as are required by law and the: and observance of ol md

of a Member of ths Obligaicd Group hercunder, and (1) diti )

mblymmmgmmm.mrnm“mmmmumobwcmp
thai all obhguwnsnedmdMOutsundmgwwhlmwdmﬂmwnghnanﬂawnn
b paid in accordance with the (erms thereof and of this Indenture when due.

(b)  Each imstrument exccoted md delivered 1o the Mader Trustes in
sccordance with subsection (a) of this Section, shall be accompanied by 85 Opinion of Counse!,
Mumm»mmmmmeeﬁmmmwmm
duly by sach Person or
& valid and binding obligat fe n wnhlumnequnmﬁnuhluy
may be limited by bankrupicy laws, insolvency laws, other laws effeciing creditors’ rights
gencally, equity principles and laws dealing with fraudulent conveyances,

()  There shall be filed with the Master Trustee (i) mn Officer’s Certificate
demonsirating ng that the Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the most recent period of
m(rz)mlmmmmummummh
which Financial St ifabl such action actually ocourved al L
beﬂmmgorwd:mvd.wwldwhmbmm&mdbymnﬂnnlhmyfv:paw&(!”‘)
and in no evert o Jess than 1.25; or (H) the report of & Consultant demomstrating thadt
MLWTdenSerwceCovmchfnra:hofhm(Z)FlnlYm
immediately succeeding the date of such action (A) will be not less than 2.00 or (B) will be
greater than 1.30 and not reduce by more than thirly-five percent (35%), the forecasted
Lang-Term Delbd Service Coverage Ratio for each of such periods resuming that such ection bad
not takep place.

(@  If all amounts due or to became duve on any Related Bond have not been
mwmmmmrmmnuﬂummmmrmuwmafm
Counsel, in form and substance mtisfactory to the Mavier Trustee, to the effect tha the

of such would not ly affect the exchasion from gross iscome
fumpmd&duﬂhonmmmdlhhwmmymwm

Section 312 Withdrawal from the Obligated Group. (a) No Member of the Obligated
Gm:pmywm‘wfromlhnObhganedOawpunlmpnor»nuuungorn:hnuion.lhmh
dedivered 10 the Magter Tristes:

@  (A) AnOfficer’s Certificate o ing that (T) al) Obl
imucd by such Member are no Jonger Outstanding or (1) an amount of cash or
Defeasance Obligations sufficient to accomplish the requirement of clause
(iXAXD) hereof has been paid by such Member to the Mastcr Trustee or all
Outstanding Obligations issueal by such Member have been assumed by anotrer

32
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Member of the Obligated Group, and (B), in elther case, I all nounts due on @y
Related Bond which bears interest which Is not includable in the gross income of
the recipient thereof ander the Code have oot been pald to the holder thereol, an
Opinion of Bond Counse), In form and substance satisfactory to the Master
Trusiee, (o the effect that under then existing law sueh Member's willdirawal

become Includable in the gross income of the recipient thereof under the Code;
and

() (A) An Officor's Centificate demonstrating that the Long-Term

DeNSaﬁuCovmgem&rhmmpmodofmdw(ll)M

calendar monthy mmmpwm«rmmmm

which Financhal Su ing such action actually occurred

nmmmﬂmmmmumnumbymmmm
five percent (35%) and In no event to less than 125; or

{B) The report of 2 Consultant d ing that the f d
Long-Tam Deit Service Coverage Ratlo for each of (he two (2) Fiscal Years
immediately succeeding the date of such action is forecasted to be grester than
1.30 #nd that such action will not reduce by mare than Whity-five (35%) the
farecasted Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio for each of such periods
esuming that such action had not taken place.

(b) pon Lhe withdrawal of any Member from the Obligated Gruup pursuant
mnmhn(a)nfmnmmygwmt by such Member pursuant to Section 3.1] heveof
shall be released and discharged in full and sil liability of swch Member of the Obligated Groap
with respect to all Obligations O ing under this ind shall cense,

ARTICLETV

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 4.01. Events o{ Defaoll. Event of Defanh, 29 used herein, shall mean any of the
following events;

(8)  The Members of the Qbligated Group ghall fail to make any pxymen! of
tbe principal of, the redemption premium, if any, or interest an any Obligations isyved and
Dummdmghuemda'whnmdnlhznnwshnllbemsdmndpuyablgwheﬂmnmmly.
by p ngs for by deruth wu&qwh,moccmdancewhhmm
l}mao!: of this Indenture or of ny Supplement;

(®)  Any Membex of the Obligated Group chall fsil duly to perform, observe or
comply with ary covenant or agreement an its part ender 1his Indenture for 3 period of thirty (30)

Ny1 Qs
k]

written request of (i) the Holders of not less than 8 maiority in agpregate pnncxpal amoum of
O'nlmmm: Ouls1andmg cn- @) any Pcm pmpedy :xemsmg me nghl given to such Person
f the Ob

0 require

swgn.sbaﬂ wm»mmdwmommmowpﬁm

dus and payable, whereupon such Obligations shaft beoome and be
jmmedistely dne snd peyable, anything in the Obligations or in any other section of s
Indenture to the contrary noiwithsianding; provided, however, thet if the terms of my
Supplement give & Person the right W cansent to scceleration of the Obligations lxsoed pursuant
o said Supplement, the Obligations issued pursuant lo such Suppl may not be
by the Master Trustee unless such comsest 5 properly obtained pursuant to the terms of snch
Supplement. In the event Obfigations are accelerated there shall be due and payable on such
Obligations an amount oqml to the total prircipel emocnt of all such Obligations, plus ell
interest accrued thereon Lo the dale of acceleration md, to the extznt permlited by applicable haw,
a}} interest which acoroes theroon from the daie of acocleration to the date of peyment.

®) Al any time after the principal of the Obligations shall have been so
dectared to be dus and payable and before the entry of Gnal judgment ar decres bn any suil,
sction or proceeding instiruted on account of sach defsult, If G) the Obligated Group has paid or
caused to be paid or deposited with the Master Trustee moneys or Defeasance Oblipations
sufficient to pay all matmed instaltments of interest and interest on instaliments of principal and
inmmdpﬁncipalwwdemplion prices then duo (other tham the principal then due only
‘because of such dectaration) of all Obligations O ing; (1) the Obligated Group bes paid or
umedhhmdwdeposwdwﬁhlbemhnﬂummeymﬁicmmmmmechm
foes and lisbilitics of the Master Trustee; (ifi)
aﬂmhnnmmhpyab&bylheObhgaﬂodGmuphumduM been paid or a sum
sufficient 1o pay the same shall kave been deposited with the Master Trustee; and (iv) every
‘Event of Defouls {other than a defult in tho psyment of the principal of snch Obligations then
only becanse of such decluation) shall have been remedied, then the Master Trustee may,
and upon the wrinen request of Holders of not jess than a majority In aggregate principal amount
of the Obligations Outstanding shall, anml such declemtion and its consequentes with respect 1o
any Obligations or portions thereof not then due by their tems. No such anmutment shal) extend
o or alfect any subsequent Event of Default or impatr sy right consequent thereon.

Section4.03. Additions) Remedies and Enforcement of Remedies (a) Upon the
occuyence snd continusmee of any Event of Defaull, the Master Trustee may, and upon the
written request of the Holders of not less than = majorily in aggrepate principal amoum of the
Obligations Cutstanding, together with indemnification of the Master Trustee o fts satisfaction
therefor, ghall, proceed farthwith to protect and enforoe its rights and the rights of the Holders
hereunder by msch suits, sctions or proceedings as the Master Trusiee, being advised by counsel,
shall deem expedient, inchoding bu not limited to:

@)  Enforcement of the right of the Holders to callest end enforce the
paymesnd of amounts due or becoming duc under the Obligations;
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days afier the date on which written nolice of such feilure, requiring the same 1o be remedied,
shall have been given to the Members of the Obligated Group by the Master Trustee, or to the
MembenormeoulgntedGmupmﬂﬂnMasterTmsteebyl)wHoldmofnlm-m}omyln
aggregate principal smonnt of Obligations then O d, however, that i sid
fd)mbeud:thmlmbeeenededmlhinthmy(m)daynﬁuﬂnmcdnofsuchm
it shall pot constitute on Event of Defeult if comective action is instituted within such thirty (30)
dnypmd,ndnhgmﬂynmndmdnmﬂﬂymplﬁedwllﬂnnny(ﬁ)d:ysaﬁa
receipt of such notice;

(c)  Ancvent of defult shall occur under s Related Bond Indentire or upon &
Relsted Bond;

(4] wmdmowmmmmnmmwmw
paymeat with respect to any Indebtedness in uamﬂngazgregmwhnp!mmhm
of $250,000 (otha than Obligarions lssoed and
Indebtedness), whether nd:luddnnﬁumuh:mshﬂlhuuﬁaheuahﬂ,nﬂw
pertod of grace with respect therero shall have expired, or an event of default as defined In any
morgage, indenture ar instrament under which there may be issued, or by which thers may be
secured or evidenced, any Indebiedness, whether such Indebledness now exists or shall hereafter
be created, ﬂullo:m,whldlevqnnfdefanluhllmhwbmmnndbytbebldndm
and as & rewh of soch failure to pay or other event of defilt
nocelerated;

ndnlndebtednuslhll have been

(©) The entry of a dearee or ordor by a comt having jurisdiction in the
mhuMmWhMHmimmmeumoﬂWMuwmgu

properly filed a pethifon seeking ition of or i
mdmmMnmmumwwwnymwmm
or state law, or i a recciver, gnee, or sequestratar (or other

simflar official) of such Member ar of any subslmmlwl nrluhwmy or ordering the
winding up or liguidation of its affairs, and the continuance of any sch decree or erder unstayed
and In cifect for a period of ninety (90) consecutive days; end

The instintion by eny Member of the Obligated Group of proceedings far
Kwduhmﬁc&uﬂ:mbykmmmdu&tduwu utbeﬁlmgbyn ofa
petition or mewer or consent sccking
selicf under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any oﬁ:mﬂuupplmblefedﬂdwm
hw,wm:cmsaubyhblh:ﬁlingofwynﬂpeﬂtlonermmappolnment of a rectiver,

dian, 2ssignce, trustee or (or otler simllar official) of such Member
of the Obligated Group or of any substantial part of its Property, or the making by & of an
assignment for he benefit of creditors, or the admission by it in writing of ite inability 10 pay its
debae gencrally as they become due.

Section 4.02. Acse . {(8) Upoa the occumrence and

mummwuumemofbeﬁuhhmndar wer'l‘ruﬂeeuuyuil pon the
NY16a22005%3
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(i)  Suit upon all or agy part of the Obligatioms;

(i)  Civl) action t require any Perzon holding mancys, documenty or
other property pledged to secure payroent of amounts due or to become due on the
an-ﬂkmmmormmmrwum

(iv)  Civil action W enjoin any acts or things, which may be untawfl] or
in violstien of the rights of the Holders;

(")  Enforcemens of rights as @ secued paty under the Uniform
Conmmeycial Code of the State of Vermont; and

(v))  Enforcoment of any otber right of tho Haldars confemed by law or

(b)  Regardless of the happening of an Event of Default, the Master Trastee, if
requested in writing by the Holders of pot lews than twenty-five percem (25%) in aggregate
principal amow of the Obligations then Quistanding, shall, upon being indemnificd to ity
satisfaction therefor, institate end maintain such suita and proccedings a3 it may be advised shall
btnacemrywwmtnpmemmyimuofﬂnmlymbynym
which may be ualawful or in violation hereof, o () to preserve ar protect the interests of the
Holders, provided that such request and the action to be taken by the Master Trustee are pot In
eou.lllctwnthmylpplmbkhwarmepmvmcnshwfnd,mlhem!ejudmmtaﬂhcm
Trustee, is not unduly prejudicial o the interest of the Holders not making such request,

Section 4.04.  Application of Gross Receipts snd Other Moncys afier Default. Dusing
the contimuance of en Event of Defult all Grosy Receipts and other maneys received by the
Master Trusies pursuant to any right given or setion taken under the provisions of this Article,
after payment of (i) the costs mud expenses of the proceedings resulting in the enllection of such
maneys and of the expenses and advanees incurred or made by the Master Trastee with respeet
thereto and all other fees and expenses of the Master Trustee under this Indenture and (ii) in the
sole discretlon of the Master Trustee, the payment of the expenses of operating amy Member of
the Obligated Group, shall be applied s follows:

(a)  Unless the principal of all Quistanding Ohligations shatl have become or
have been declared dve and payable:

Eirst: Ta the payment 10 the Persons entitied thereto of all installments of intesest then
due on Obligations in the order of the maturity of such installments, and, if tha amount available
shall eot be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments maturing on the same date,
unnlomepaymmlmmofmlably,mdhummemmudmﬂnmmthel’awncmmcd
thereto, without my disaimination ar
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Second:  To the payment (o the Persons enttled thereto of the umpaid principal
Instaliments of any Obligatlons which shall kave betome due, whether 31t meumity or by call for
redemption, in the arder of their due dates, and if the amounis avsilable shall not be sufficient o
pay in full ] Obligations due on any date, then 1o the payment thereof ratably, eccnrding to the
amounts of principal instaliments due on such date, to the Perzons entitled thereto, without any
discrimination or preferente.

{b)  Ifthe principal of all Outstanding Obligations shall have beoome oF have
been declared due and payable, to the payment of the principal and interest then due. and napald
upon Obligations without preference or priosity of principal over interest or of Interest over
principal, or of sny installment of interest over eny other tnswllmen of imcrest, or of eny
Obligation over any other Obligation, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for
principal and interesl, 1o the Pasons cotitled thereto without any discrimination or prefevence.

(c) I the principal of all Outsianding Obligations shall have been declared
shall thereafier have been

due and payable, and if such declarati inded and aamdled under
the provisions of ihis Anicle, (hen, subject w the provisions of pasagraph (b) of this Section in
the event that the principa) of all O ding Obligations shall later become doe or be deciared
due and paysble, the moneys shall be applicd in escordance with the provisions of | ph (2)
of thig Section.

‘Whenever moneys are to he applied by the Master Trustee pursusat to the provisions of
thls Section, such moneys shall be applicd by k at such Umes, and from tine to time, as the
Master Trusice shall deteymine, having due regand for the amount of such moneys availabie for
application and the likelihood of additional moneys b ing avaflable for such application in
the futwre. Whenever the Master Trustee shall apply such moaeys, it shall £ix the dste upon
wiiich such application s to be made and upon such date intovest on the amounts of principal to
be paid on such dates shall cease to meyoe. Tho Master Trustes shall give such notice es it may
dezm appropriate of the deposit with it of ay such maneys end of the fixing of my such date,
and shali not be required to mako pryment to the Holder of any wnpeid Obligstion umtil such
Obligation shall be presented to the Master Trustee for appropriste endorscment of any partial
payment ar for cancellation if flly paid,

‘Whenever af] Obfigaticns and interest thercon have been paid under the provisions of this
Boction and o] cupenscs and charges of the Master Truster have boen paid, ary balamoce
remaining shall be paid to the Pamon entitled 1o rective the seme; if no other Person shall be
entitiead thereto, then the balancs shall be paid to tre Mentbers of the Obligated Group, their
respecti or a3 a count of comp may direcL

Section 4.05. Remedics Not Exclisive. No remedy by the terms hereof conferred upon
or reserved to the Master Trustos or the Holdors § intended to be exchusive of any other remedy,
but cach and every such remedy shall be cumulstive and shall be in addition to every other
rexredy given hereunder or existing at law or In equity or by ststute on or after the daie hereof.

) TR
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any, or interest on any Obligation, when the same shall beeome due and payable by the terms
thereof ar upon call for redemption, may nol be waived without the writlen comsent of the
Holders of all the Obligatians (with respect to which such payment defsult exists) af the tims
Outstanding.

(©) In esse of any waiver by the Master Trusize of sn Event of Dafauit
hereonder, the Members of the Obligated Group, the Master Trutes and the Hoiders shail be
restared 10 thedr formey positions and rights b pectively, but po such waiver shall
extend to any subsequent ar other Event of Default or impair any right consequent thereon,

Section 4.10.  Appointment of Receiver. Upoa the occurrences of any Event of Defanit
uniess the sxme shall have been waived as herein provided, the Master Trustee shall be entitled
a3 a mather of right IF it shall 50 efect, 1 the exuet permiried by law, (1) fordwith and without
declaring the Obligations 1o be do and payable, (ii) afier decluring the xame to be doe and
payable, or (ifi) upon the commencement of en action to eaforoe the specific performance hereof
or in eid thereof or upon the commencement of mny other judicia! proceeding Lo enforce any right
of the Master Trustze or the Holders, 10 the ofa recelver or 3 of any or all of
the Property of the Obligated Group with such powers s the cowrt making such appoiniment
shall confer. Bach Member of the Obligated Group, respectively, hereby consents and agrees,
end will If requested by the Masier Trustee consent and agree at the time of spplication by the
Trustez for appoiniment of a veceiver of its Property, o the appointment of such reeeiver of its
Property and that sach receiver may be given the right, power snd suthority, to tho extent the
same may lawfully be given, to lake passession of end operate and deal with such Property and
the profits and proceeds therefrom, with ke effect o3 the Member of the Obligated
Group could do so, and to borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness as such recefver.

Seclion 4.11. Remedies Subject to Provisions of Law, AD rights, remedies and powers
provided by this Asticle may be exercised anly to the extent that the exereise thereof does not
violate any epplicable provision of law, and all the provisions of this Article ure Intended to be
subject to all applicable mandatory provisions of law which may be controlling and 10 be limited
to the eutemt necessary so that they will not render this instument or the provisions hereof
invalid or unenforceable under Lbe provi of any epplicable law,

Section4.12. Noticg of Default. The Master Trustec shall, within ten (10) days after it
has knowledge of the octurrence of an Evant of Defeudt, mail (o alt Holders s the names and
addresses of such Holders appear upon the books of the Master Trustec, natice of such Event of
Defieult knuwn to Ux: Muster Trustee.

ARTICLE V
THE MASTER TRUSTEE
Section 5.01. Certain Duties and Responsibilitics. (s) Except during the comimunce of

2 Event of Defautl:
NI IR
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Section 4.06. Remedies Vested in the Master Trustee, Al rights of sction (including the
right to file proof of claims) hersunder or under amry of the Obligations may be enforced by the
Master Trustee without the possession of any of the Obligations or the production thereof in smy
irial or other proceedings relating thereto, Any such suit o proceeding instituted by the Masier
Trastee may be brought in its name s the Master Trustee without the necessity of joining es
plaintiffs or defeodants zny Holders. Subject to the provisions of Secton 4.04 hereof, any
recovery or judgment shalt be for the equal benefit of the Holders.

Sextion 4.07. Holders' Qontrol of Proceedings. If an Eveml of Default shall have
urred emd be continui ithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Holders of not
kess than & nwjority in aggregate principal Emount of Obligations then Outstanding shall kave the
right, st any time, by an instrument in writing executed and delivered (o the Master Trustee and
;. byi i to the Master Tnstee, to direct the method and place of
conducting esy proceeding o be taken in connection with the eaforcement of the terms snd
conditions heveof or for the appoimtment of a receiver or any other proceedings bereumder,
provided that such direction i not in conflict with any applicable law or the provisions hereof,
and provided further, that the Master Trusiee shal) have the right to decline o follow any such
directian if the Mester Trustee in good fith shall determine that the procecding 5o direcied
would invelve it in persanal liability, and, in the sole judgment of the Master Trustee, Is not
unduly prejudicial to the interest of eny Holders pot joining in such directlon end provided
Forther that Rothing In this Section shall impair the right of the Master Trustee In lts diseretion 1o
ke any other action hereunder which 3t may deem proper and which is not inconsistent with
such directlon by Holders.

Soctlon 4.08. Termination of Proceedings. In case any procesding taken by the Master
Trustee on account of an Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abapdoned for sy
Teason or shafl kave been determined adversely to the Master Trustee or U0 the Holders, then the
Members of the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee and the Holdeys shall be restored 1o their
former positions and rights hercundes, and of] rights, remedies and powers of the Master Trastee
und the Holders shall continue as if no such proceeding had been taken.

Section 4.09.  Waiver of Event of Defalt. (2) No delay or omission of the Mager
Trustee or of apy Holder to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall
impair any such right or power or shall be constroed to be a waiver of any such Event of Defauit
or an ncquiescence thesein. Every power and remedy given by this Article to the Master Trustes
end the Holders, respectively, may be exercised from time t0 time und as often as msy be
deemed expedicat by them.

®) d ding anything ined herein o the contrary, the Master
Trustee, upon the written request of the Holders of not bess than @ majority of the aggregate
principzl amount of Obligations then Outstnding, chall wajve any Evem of Default hereunder
and its consequences; provided, however, that, excepl mnder the circamstances set forth in
subsection (b) of Scetion 4.02 bereof, o default in the payment of the principal of, premivm, if

»vi D)
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(i)  The Master Trustee underiakes to perform such duties and only
such dutics as are specifically set forth in this Indentore, snd no implied covermnts
or obligations shall be read into this Indenture ngainst the Master Trustee; and

(i) In tw sboeoce of bad faith on ks pan, the Masier Trustee may
conclusively rely, as 1o the tuth of the siatements end the comectiess of e
opinions expressed theredn, upon cerilficates or opinions fumnishad 10 the Master
Trustee and conforming 1o the requi of this Ind: but in the casc of
eny such cenificates or opinions which by any provision hevoof are specifically
Tequired 10 be fumished to the Master Trustee, the Master Trusiee shall be undera
duty to examine the same to determine whether or not they conform to the
Tequirements of this Jodenture,

(b) In casc an Evens of Default has occurred and is contlauing, the Master
Trusiee shall exercise such of te rights and powers vested In it by this Indenture, and use the
same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as 8 prudent person would exercise or use under
the circmstances in the conduct of such person®s own affhirs.

(€)  No provision of this shall be 4 to relicve the Master
Trusiee from Hability for its cwn negligent sction, its own negligent failure to ret, or its own
willf) misconduct, except that:

(i)  this Subsection shall not be constnred w0 limi the cffect of

Subsection (a) of this Section;

(i)  the Master Trustee shall nol be Lisble for eny emor of judgment
‘made in good faith by a chai or vice-chait of the baard of di the
hal of vice-chai of the h ittas of ths board of directors,

the president, any vioe president, any essistant vico president, the scerctary, any
assistant seeretary, (he treasurer, ny asvistant treasurer, the cashier, sny assistant
cashier, any trust officer or assistant trust officey, the controller and any assistant
cortrofler or any other offiver ar employee of the Master Trustes carstomarily

ing fanctions simile 1o those performed by any of the above designated
officers ar with respect to a particulor matter, any other officer or employee 1o
whom such mattey is refermed because of his knowiedge of and famifiarity with
the particular subject, unless i shall be proved that the Masier Trusiee was

ligent fn ining the pertioent facts;

(iii)  the Master Trusioe shall not be Bable with respect (o any action
taken or amitted to be taken by it in good faith in sccordsnce with the direclion of
the Halders of a majority in principel amount of the Outstending Obligations
rolating lo the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any
remedy available 10 the Master Trustee, or exercising eny trust or power conferred
upon the Master Trostee, under this Indenture, except under the circumsiances set
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forth in subsaction (b) of Section 4.99 hereof requiring the conse of the Holders
of all the Obligations at the time O ing; and

(iv) o provision of this Indenture shall require the Master Trustee to
expend or risk Its own funds or otherwise Incur any financial or other Hability,
directly or indirectly, in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in (he
excreise of any of its rights or powers.

(d)  Whether or not therein 50 provided, every provision of this
hudcmmumhlmglotbewnauuaﬂecungmehabﬂnyorumwommmﬂ:Mm
Trestee shall be subject to the provisions of this Section.

Scction 5.02. Certein Rinhts of Mester Tresice. Excopl as otherwise provided in Section

5.01:

from acling wpon any certificats, opinion, report,
request, direciion, consent, order, bond, note or other paper or document believed by i to be
gemiine and to have beon signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

()  Any request, direction or statement of any Member of the Obligated
Gmpmmbcmdhaeinshdlbesuﬂ'maﬂymmdbymoﬂieerscmiﬁﬂuandmy
action of the G ng Body may be sufficient) d by a copy of a resolution certified
bythesecmarywmmlwofdzhimberofﬂn%hguadOmwhhanbem
duly adepted by the Goveming Body and to be in full force and eficct on the date of such
certification and delivered to the Master Trustes,

() Wh in the administration of this lod the Master Trusiee ahall
Mnmwumhmemmwlaklmemmw
action hercunder, the Trusiee (unless other evidence be berein specifically prescribed) may, in
the ahsenea of bad faith on Its part, rely upon en Officer’s Certificate.

(@)  The Master Trastee mey consult with counse} or independent auditor and
lhevrinznadmofsu:hmdnrlndcp:ndmzmdlmormyOph!uo{CmmsdﬂdlbeI‘dl

tharization and p inn in respeet of amy action teken, suffered or amitied by
xlheteunduhpodflﬂhlndhlelhneew

(¢)  The Master Trustee shall be undex no obligation to exercise any of the
rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture whether on its own motion ar m the request or
direction of any of the Holdas pursuant to this Indenture which shall be in the cpinion of the
Master Trusies Tikely to imvolve expense or lisbility not otherwise provided for berein, unless
one or reare Holders or such Holders making soch request shall have otfered and furnizhed to the
Master Trustee reasemable security or indemnity safisfaciory 1 the Master Trustee against the

(@) ThMmM&wdyMMthhwﬁnsorﬁ:::

L
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Every successor Master Tiusice  howsoever appointed  hereunder shall exeaute,
achmvdedgemdddlwwmpmmmdnbmmuanbuomaomwempm
in
Master Trustee, vnhomﬂmberuhnn,sha]lmﬁﬂlyvmdwhhdlﬂznghs,lmmumhu,
pmvm,mnu.dnﬂamd “,, i nl'h: and such pr shall execute and
deliver an @ i Master Trustes all the rights, powers and
trusts of such predecessor. mmmeMlmanyndallm
noceysary or appropriate to convey all interest i may have to the successor Master Trustes. The
predeoessor uTmulmmpUywmdlmummmhamm:mw
copics theroof and, on request, ofl material ink fon it may have obtmined
: ing the trust lo e Master Trustee.

Each successor Master Trusiee, not later than ten (10) days afier its asumption of the
dunies haeunder, stoll mail & notice of such assumption 1o each registered Holde.

Section 5.05. Compenmtion and Reimburgemenl.  Each Member of the Obligawed
Group, respectively, agrees:

(a)  To pay the Master Trustee from time 1o time reasanable compensation for
2l services readered by it bereunder (which compensation shal] not be limited by any provision
of law In regard 10 the compensation of a trustee of an express wost), and, if not paid when dee,
shal) be subject to interest st the base rate of the Mester Trustee.

(b}  Excepl as otherwise ly provided herein, lo the Mester
Trustee upon [ts request for afl P disd and incurred or
made by the Masier Trustee, fees on and in d with
any provision of this luding (he thl ion and the exp end

dxsbursemantsofitsmudm:tssgm\s),exwptmynﬂwme,mnwﬂm
as may be attributable to its negligence or bed faith. If such amounts are nol paid when due, they
unumwwmummmn{mmm

(&)  To indemmify the Master Trustee for, and to hold it harmless against, any
los,hﬁul«yumpcmchmrdmmmmhdfnlhmﬁllﬂﬂmmmwmm

ansngmnol'onn ion with the of this trust or its duties
the bic costs and. of" ding itself ogainst any cloim or
hnh:mymmmlhlh:uenscwwfmmofmyofhwmmdmuhm

As seanity for the performance of the Members of the Obligated Group under this
Section, the Master Trustee shall have 2 Lizn prior 1o any Obligations upon al) property and funds
held or collected by the Master Trusioe as such, except funds beld in trust for the paymem of
principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on Obligations.

Section 5.08. Recials and Representations. The recitals, staiements and representations
contained hereln, or in eny Obligation (excluding the Master Trustec’s authentication on the
Y| S - o

costs, expenses and lisbilities which might be facurred by I in compliance with such request or
direction or ofherwise in connection herewith.

(4] mMTlimhwmuﬂemem
Tocts or posticrs stoted In eny , opinion, report, notice,
request, directicn, consent, order, Mmmo&ermwdomghnhmfnm,
In its discretion, may make such further inquiry ar investigation into such facts or matters s it
may see fit, and, if the Master Trustee shall determine o make such furtber Inguiry or
mm?non.s«smltuqmumMummmmmmwmww
the Obligaled Group, personally or by agent or attoraey.

{2)  The Master Trusiee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or
perform any duties hercunder either directly or by or thwough agem o anomeys,

Section 5.03. Right 1o Deal in Obligations and Related Bonds, The Master Trastee may
in good faith buy, sell or hold and deal in any Obligations and Relsted Bonds with Jike effert as
if it were not such Master Trustee and nmay commence: or Jain in any action which » Holder or
MMM;TIWBMB@MH’ to take with like effect as If the Master Trusice wese nol the

aster Trustee.

Section 5.04, Removal and Resignation of the Master Trustes. The Master Trustoo may
resign an its motion or may be removed & any time by an instrument ar instruments in writing
signed by (he Holders of oot Jess than & majorily of the principal amount of Obligations then
Outstanding. No such resignation or remaval shall become effective undess end until @ suooessor
Muster Trustes (or trustes as provided below) has been appointed sxxd hay
asaumed the trusts creaied hereby. Written notice of such resignation o resnoval shall be given
to the Members of the Obligated Group end to cach Holder at the address then reflocted on the

Obligations Outstasding. In
sppointed end qualified within thirty (30) days of the date notice of resigmtion is given, the
Master Trustee, any Member of the Obligated Group or any Holder may apply to eny cout of

cogrpetent jurisdiction for the appoi of a tempotary Master Trustee to sct vatll
such time s a successor is appointed as above provided,
Unless otharwise ordered by a court or y body having

urdess required by taw, WWMMTmmeshallbenmaommychnkhavmg
the powers of a trusi campany By to trust, qualified to do and doing trust business in onc or more
gintes of (he United Stsks of America and having an officially reported combined capital,
surphus, undivided profits and reserves agaregating st least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), if
there is such an instltutien willing, qualified and able to ecoept the trust upon reasommble or
cusiomary terms.

N1

Obligations) shall be taken and consirued 23 made by and oo the part of the Members of the
Obligated Group, respectively, and not by the Master Trusiee, and the Master Trustee peither
assimes nor shall be under any responsibility for the comreciness of the same.

‘The Master Trustee makes no representation w3 io, #nd is pot resporsible for, the validity
or sufficicncy hereof, af the Obligations, or the validity or sufficiency of lisurance to be
providad. The Master Trustee shall be decmed not to have made represcatations es o e
security afforded hereby or bercunder or as to the validity or sufficiency of such document. The
Masier Trustee Mmhmwlﬂnwmumnblemmymerorﬂumwwm
of any moneys whichi shail be relcased or withdrawn In with the
TheMaslerTrusleeﬂn“hvemdutyuqumrywilhuspmlnuyde{mllw!ivmuo{bahﬂl
described herein without schial knowledge of ar receipt by the Master Trustee af written notice
of a dfsoit or an Event of Defaolt from & Member of the Obligated Group or sny Holder,

Section 5.07. Separaie or Co-Master Trustee. At any time ar times, far the purpose of
meeting any legal requirtments of any jurisdiction, the Master Trustee shall have power to
appoint, and, upan the request of the Holders of at lesst rwenty-five percent (25%) in apgrepate
principal amount of Obligations Outsianding, shall appoint, one ar more Persans appraved by the
Master Trustee etiher to 2t as co-trustee or co-lrusiees, jointly with the Master Trusiee, or to act
a3 scpante trasiee or separate trusices, and fo vest in such person or persons, in such capacity,
such rights, powers, dutics, trusts or obligations as the Master Trustee may consider neceasary or
desirable, subject to the remaining provisions of this Section.

very co-rosiee or scparaie trustee shall, to the exient permirted by law but to such
cxemoaly bﬂppdnwdnﬁeumdnb!luwhnmgmlr

(8)  The Obligations shall be suthenticated and defivered solely by the Master

Trustee.

(b) Al rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations conferred or imposed
upen the trustees shall bs conferred or imposed upon and exercised or performed by the Master
TmmehMmemmmwmumemw
scpanaic trusices jaintly, as shall be p in the
mormtcﬁmeumﬂe“thﬂnmmmuhwofmy
jusisdiction in which any particular acl or stts are o be performed, the Master Trustee shall be
incompetent or unqualified to perform such act or acts, in which event such act or acts shall be
performed by such co-tnistee of co-trustees or scparalc trustoe or scparats trusiccy.

()  Any request in writing by the Master Trusiee 1o any co-trustee or separate
nster to take or to refrain from taking any action hereunder shall be sufficient warrant for the
inking, or the refimining from taking, of such sction by sach co-trusiee or separate lustee.

P aTrTs.)



{d)  Any co-Uusiec or scparate trustee may, to the extemt permitied by law,
delegate to (he Master Trustee the exercise of any right, power, trust, duty or obligation,
disyetianary or oltrerwise.

(¢}  The Mmster Tsstes a1 sy time, by eny instrument in wriling, may sccept
the resignation of or remove any co-trustee or separale tmstee appointed under this Seetion.
Upon the request of the Masier Trusiee, the Members of the Obligated Group shall join with the
Master Trusiee in the jon, delivery and perfc of all i and

or proper to sach resignation or removal.

{f) No trusiee or any paying agent hercunder shall be personally lable by
Tesson of any acl or omission of any other trustee ar paying agent hereunder, nor will the act or
omission of enty trusice or paying agent hereunder be imputed W any viher tnisice or paying
agent.

(8) Any demard, requesi, direclion, appointment, removal, notice, consent,
waiver or othey oction in writing delivercd to the Master Trustee shall be doemed to have been
delivered to each such co-trustee or seperate trustee.

(h) Any moneys, papers, sccurities or other ilems of personal propesty
received by any sach co-trustes or scperate trustee hercunder shall forthwith, so far as may be
peamitted by law, be tumed over to the Master Trustee.

Upon the scceptance in writing of such appointment by any such co-trustee or separaic
trustee, i shall be vested with such rights, powers, duties or obligations, as shall be specified in
the instremem of appointment jolmly with the Master Trustee (except insofar as local Jaw makes
§t neceszary for any such co-trustes or scparate trusiee to act alone) subject to all the temms
Iwezeof, Every such scceptance shall be fited with the Master Trustee, To the extent pammitied by
law, eny co-trostes or scparstc trusiee may, ol any time by an Instrament In writing, constitute:
the Master Trustee its or his attomey-in-foct and agent, with full power and suthority to perfarm
all acts and things and 1o exercise al| discretion an its or his behalf and in its or his name.

In the event that the Master Trustee shall resign or be ranoved, no co-trastee or sepatate
trustee appointed pursvent o this Section 5.07 shall become the successor Master Trustes unless
such co-trustee ar separate trustee ghall have been appointed Master Trostee purniant to Section
5.04 heveof.

In case any co-rustee of separate trustee shall dic, become Incapabls of acting, resign or
be removed, all rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of said co-trustee or separate rustee
shall, so far a3 permitted by Law, vest in snd be exercised by the Master Trusiee unless and until
& successor co-trusiss ar separste trustee shall be appointed in the manner herein provided.

Sectlon 5.08.  Availshility of Records. Anything in this Master Trust Indenture 10 the
contrary notwithstanding, the Master Trustee shall provide copics to any beneficial owner of
WY TR
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execution by each Member of the Obligated Group, when asthorized by resotution or other
ection of eqoal formality by Is Governing Body, and the Master Trustee of such Supplements as
shall be deemed necessary and desirable for the purpose of modifying, altering, mmending,
adding to or rescinding, in wny particular, any of the terms or provisions contained herein;
provided, however, nothing in this Section shall permit or be corstroed &s penmitting
Supplement which would:

[0] Eﬂ'manhlgemﬂwumegmuwmydpxymmlof
the principal of, lflny.lndimﬂtnmanyOhhgauonou
ndmmmlhaprmcml mmlarmdempnon price of any Obligation or the
e of intevest thereon, without the consmnt of the Holder of such Obligatioq;

(i)  Permh the preference ar priorily of any Obligation over any othar
Obligation, withoul the consent of the Holders of all Obligatians then
Outstanding; or

Reduce the mggregate principal amount of Obligations then
Wmthewufﬁelhl&nnf%mh is required to authorize such
Supplement withowt the comsent of the Holdes of all Obligativns then

() )f &t any time cach Member of the Obligated Group shall request the

Master Trusiee lo enter into & Supplement pursiamt to this Sedlion, which request is
mmplniedbylmpyoflkxesoluuonwlﬁnrmol’lu(lommgBodyuﬂi&dbylu
secretary or if it has no seoretary, its uunwlhknlﬂeﬁndlheuw&pplmeum:f!m
Master Trustice shall recelve an | ed by the
Holdusornukslbma:agg:cgmmnﬂplmmarmmbuofowpﬁomwxﬁudh
subsection (6) for the Supplement in question which instrument or instroments shall refer o the
and shall sp oonsent to and approve the exccution Uereof in
snbstanm!lythel‘omemneeopymrnm file with the Master Trustee, thereupon, but not
the Master Trusiee may exeeute such Supplement In mbsunhally such form, without
lisbility or responsibility to any Holder, whether or not such Holder shall have consented thereto,

©) Anynthn:hﬂlbehnﬁmwdnHoMumviugnnbwm
wnd upon amy subsequent Holder of such Obligation and of any O% issued in
th:refox(mmwmmwmldawhunouwmummm
is revoked i writing by the Holder of soch Obligation giving such consemt or by a subsequant
Houathemfbyﬁlmgnﬂranmen.pnormthemmbytheMmuTmof
such S such and, if such Obligation is fi by delivery, proof that
such Obligation is held by the signer of such ion in the manner futed by Section 8.01
of s Indeuture. At any time afier the Holders of the required  principa! mnount or pumber of
Obligations shall have filed their consents to the Supplement, the Master Trustee shall make and
file wilh each Member of the Obligaied Group a writien staiement 1o thal effect. Such written
statement shall be conclusive that such consents have been so filed.
Arrsates

i
aQ

Otdigations, a1 the Corporation’s expense, upon written o facsimile request from say beneficial
owner of Obligations mn:radlnﬂ:emdskqbyﬁwbhm‘l’mm of all records and
documents the Master Trustee In with the Obligations, the C ion or
wy project fanded by the Obligations, These include, witout limitation, lists of Hokders and
bemﬁcialmfmdwmfcrdlmsmdmummd under the Master Trust
Indenture snd records showing the timeliness of payments. Availability of records and
documents for inspection al the offices of the Master Trustee does not satisfy this Section.

ARTICLE VI

SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS

Section 6.01. Supplements Not Requiring Consent of Holdors. Each Member of the
Obligated Group, when authorized by resolution or other action of equa! formality by its
Govening Body, and the Master Trustee may, without the consent of, but with notice to, the
Hdduxauummwm&“ﬂammforunewmoﬂhefnllwhmpmm

(8  To curcsny amblguity or formal defect or omissian herefn,

()  To correct or supplement any provisian herein which may be inconsistent
with any other provision bearein, or to make any other provisions with respect to matiers ar
questions ariging hereimder and which shall not materially md adversely affect the interests of
the Holders.

(¢) To grunt ar confex ratably upon all of the Holders any sdditional rights,
remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted or conferred upon them subject to the
provisions of Section 6.02(s).

(L)) Toquahfythhlnbmﬂtnndeﬂ!Tnﬂh‘hﬂn!Mofl’”n

d, or of federa) laws from time to time in effect.

P B P

{©) To creste and provide for the issusnce of Indebtedness ma permitied
heveunder,

() To oblignte & successor to any Member of the Obligued Group as
provided in Section 3.09.

®  To comply with the provisians of any federal or state securities lsw,

Section 6.02. Supplements Reguiring Consent of Holders. () Other dun Supplements
referred to in Sectlon 6.01 hereof and subject o the terms and provisions end limitations
mmwmmummmermumnmmml(sm)

] amaurd of Obligations then Or ing shall have the right, from time to
mmﬂﬁumndhanmﬂ:wnnmmmdmg.wmbmdmﬂn

avianees.s
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(@) Y the Holdas of the required principal mmounmt of ﬂn Obligations
O ding shall have to mnd d the of sych Sapp 9 herein
pmﬂd.mHoM:Mlhavemyﬁg!umobJecmhemworlnoﬁeananyof
theummdmwnwmdhmord\emwwhmymquuon
hmwewdmmhmﬁwmmhumhmmTMmeemba
olﬂsObhgatedGawpﬁmﬂeuﬂinglbemuﬁmtﬂmgmymmwh

thereof.

Section 6.03. Execution and Effect of Supplements. (a) In executing any Supplement
pmmeyﬂﬂsAmdc,ﬂ:Manmshaubemmutommdwm)ywm
Opinion of Counsel siating that the ion of sach s

hereby. TheMmenmnymdnnnmbeobligﬂcdmmhumymhswm
which effects the Master Trusics's own sights, duties o Immunhies,

()  Upon the execution end delivery of sy Supplement In secordance with
thiy Article, the provisions hereof shall be modified in sccordance therewith mnd such
Snpplununmu tnrmlpanhamfnx all purposes and every Holder of an Obligmion

icated and deli hercunder hall be bound thereby.

(<)  Any Oblj thenti delivered wfier the ion and
dehveryohnySupplememhmﬁmw&hmmﬂemy,udlfmmibylhemd
such Obligation or the Master Trustoe shall, bear 3 notstion in form approved by the Master
Trustee &3 to any matter provided for [n such Supplement. If the ksuer of any Obfigations then
Ortstanding or the Masier Trustee shall 5o determine, new Obligaions so modified as
conform in the opinion of the Master Trustee and e Governing Body of such fssver to any such
SwpImntmayhprq)mdmdmmbydnmndnﬁnennw:dnddallvensdbylht
Master Truslee in exchange for end upon sarender of Obligations then Outstanding,

ARTICLE VII

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

Section 7.01. Batisfaction and Discharpe of Indenture. If (a) the Obligated Group
Representative shall deliver o the Master Trustee for 11 2] Obiigations th
mwlmd(mmmowwmmmmmmmw destroyed, lost or
mleundwhnchablllhv:hmmplwdwpaldaswovﬂedmthnpplmm)mlm
Hled, or (b) all Obligetions not th delivered o the Mester
Trustee for canceliation shall have becomedumdpmhhmdmomy sufficient 10 pay the
same shall bave been deposited wilh the Master Truuee, or (¢) all Obligations tht have not
become due aed payable and have no! been cancelled or delivered to the Master Trustee for
cancellation shal bo Defeased Obligatiom, and if in nll cases tha Members of the Obligated
Group shall alsn pay or causz to be paid all other sums payable bereunder by the Members of the
Obligated Groop or any thereof, then this Indenture shall ceasa to be of further effect, and the

x’l.anmonmdoftbeMunbmaﬁhObﬁp&dGm and al the cast and expense
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othmdMObllgamemdnﬂmmhmM
of and this b Each Member of the Obllgated Group,
rﬁpecnvdy.hcebyagxeawmmbmﬂ:mnﬁmrmmymwmw
and thereafier reasonably and properly incurred by the Master Trustee In connection with this
Indenture or such Otligations,

Scction 7.02. Payment of Obfigations after Discharge of Lien. ith fing the
discharpe of e flen hereof as in this Asticle provided, the Master Trustce shall nevertheless
reain soch ighms, powers and duties hereundsr 28 may be necessary and convenient for (be
puymunofammdmuwbmnm:mmowgazwns-dlhemﬁmmm
and of Obligations e provided berein.

Nevertheless, any moneys held byth:Mn:r'n'mwmy paying agent for e
payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on any Obligation remaining
m:hlmad for five (5) yem nfier the - principal nt all Obhgauons bas bwnme due end payable,

whether at maturity or for or by d ided herein,
ﬂullthmbepudmlthMormeobllg,demrp umhhmmmy-ppm and
thereafier the Holders of any Obli; d shall be entitled to jock only

whmbmdu%huwd&mtwmmumduﬁﬂmmdmeMm
Trostee shall have no responsibility with respect to such money.

ARTICLE VID
CONCERNING THE HOLDERS

Section 8,01. Evidence of Acts of Holders. () In the event tha1 any request, direction or
cumsent Is requested or permiticd hereunder of the Holders, the registered owners of Relsted
Bonds then outstanding shall be deemed to be such Holders for the purpose of any such reques,
direction or cansext I the proportion that the agprepate principal amount of Related Bonds then
outstanding beld by each such owner of Related Bonds bears to the aggregate principal amount
of all Related Bonds then outstanding.

(b)  As o any request, direction, consent or other instrament provided hereby
10 be signed and executed by the Holders, such sction may be in any nnmber of concurreni
writings, shall be of similar tenor, and may be signed or executed by such Holders in person or
by agent appointed in writing.

© Proof of the execution of eny such request, direction, comsent or other
instrument or af tha writing appointing sy such agent and of the ownership of Obligations, if
roade In the foliowing manner, ghall be sofficient for any of the purpascs bereof and shall be
canclusive in favor of ths Master Trusico end the Members of the Obligated Group, with regard
to any sctiom taken by them, or eithes of them, uader such request, direction or consent ar other
instrament, namety:
vt mmA
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such action taken by the Holder of an Obligation or Reiated Bond in eny dircction, demand,
request, waiver, comsent, vote or other action of the Holder of such Obligation or Related Bond
whxchbymyuuvmhuw(hrequmdwpcrmmedwbedvenshnllhemdﬁwnnd
‘binding upoa such Holder and upon all futre Holders and owners of xnch Obligation or Relsted
Band, and of any Obligation ar Related Bond tssied in lieu thereof, whether or not any notation
mrcgmdlhumhrmdanponndlobhgauonwhhndm Any ection taken by Lhe
Holders of the g aggregate p | amoum of Obligations specified herein in
comnection with such action shnll be wnclustvdy binding upon each Member of the Obligated
Group, the Master Trusies and (ke Holdars of all of such Obligations ar Related Bonds,

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS FROVISIONS
Section 5.01. mewgh_ls With the exception of rights berein mp:udy
d, nothing d In or to be implicd from this Indeniure or the

Obligaﬁonsiwmkwwmhmmedngivcwmyhmmm
cach Member of the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee, and the Holders hereunder amy lega!
orequnableﬂghumﬂywddmmﬂaw]nmpamlhulndanmwmywm,

and pr berein ined; this Ind and ail of the covenanis, conditions
and provisions hercof belag Mniended to be and being for the sole and exclisive benefh of the
panties mentioned in this Section.

Section 9.02. Scversbility. If any one or mare sestions, clauses, sentences or parts
hueo!shllI'ormymonbequuuom:dhmymormmpetcm)unsdwuonmdshanbe
d invalid or it such j shall pot affect, impair or invalidaie the

hezeof, ar the Obligations issued pursuant bereto, but shall be confined to
thespeclfcsml-ons,chmmmndmnw

Section 9.03. Holidgvs. Except 1o the extent & Supplement or sn Obligation provides

(a)  Subject to subsection (b), when any action is provided herein to be done
madayorwﬂhxnnﬂrneperiadmned mdlhedayorﬂtelmdayomnpahdﬁlkonldaym

which banking in the j where the Corporate Trust Office is Jocated are
umhmmdbylawtommdoscd lhemnwhdmemlhemlmnghym-da)m
‘which banking §n such horized by law to remain closad with cffect

uwdmnmtheda)mwuhmhmwmdmmd

o Wh:nlhdntzonwhichmndpllnfuimﬂmuwummmlny
Obligation is duc mnd payable is b day on which banking matitutions ot (he ploce of payment ore
puthorized by law to remain closed, paynwent may be made on (he next ensuing day on which
banking institutions at such place arc nol autharized by law to remain closed with the same effect

Y GTma
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[0] The fact and date of the execution by any person of any guch
wrnmgxuybepmvedbylheeaﬁﬁmofmyoﬁcermmymmdmuonvﬂnby
haspowlom k in such j that the person
signing such wriling acknowledged befarehm e enecution thereof, or by the
affidavit of a witness of such execution; and

()  The ownership of Related Bonds may be proved by the regisrmion
books for such Related Bonds mainizined purszant to the Related Bond lndenture,

{d)  Nothing in this Section shall be consirued ss limiting the Master Trustee o
the proof herein specified, it being intended that the Master Trustes may accept my other
cvidence of the matters herein siated which It may deem sufficlent.

(£)  Any sction Wken or suffered by the Mester Tnumiee pursuani to eny
provision hereof upon the request ar with the assent of any person who et the time is the Holder
of sny Obligation, shall be conclusive end binding upon all future Holders of the same
Obtigation,

Section 8.02. Obligutions or Related Bonds Dwned by Members of Obligated Group. In
determining whether the Holders of the requisite agprepate principal amount of Obligations have
concurred in amy demmd, direction, request, notice, consent, waiver ar other action under (his
hmwwuwmmnmmwumehormwwomp
or by eny parson directly ar controlfing lled by or under direet or indirect
nmnmmnﬂmlhudlumbcshallhdlsmgxdedmdwmnhomduw
outstanding under the Releted Bond Indentare, as the cass may bo, for the purposs of any such
determination, provided thi for the purposes of determining whether the Master Trustes shall be
protected in relying o any such direction, consent or waiver, only such Obligations or Related
Bonds which the Trustce has actual notice or knowledge are 60 owned shall be so dizregarded.
Obligations or Related Bands 20 owned that kawe been pledged in good faith may be regevded as
Outstanding or outstanding under the Reluted Bond Indenturs, 83 the case may be, for purposes
of this Section, il the pledgee shall cstablish to the satisfaction of the Masicr Trustee the
pledgee’s right to vote such Obligations ar Relstsd Bonds and thet the pledges is not & person
directly or lndirectly controlling of comrolled by or under direct or Endireet common control with
any Member of the Obligated Group. In ease of a dispute ey to such right, any decision by the
Mster Trusize taken upan the advice of counsel shal} be full protoetion to the Master Trustee. *

Scotian 8.0, lastuments Executed by Holders Bind Funre Holders, At anry time priar
to (but oot afier) the time when the Master Trustee takes action in reliance upon evidance, oy
provided In Section 8.01 bereaf, of the taking of any ection by the Holders of the pereentage in
aggregate principal smoamt of Obligations specified herein in connection with such action, any
Holder of such on Obtizatiom or Related Bond thet is shown by such evidence 10 be included in
Oﬂmmmdmmwhmnmmmay.byﬁlmgmm
with the Master Trustee and upon proof of holding as provided In Section 8.01, revoke such
:;thnmflrummouigaﬁonmkdmdm Except upoa such revocation any

50

=3 tough payment were made on the due date, and, if such payment is made, 0o intorest shali
aecree from and after such doe date.

Section 9.04. Gavemning Law. This Ind: and any Ot izsued by der we
cantracts madc under the laws of the State of Vermont and shall bo governed by and canstrued in
aeeordince with sach lswa.

Section 9,05. Counterparis. This Ind: may be d in several
each of whieh shall be on original and ndl of which shell constituto ano lastrement.

Sextion 9.06. jmmunity of Individuals. No recourse chall be kad for the payment of the
principal of, premium, if any, ar interest on eny Obligations issoed hereunder or for any claim
based lhnwuwwmnyohhgnuon,nmorlmlhmaagmmtnym resent or
fature officer, director, trustee, member, employee or agest of sny Member of the Obligated
Group, and all sush Jiability of any such mdmdual ws such is hereby expressly waived snd
released = a condition of and in idy for the jon hereof and the issuance of
Obligationy ixsucd hereunder.

Section 9.07. Bindipg Effect, This instrumen shall inure to the benefit of end shall be
binding upon each Member of the Obligated Group, the Master Trustez and their respective
successors and assigm subject 1o the Jimitations contained herein.

Section 9.08. Nolicex, (2) Unless otherwise expressly specified ar i bylhe
terms hereof, ail notices, corsents or other required or itted by
bedeuudsummmdyﬁmwuvdlfdvmhwddn&miubyﬁmdﬂ:mmm
prepaid and addressed as follows:

() I lo any Member of the Obligated Group, addressed to The
Branlchoro Retreat, at its principal place of business, which on the date heveof is:
Anna Marsh Lane, Brattleboro, VT 05302; Attention: Vice President of Finanee;

Gi) I o the Master Trustee, addressed to it 21 2 Borlington Squar,
Burlington, Yermont 05401; Atiention: Institutional Trust Services; or

(i) 10 any registered Holder, addressed to snch Holder at the address
shown on the boaks of the Master Trustee kept pursuant bereto,

() Any Member of the Obligated Group or the Master Trustee may from time
o Ume by notice In writing to the other and o the registered Holders designate o diffarent
addresy or addresses for notice hereunder.

WY1 2303
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, esch Member of the Obligeted Group hes cavsed these
presents to be signed in its name and on ite behalf by its duly authorized officer and to evidence
its acceptance of the trasts hereby crested, the Master Trustee bas caused these presents to be
signed in its name aod oa its behalf by its duly anborized officer, all of as of the day and year
first above writien.

THE BRATTLEBORO RETREAT

By

{ Afihorized Officer
CHITTENDEN TRUST COMPANY,
as Master Trustee
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APPENDIX E
PROPOSED FORM OF LEGAL OPINION

December __, 2011

Vermont Educational and Health
Buildings Financing Agency
Winooski, Vermont

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have examined Title 16, Chapter 131, Sections 3851 to 3862, inclusive, Vermont
Statutes Annotated, as amended (the “Act”), and certified copies of the proceedings of the Board
(the “Board”) of Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency, a body corporate
and politic constituting a public instrumentality of the State of Vermont (the “Agency”),
authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds of the Agency hereinafter described and other proofs
submitted relative to the issuance of the following bonds (the “Bonds”):

$11,300,000

VERMONT EDUCATIONAL AND HEALTH BUILDINGS FINANCING AGENCY
VARIABLE RATE DEMAND REVENUE BONDS
(THE BRATTLEBORO RETREAT PROJECT)
2011 SERIES A

The Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the Act and a Trust Agreement, dated as of
December 1, 2011 (the “Trust Agreement”), between the Agency and People’s United Bank, as
trustee (the “Trustee™), for the purpose of providing funds, together with other available funds, to
(i) refund a portion of the Agency’s outstanding Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (The
Brattleboro Retreat Project) 2007 Series A issued on behalf of The Brattleboro Retreat (the
“Corporation”), in Brattleboro, Vermont, (ii) pay a portion of the cost of various capital
improvements at the Corporation’s campus and (iii) pay certain expenses incurred in connection
with the issuance of the Bonds.

The Agency will lend the proceeds of the Bonds to the Corporation under a Loan
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2011 (the “Loan Agreement”), between the Agency and the
Corporation. The Bonds are secured by, among other things, payments to be made by the
Corporation on its Obligation No. 5, dated as of December 1, 2011 (“Obligation No. 57), issued
by the Corporation under the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2007, as supplemented
and amended (the “Master Trust Indenture”), between the Corporation and People’s United
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Bank, successor master trustee (the “Master Trustee”), as such Master Trust Indenture is
supplemented by Supplemental Indenture for Obligation No. 5, dated as of December 1, 2011
(the “Supplemental Indenture” and, together with the Master Trust Indenture as heretofore
supplemented and amended, the “Master Indenture™), between the Corporation and the Master
Trustee. Obligation No. 5 is being delivered to the Agency as evidence of the Corporation’s
obligation to repay the loan of the proceeds of the Bonds, and assigned by the Agency to the
Trustee as security for the payment of the Bonds. Obligation No. 5 is a direct, general and
unconditional obligation of the Corporation secured as provided in the Master Indenture.

The Bonds bear interest from the original issuance date thereof initially at an adjustable
interest rate and are subject to redemption prior to their maturity in the manner and upon the
terms and conditions set forth therein and in the Trust Agreement. The Bonds are issuable in
fully registered form in denominations that vary according to the interest mode in which the
Bonds may be from time to time.

The Bonds can be converted from one interest mode to a different interest mode upon
compliance with the terms of the Trust Agreement. The Bonds are subject to optional and
mandatory tender for purchase at such times, under such circumstances and upon the terms and
conditions as are set forth in the Trust Agreement.

The Corporation is obligated under Obligation No. 5 and the Loan Agreement to make
payments sufficient to pay the principal of and the redemption premium, if any, and interest on
the Bonds when due. The Bonds are also entitled to the benefit of the Credit Facility (as defined
in the Trust Agreement).

We have also examined one of the Bonds as executed and authenticated.
Based upon such examination, we are of the opinion that:
l. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued.

2. The Trust Agreement has been duly authorized and executed by the
Agency and is a valid, binding and enforceable agreement in accordance with its terms.

3. The Bonds are valid and binding limited obligations of the Agency
payable in accordance with their terms from payments to be made by the Corporation
pursuant to Obligation No. 5 and the Loan Agreement, by the Bank pursuant to the Credit
Facility, certain funds held by the Trustee under the Trust Agreement and money
attributable to the proceeds of the Bonds and the income from the investment thereof,
and, under certain circumstances, proceeds of insurance, condemnation awards and
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remedial action taken pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Trust
Agreement.

4. The Loan Agreement has been duly authorized and executed by the
Agency and the Corporation and is a valid, binding and enforceable agreement in
accordance with its terms.

5. The Master Indenture has been duly authorized and executed by the
Corporation and is a valid, binding and enforceable agreement in accordance with its
terms.

6. The Bonds shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or liability of the State
of Vermont, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of Vermont
is pledged for the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Bonds.

7. Based on current law, and assuming compliance by the Corporation and
the Agency with certain requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”) and covenants regarding the use, expenditure and investment of proceeds of
the Bonds and the timely payment of certain investment earnings to the U.S. Treasury, if
required, the interest on the Bonds is not includible in the gross income of the owners of
the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Bonds will not be an item of
tax preference for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum
tax, but interest on the Bonds owned by a corporation will be included in the calculation
of the corporation’s federal alternative minimum tax liability. Failure by the Agency or
the Corporation to comply with the requirements of the Code and such covenants may
cause interest on the Bonds to be includable in gross income for federal income tax
purposes retroactive to their date of issuance. The covenant of the Agency described
above does not require the Agency to make any financial contribution for which it does
not receive funds from the Corporation. The opinion expressed in the first and second
sentences of this paragraph may not be relied upon to the extent that the exclusion from
gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes is adversely
affected as a result of any action taken or not taken in reliance upon the opinion or advice
of counsel other than this firm. In rendering the opinion set forth in this paragraph, we
have relied upon the representations made by the Corporation with respect to certain
material facts within its knowledge which we have not independently verified and upon
the opinion of McKee, Giuliani & Cleveland, P.C., Montpelier, Vermont, counsel for the
Corporation, that the Corporation is exempt from federal income taxation under Section
501(a) of the Code as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and
that, to the best of such counsel’s knowledge, the Corporation has done nothing to impair
such status and that the use of property financed with the proceeds of the Bonds does not
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constitute an unrelated trade or business under Section 513(a) of the Code. Other than as
described herein, we have not addressed and we are not opining on the tax consequences
to any investor of the investment in, or receipt of any interest on, the Bonds.

The Act provides that bonds of the Agency and the income therefrom shall at all times be
exempt from taxation in the State of Vermont, except for transfer and estate taxes.

The enforceability of the Master Indenture, the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement
and the obligations of the aforementioned parties with respect to such documents are subject to
bankruptcy, insolvency and other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally. To the extent that
the remedies under the Master Indenture, the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement require
enforcement by a court of equity, the enforceability thereof may be limited by such principles of
equity as the court having jurisdiction may impose.

In rendering this opinion we have relied upon the opinion of McKee, Giuliani &
Cleveland, P.C., Montpelier, Vermont, counsel to the Corporation, with respect to the due
organization and valid existence of the Corporation, its power and authority with respect to the
transactions contemplated by, and its due authorization, execution and delivery of, the Master
Indenture, Obligation No. 5 and the Loan Agreement.

Respectfully submitted,
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